
City of Kelowna
Regular Council Meeting

AGENDA

 
Monday, October 6, 2014

1:30 pm

Council Chamber

City Hall, 1435 Water Street

Pages

1. Call to Order

This meeting is open to the public and all representations to Council form part of the
public record.  A live audio feed is being broadcast and recorded by CastaNet and a
delayed broadcast is shown on Shaw Cable.

2. Confirmation of Minutes 5 - 15

Regular PM Meeting - September 29, 2014

3. Development Application Reports & Related Bylaws

3.1 Text Amendment No. TA14-0004 and Rezoning Application No.  Z12-0056 -
1755 Capri Street, 1835 Gordon Drive and 1171 Harvey Avenue, RG Properties
Ltd.

16 - 71

To consider a Text Amendment to add the proposed CD25 – Capri Centre
Comprehensive Development zone to Zoning Bylaw No. 8000 and to rezone the
subject properties to the newly created CD25 – Capri Centre Comprehensive
Development zone in order to accommodate the development of a large scale,
mixed-use development project.

3.1.1 Bylaw No. 10998 (TA14-0003) - CD25, Capri Centre Comprehensive
Development Zone

72 - 93

To give Bylaw No. 10998 first reading.

3.1.2 Bylaw No. 11016 (Z12-0056) - 1755 Capri Street, 1835 Gordon Drive
and 1171 Harvey Avenue, RG Properties Ltd.

94 - 94

To give Bylaw No. 11016 first reading.

3.1.3 Bylaw No. 10999 - Amendment No. 21 to Sign Bylaw No. 8235 95 - 95

To give Bylaw No. 10999 first, second and third readings.

1



3.2 Rezoning Application No. Z14-0026 - 1280 Glenmore Drive, 561655 BC Ltd. 96 - 117

To rescind Bylaw No. 10994 at first reading and to rezone the subject property
from the RU1 - Large Lot Housing zone to the RM2 - Low Density Row Housing
in order to develop a freehold five unit townhouse and a freehold four unit
townhouse.

3.2.1 Bylaw No. 10994 (Z14-0026) - 1280 Glenmore Road, 561655 BC Ltd. 118 - 118

To rescind first reading given to Bylaw No. 10994.

3.2.2 Bylaw No. 11020 (Z14-0026) - 1280 Glenmore Road, 561655 BC Ltd. 119 - 119

To give Bylaw No. 11020 first reading.

3.3 Rezoning Application No. Z14-0035 - 2271 Harvey Avenue, Orchard Park
Shopping Centre Holdings Inc.

120 - 125

To consider a proposal to rezone a portion of the subject property to allow for
licensed manufacturers of liquor to sell products and offer samples at the
Kelowna Farmers’ and Crafters’ Market.

3.3.1 Bylaw No. 11021 (Z14-0035) - 2271 Harvey Avenue, Orchard Park
Shopping Centre Holdings Ltd.

126 - 127

To give Bylaw No. 11021 first reading.

3.4 Rezoning Application No. Z14-0029 - 801 Francis Avenue, D Squared
Enterprises Inc.

128 - 136

To rezone the subject property to RU2 – Medium Lot Housing and RU6 – Two
Dwelling Housing to allow for a two lot subdivision.

3.4.1 Bylaw No. 11019 (Z14-0029) - 801 Francis Avenue, D Squared
Enterprises Inc.

137 - 138

To give Bylaw No. 11019 first reading.

3.5 Official Community Plan Bylaw Amendment Application No. OCP14-0022 and
Rezoning Application No. Z14-0047 - 984 Dehart Road, Sherwood Mission
Developments & Dr. Alexander Rezansoff

139 - 219

The applicant is proposing to rezone a portion of the land from the A1 -
Agriculture 1 zone to the RU1 - Large Lot Housing zone and RU2 – Medium Lot
Housing zone to facilitate a future 110 lot residential subdivision. The proposal
also requires an OCP amendment to extend the Single/Two Unit Residential
(S2RES) future land use designation north into the area designated for Multi-
Unit Residential - Low Density (MRL).

3.5.1 Bylaw No. 11017 (OCP14-0022) - 984 Dehart Road, Sherwood Mission
Developments Ltd. & Dr. Alexander Rezansoff

220 - 221

Requires a majority of all members of Council (5).

2



To give Bylaw No. 11017 first reading.

3.5.2 Bylaw No. 11018 (Z14-0047) - 984 Dehart Road, Sherwood Mission
Developments Ltd. & Dr. Alexander Rezansoff

222 - 223

To give Bylaw No. 11018 first reading.

4. Bylaws for Adoption (Development Related)

4.1 Bylaw No. 10832 (OCP13-0002) - 1760, 2025 & 2137 Quail Ridge Boulevard,
Pier Mac Petroleum Installation Ltd.

224 - 227

Requires a majority of all members of Council (5).
To adopt Bylaw No. 10832 in order to change the Future Land Use designations
of the subject properties from the Resource Protection Area, Commercial,
Industrial and Parks &  Open Space designations to the Commercial, Industrial
and Parks &  Open Space designations.

4.2 Bylaw No. 10834 (Z13-0003) - 1760, 2025 & 2137 Quail Ridge Boulevard, Pier
Mac Petroleum Installation Ltd.

228 - 229

To adopt Bylaw No. 10834 in order to rezone the subject properties from the
A1 - Agriculture 1, CD15 - Airport Business Park, I5 - Extraction and P3 - Parks
and Open Space zones to the CD15 - Airport Business Park and P3 - Parks and
Open Space zones.

5. Non-Development Reports & Related Bylaws

5.1 Quarterly Report 230 - 241

To provide Council with an update of the City’s activities for the third quarter of
2014.

5.2 2015 Permissive Tax Exemption Bylaw 242 - 277

Council to consider a property tax exemption for those organizations that have
met the qualification as outlined in Permissive Tax Exemption Policy #327.

5.2.1 Bylaw No. 11009 - 2015 Permissive Tax Exemption Bylaw 278 - 297

To give Bylaw No. 11009 first, second and third readings.

5.3 South Perimeter Road 298 - 302

To provide Council with an update with respect to the extension of Gordon Drive
and South Perimeter Road.

5.4 Wine and Art Lease 303 - 361

That Council approve a lease agreement with Marni Manegre (d.b.a. Wine and
Art) for a +/-1,165 s.f. commercial space in the Chapman Parkade.

3



5.5 Road Closure - 460 Doyle Avenue 362 - 364

To close a portion of lane adjacent to 460 Doyle Avenue for consolidation with
460 Doyle avenue to be leased to the Kelowna Sustainable Innovation Group
for the construction of the Okanagan Centre for Innovation. To temporarily
close a portion of lane adjacent to 460 Doyle Avenue to accommodate the
creation of an airspace parcel above the roadway to be consolidated with 460
Doyle Avenue to be leased to the Kelowna Sustainable Innovation Group for
the construction of the Okanagan Centre for Innovation.

5.5.1 Bylaw No. 11000 - Road Closure Bylaw, Portion of Lane adjacent to
460 Doyle Avenue

365 - 366

To give Bylaw No. 11000 first, second and third readings.

6. Bylaws for Adoption (Non-Development Related)

6.1 Bylaw No. 10798 - Road Closure Bylaw, Portion of Lane adjacent to 551
Glenwood Avenue

367 - 368

Mayor to invite anyone in the public gallery who deems themselves affected
by the proposed road closure to come forward.
To adopt Bylaw No. 10798 in order to authorize the City to permanently close
and remove the highway dedication of a portion of lane adjacent to 551
Glenwood Avenue.

7. Mayor and Councillor Items

8. Termination

4



5



6



7



8



9



10



11



12



13



14



15



REPORT TO COUNCIL 
 
 
 

Date: 10/21/2014 

RIM No. 1250-30 

To: City Manager 

From: Urban Planning Department (AW) 

Application: TA14-0004 / Z12-0056 Owner: RG Properties Ltd. 

Address: 
1755 Capri St, 1835 Gordon Dr & 

1171 Harvey Avenue 
Applicant: Dialog 

Subject: Text Amendment / Rezoning Applications 

Existing OCP Designation: Commercial & Mixed Use (Commercial / Residential) 

Existing Zones: C4LP, C4LR & C4 – Urban Centre Commercial 

Proposed Zone: CD25 – Capri Centre Comprehensive Development Zone  

 

1.0 Recommendation 

THAT Text Amendment No. TA14-0004 to add the proposed CD25 – Capri Centre Comprehensive 
Development zone to Zoning Bylaw No. 8000 as outlined in Schedule “A” of the Report of the 
Urban Planning Department dated October 21st, 2014 be considered by Council; 
 
AND THAT Rezoning Application No. Z12-0056 to amend the City of Kelowna Zoning Bylaw No. 
8000 by changing the zoning classification of Lot A, D.L. 137, ODYD, Plan KAP64836, located at 
1835 Gordon Drive; Lot B, D.L. 137, ODYD, Plan KAP64836, located at 1171 Harvey Avenue, Lot C, 
D.L. 137, ODYD, Plan KAP64836, located at 1755 Capri Street Kelowna B.C. from C4 – Urban 
Centre Commercial, C4rls – Urban Centre Commercial (Retail Liquor Sales) and C4lp - Urban 
Centre Commercial (Liquor Primary) to CD25 Capri Comprehensive Development Zone be 
considered by Council; 
 
AND THAT the Text Amendment Bylaw and the Zone Amendment Bylaw be forwarded to a Public 
Hearing for further consideration; 
 
AND THAT Bylaw No. 10999 being Amendment No. 22 to Sign Bylaw No. 8235 be forwarded for 
reading consideration 
 
AND THAT final adoption of the Zone Amending Bylaw be considered in conjunction with Council's 
consideration of a Development Permit for the design guidelines on the subject properties; 
 

16



TA14-0004 / Z12-0056 – Page 2 

AND THAT final adoption of the Zone Amending Bylaw be considered subsequent to the 
requirements of the Development Engineering Branch being completed to their satisfaction; 
 
AND FURTHER THAT final adoption of the Zone Amending Bylaw be considered subsequent to the 
requirements of Fortis BC Electric being completed to their satisfaction; 

2.0 Purpose  

To consider a Text Amendment to add the proposed CD25 – Capri Centre Comprehensive 
Development zone to Zoning Bylaw No. 8000. Accordingly, the applicant is proposing that the 
subject properties be rezoned to the newly created CD25 zone in order to accommodate the 
development of a large scale, mixed-use development project. An overarching Form and 
Character Development Permit for the entire site will be forwarded to Council at a later date. 

3.0 Urban Planning  

The applicant has advanced a comprehensively planned development for the ‘Capri Mall’ 
properties. There are a number of elements that will benefit this Urban Centre, while there are 
also a few components that do not fit within current City policy. The benefits of the project 
include the comprehensive planning of the subject properties, design guidelines ensuring 
consistency and quality, a range of housing options, maintaining the existing commercial areas at 
a minimum, a Transit Oriented Development, and a public park feature with a skating rink. The 
components that do not fit within the current policy and regulatory framework are related to the 
increased height and densities being requested by the applicant. On balance, Staff are supportive 
of the proposed development concept as it fulfils the Urban Centre objectives and creates a true 
Transit Oriented form of Development (TOD).  
 
Land Use 
The proposed land uses are consistent with the C4 zone and fit within the Urban Centre location. 
This proposal includes significant hotel, apartment hotel and retail commercial uses in addition 
to the multiple family residential units. Staff worked with the applicant ensure that at a 
minimum an equal amount of commercial space is provided as exists today (approximately 
18,581m²) to ensure that the Capri Urban Centre retains its vibrancy as an important commercial 
district. While ensuring that a significant commercial component is retained the applicant is also 
proposing apartment and ground oriented housing units on the south end of the site.  
 
Height 
The main impact of the proposal is an overall increase in density and height over the balance of 
the site. The OCP supports structures up to 12 stories in height upon consideration of a 
comprehensive development plan. The development scheme results in a height transition from 6 
storeys at Harvey Avenue stepping up to a maximum of 22 storeys adjacent to Sutherland Avenue 
at the south end of the site. The tallest building will be 26 storeys which is shown at the centre 
of the site. While height has persisted as the principle discussion item, the evolution of the 
development concept has successfully addressed the transition of height from north to south with 
the tallest structure in the core of the property. The proposed height is higher than anticipated 
but by allowing higher structures more publicly accessible open space can be created at grade. 
 
Density 
Under the C4 zone the subject properties could be built out with an FAR of 2.35 with 
underground parking, at grade plaza space & green roofs. The proposal contemplates and FAR of 
2.60 and is requesting a 0.25 FAR bonus. This equals approximately 19,788m² of additional 
developable floor area. In total, the applicant anticipates building approximately 179,817m², 
with 22,297m² of commercial space and 157,520m² of residential space.   

17



TA14-0004 / Z12-0056 – Page 3 

 
Public Consultation 
The applicant hosted a Public Information Meeting on November 13th, 2013 in accordance with 
Council Policy #367 Public Notification & Consultation for Development Applications. 
 
Transit & Transportation Details 
The applicant worked with BC Transit and City Staff to secure land for the BRT station at Harvey 
Avenue. This will help the Capri become a transit oriented form of development with connections 
to the BRT network and the new Gordon Drive Rapid Bus network, which will have a Capri Mall 
stop with a pull out on Gordon Drive near Harvey Avenue. The subject properties also front onto 
the future Sutherland Avenue multi-modal corridor, the applicant will be dedicating land and 
building a portion of this future corridor from Gordon Drive to Burtch Road along their property 
frontage.   
 
Open Space 
The entire road network will be maintained by the developer and they have committed to 
creating high quality pedestrian streetscapes throughout the project. They will be securing 
various types of open space during different phases of the project. In the end the applicant has 
committed to creating a pedestrian oriented connection between the Harvey Avenue BRT Station 
and the Gordon Drive Rapid bus stop. The main public open space (5,000m²) will be located in 
the core of the property and will include an outdoor skating rink which can be converted to other 
uses outside of winter. A pocket park is also planned for the corner of Gordon Drive & Sutherland 
Avenue. Public Access to these developments will be secured via Statutory Right of Way as they 
are built, as such the applicant will also be responsible for maintenance of these open spaces. 
 
Overarching Site Development Permit – Form & Character  
The applicant has proposed underground parking for a significant portion of the development, 
while underground parking in Kelowna can be challenging the owner has indicated that the scale 
of the project will make it a feasible and an important component of the project from an urban 
design perspective. Design Guidelines have been created to provide assurance that the objectives 
and principles of the development will be incorporated, while allowing flexibility for viable and 
innovative development proposals. By adhering to this framework, the development team will 
create proposals that are consistent with the vision for the redevelopment of the ‘Capri Mall’ 
properties.      
 
In summary, while the proposed height and form of density is a departure from the vision of OCP 
for this Urban Centre location, there are merits to the long-term comprehensive plan of this 
significant land assembly. The subject property is currently zoned C4 – Urban Centre Commercial 
and the City has always anticipated a comprehensive redevelopment of the Capri Mall properties. 
By providing a comprehensively planned development proposal there is vision for how the project 
will achieve full build-out in the future. Each street frontage is envisioned to become an 
animated and active streetscape, while the property will have a north to south height profile. 
The proposed housing mix will provide a variety of options for a wide demographic profile and 
the boutique hotel will continue to anchor the Urban Centre. Schematically, the applicant has 
proposed a total of 15 buildings ranging from 6 to 26 storeys in height. In exchange for the 
increase in both density and height, the applicant will provide a variety of publicly accessible 
open spaces throughout the project. With the landmark feature being an urban square that will 
be operated as an ice rink during winter months. Public access to these amenities will be secured 
through a Statutory Right of Way. The applicant has worked with Staff to reduce the negative 
impacts associated with the proposal and has created a development concept that will satisfy the 
overall Urban Centre objectives outlined in the OCP. As such, Staff are recommending positive 
consideration of the proposed comprehensive development.  

18



TA14-0004 / Z12-0056 – Page 4 

4.0 Proposal 

4.1 Project Description 

The applicant has submitted the Official Community Plan amendment, Text Amendment, 
Rezoning, and Development Permit applications in order to move forward with the 
redevelopment of the Hiawatha properties, as follows: 

a) Text Amendment 

To add the proposed CD25 – Capri Centre Comprehensive Development zone to Zoning Bylaw No. 
8000. The purpose of the CD25 zone is to formalize the comprehensively planned development 
that will contain a mix of residential and commercial uses.  

b) Zoning 

The applicant is proposing that the subject properties be rezoned from the existing C4 – Urban 
Centre Commercial, C4 – Urban Centre Commercial (Retail Liquor Sales) and C4 - Urban Centre 
Commercial (Liquor Primary) to CD25 Capri Centre Comprehensive Development zone in order to 
accommodate the phased development of the proposed mixed-use project.  

c) Development Permit 

An overarching Form and Character Development Permit will also be under consideration and will 
apply to the entire Capri development site. The objective of the broad DP is to provide certainty 
regarding the main objectives and principles of the development. By adhering to this framework, 
the development team will create proposals that are consistent with the vision for the 
comprehensively planned site. Separate Development Permits will be required for each stage of 
development to ensure that Staff and Council are satisfied with the final detail of each phase.  
 
Project Overview 
Redevelopment of the Capri Mall presents a noteworthy opportunity to revitalize this important 
Urban Centre. The main objective of the project is to transform the suburban shopping centre 
into a vibrant and interesting hub of activity. To satisfy this objective the project proposes a 
distinctive neighbourhood with connected open space, considers pedestrians as a priority, 
provides street level retail and includes a diversity of housing and commercial space while 
maintaining the existing hotel. As noted in the applicant’s attached rationale the main 
components of the project are as follows: 
 
Market Square 
Anchored by a food store and enhanced by street related retail on two sides. The square will be 
open to Gordon Drive, providing an attractive location for community events such as a farmer’s 
market. It will be distinguished by quality pavers and pedestrian-scale lights. On non-event days, 
the square will provide ample surface parking for surrounding retail and other neighbourhood 
attractions. 
 
A Crescent on the Park 
A residential neighbourhood that includes street-oriented townhouses with front and rear-yards, 
city-homes, and apartments. This residential area is focused around the neighbourhood park 
along an elegant crescent shaped street, creating a memorable residential address as well as 
fostering a strong connection between residents and the community park. 
 
 
 
 

19



TA14-0004 / Z12-0056 – Page 5 

A Community Park  
With both seasonal and year round events and activities for the public to enjoy. Opportunities 
include an informal summertime play space that becomes a community ice rink during the 
winter. The park is accented by a small retail building, which may become a cafe or restaurant. 
 
An Urban Edge to Harvey Avenue 
The new Capri Centre envisions commercial / office buildings along Harvey Avenue, with six a 
storey massing contemplated. These buildings will create a strong street-wall condition along 
Harvey Avenue, helping to define Kelowna’s main thoroughfare. The Capri Centre’s other edges 
will also contribute to a higher quality public realm through a strong street relationship and a 
land-use plan that fits the local context. For example, mixed-use buildings along Gordon Drive 
will have a similar effect on the Gordon Drive streetscape. On Capri Street, residential uses will 
transition to the residential neighbourhood directly to the east of the centre. 
 
A people friendly place  
The concept for the Capri Centre includes numerous pedestrian linkages and pedestrian / cyclist 
only pathways, helping to enhance the quality of public life for residents and visitors to this new 
village centre. 
 
A mixed-use neighbourhood village centre 
Although new land-uses and community amenities are contemplated for the Capri Centre, 
commercial uses will remain an important component of the vision. In fact, this development 
includes the possibility of keeping the current hotel intact and, in a phased manner, redevelop 
the mall and other on-site commercial uses. Phasing the development will accommodate current 
tenants by allowing them to stay open during construction and move into their new locations as 
they are built, with minimal disruption to current business. 
 

Zoning Analysis Table 

CRITERIA CD25 ZONE C4 Zone C7 Zone 

Development Regulations 
Floor Area Ratio 2.60 2.35 (including bonuses) 9.0 

Height 
26 storeys / 82m – 1 landmark building 
Within 40m of Harvey – 6 storeys / 22m 

Beyond 40m of Harvey – 22 storeys / 70m 
7 storeys / 25m 

44m – Zoning Bylaw 
OCP allows up to 76.5m 

(26 storeys)  

Setbacks 
Harvey Ave 4.5m 3.0m 3.0 

Gordon within 40m of Hwy 
Gordon beyond 40m of Hwy 

0.0m 
3.0m 

0.0m 
0.0m 

Gordon within 40m of Hwy 
Gordon beyond 40m of Hwy 

0.0m 
3.0m 

0.0m 
0.0m 

Sutherland Avenue 3.0m 3.0m 0.0m 

Portions above 6 storeys 6.0m N/A 3.0m 

Tall Buildings 

Building Separation Above 12 storeys – 30.0m N/A 30.0m 

Max. Floor Pate 
Above 12 storeys – 650m²  

Landmark bldg above 12 storeys – 692m² 
N/A 

676m² 

Other Regulations 

Minimum Parking Required 
1.0 per dwelling unit 

1.75 per commercial space per 100m² 
1.0 per hotel unit 

1.0 per dwelling unit 
1.75 per 100m² commer. 

1.0 per hotel unit 

1.0 per dwelling unit 
1.3 per 100m² commer. 

1.0 per hotel unit 

 

20



TA14-0004 / Z12-0056 – Page 6 

4.2 Site Context 

Adjacent land uses are as follows: 

Orientation Zoning Land Use 

North N/A Harvey Avenue (Hwy 97) 

East Ru6 – Two Dwelling Housing Residential 

South C4 – Urban Centre Commercial Commercial 

West C4, C9, P2 Various 

 

 

21



TA14-0004 / Z12-0056 – Page 7 

5.0 Current Development Policies  

Staff recommends that the applicant’s November 13th, 2013 Public Information Meeting be 
considered appropriate consultation for the purpose of Section 879 of the Local Government Act, 
and that the process is sufficiently early and does not need to be further ongoing in this case. 
Furthermore, additional consultation with the Regional District of Central Okanagan is not 
required in this case. 
 
Staff have reviewed this application and it may move forward without affecting either the City’s 
financial plan or waste management plan. 

5.1 Kelowna Official Community Plan (OCP) 

5.1.1 Development Process (Chapter 5) - Considerations in Reviewing Development Applications 

Compact Urban Form.1 Develop a compact urban form that maximizes the use of existing 
infrastructure and contributes to energy efficient settlement patterns. This will be done by 
increasing densities (approximately 75 - 100 people and/or jobs located within a 400 metre 
walking distance of transit stops is required to support the level of transit service) through 
development, conversion, and re-development within Urban Centres (see Map 5.3) in particular 
and existing areas as per the provisions of the Generalized Future Land Use Map 4.1. 

Ground-Oriented Housing.2 Encourage all multi-unit residential buildings in neighbourhoods with 
schools and parks to contain ground-oriented units with 2 or more bedrooms to provide a family 
housing choice within multi-unit rental or ownership markets. High density residential projects in 
the Downtown area are encouraged to include a ground-oriented housing component, especially 
where such can be provided on non-arterial and non-collector streets.’ 

Ensure appropriate and context sensitive built form (Objective 5.5) 
 
Building Height (Policy .1). Locate taller buildings in the geographic centre of Urban Centres and 
generally decrease height moving away from the centre, to a maximum of 4 storey’s at the 
periphery of the Urban Centres, where adjoining land is designated for single/two unit housing. 
 
Capri/Landmark: Generally 4 storeys. Greater height (up to 12 storeys) may be supported on the 
Capri Shopping Centre site and in the area bordered by Dickson Avenue, Dayton Avenue, 
Springfield Road and Kirschner Road upon approval of a Council endorsed comprehensive 
development plan for the site that provides for a variety of housing types (including but not 
limited to ground-oriented and rental apartment housing) and the provision of commercial space 
that is of an amount that, at minimum, equals that which existed in 2010. 
 
Objective 5.8 Achieve high quality urban design. 
 
Streetscaping (Policy 2). Urban Centre roads should be considered as part of the public space and 
streetscaped with full amenities (i.e. sidewalks, trees and other planting, furniture, bike 
facilities, boulevards, etc.). 
 
Ensure opportunities are available for greater use of active transportation and transit to: 
improve community health; reduce greenhouse gas emissions; and increase resilience in the 
face of higher energy prices (Objective 5.10) 
 
Maximize Pedestrian / Cycling Connectivity. Require that pedestrian and cyclist movement and 
infrastructure be addressed in the review and approval of all City and private sector 

                                                
1 City of Kelowna Official Community Plan, Policy 5.2.3 (Development Process Chapter). 
2 City of Kelowna Official Community Plan, Policy 5.23.1 (Development Process Chapter). 

22



TA14-0004 / Z12-0056 – Page 8 

developments, including provision of sidewalks and trails and recognition of frequently used 
connections and informal pedestrian routes.  
 
Transit Infrastructure. Require that transit service needs to be integrated into community 
designs and development proposals to optimize access to transit service and incorporate essential 
infrastructure on transit routes identified. 
 
Active Transportation Networks. As redevelopment occurs within and around Urban Centres, 
seek public pathways that would complement linear parks, multi-use trails, parks, plazas, 
greenways or sidewalks to form continuous pedestrian and bicycle networks and/or connections 
between centres where possible.  

6.0 Technical Comments 

6.1 Building & Permitting Department 

This property falls within the Mill Creek flood plain bylaw area and compliance is 
required. Minimum building elevations are required to be established prior to the release 
of the Development Permit. These concept buildings may be designed to low, which may 
affect the form and character of the site. 

6.2 Development Engineering Department 

See Attached. 

6.3 Fire Department 

Fire department access, fire flows, and hydrants as per the BC Building Code and City of 
Kelowna Subdivision Bylaw #7900. The Subdivision Bylaw requires a minimum of 150ltr/sec 
flow. Access to all commercial premises is not availible through the required access roads. 
A 3-15m access to all major buildings is required as per the BC Building Code. Additional 
comments will be required at the building permit application. 

6.4 Fortis BC (Gas) 

FortisBC operates and maintains several gas mains and one gas header on the subject land 
that will be in the way of the new building.  We have existing Rights of Way in place 
(plans KAP52247, KAP52248 and KAP64840) that the developer can plan around or FortisBC 
can relocate the highlighted sections of main as necessary at their cost. 

6.5 Fortis BC (Electric) 

FortisBC (electric) reviewed the attached referral and based on the information received, 
the developer would be subject to all the terms and conditions outlined in the Fortis 
Tariff for service connection and likely given the size of the development, be responsible 
for some cost of upgrading the electrical distribution system for extra capacity to serve 
the proposed needs.   Upon application for power, a Fortis designer would work with the 
developer to determine electrical requirements and then determine what, if any, further 
upgrades are needed. Any changes to this application which will require further review 
and comment by Fortis. At present, Fortis has identified one location we presently 
provide service to at the northwesterly corner of the property (DeDutch restaurant) where 
Fortis have underground and transformer facilities which require SRW protection. (See 
facilities highlited in attachments). Also noted in attachment, Fortis has recently installed 
new electrical facilities at the south end of these properties adjacent to Sutherland 

23



TA14-0004 / Z12-0056 – Page 9 

Avenue which we have been working with Capri Mall Manager Gavin Parry and RG 
Properties lawyer D. McIntyre to secure SRW at this location and will require closure of 
this for protection of these facilities, 

Prior to final approval of this application, the applicants must contact FortisBC at 1-866-
436-7847 and quote their file Z12-0056, OCP12-0011, to initiate all necessary 
arrangements for electrical service requirements with this proposal.  It is the developer's 
responsibility to ensure that all of FortisBC's requirements including construction fees and 
any SRWs that may be required for this proposal, have been addressed prior to receiving 
final approval. 

7.0 Application Chronology  

Date of Application Received: July 25th, 2012 
Public Information Meeting:  November 13th, 2013 
TIA Endorsed by MoT:   September 19th, 2014 

 

Report prepared by: 

     
Alec Warrender 
 

Reviewed by:   Ryan Smith, Manager, Urban Planning Manager 
 

Approved Inclusion:  D. Gilchrist, Community Planning & Real Estate Divisional Director 

 

 

Attachments:  

Schedule ‘A’ 
Subject Property Map 
Project Rationale 
Proposed CD25 Zone 
Design Guidelines 
Public Information Meeting Summary 
Development Engineering Requirements 
 

24



25



26



27



28



29



30



31



32



33



34



35



36



37



38



39



40



41



42



43



44



45



46



47



48



49



50



51



52



53



54



55



56



57



58



59



60



61



62



63



64



65



66



67



68



69



70



71



72



73



74



75



76



77



78



79



80



81



82



83



84



85



86



87



88



89



90



91



92



93



94



95



REPORT TO COUNCIL 
 
 
 

Date: 9/19/2014 

RIM No. 1250-30 

To: City Manager 

From: Urban Planning, Community Planning & Real Estate (AC) 

Application: Z14-0026 Owner: 
561655 BC LTD., INC. NO. 
BC0561655  

Address: 1280 Glenmore Dr Applicant: Randy Therrien 

Subject: Rezoning Application  

Existing OCP Designation: MRL – Multiple Unit Residential, Low-Density  

Existing Zone: RU1 – Large Lot Housing 

Proposed Zone: RM2 – Low Density Row Housing 

 

1.0 Recommendation 

THAT Bylaw No. 10994 be forwarded for rescindment consideration; 

AND THAT Rezoning Application No. Z14-0026 to amend the City of Kelowna Zoning Bylaw No. 
8000 by changing the zoning classification of Lot 1, Section 29, Township 26, ODYD, Plan 29608, 
located on 1280 Glenmore Drive, Kelowna, BC from the RU1 – Large Lot Housing zone to the RM2 
– Low Density Row Housing zone as shown on Map “B” attached to the report from Urban Planning 
Department dated September 19th 2014, be considered by Council; 

AND THAT the Zone Amending Bylaw be forwarded to a Public Hearing for further consideration; 

AND THAT final adoption of the Zone Amending Bylaw be subsequent to the following: 

1. Requirements of Development Engineering Branch being completed to their 
satisfaction;  

2. Approval of a Subdivision Preliminary Layout Review (PLR) including the dedication of 
both the north/south laneway and a second laneway connection from that lane 
westwards to Mountainview Street;  

3. AND FURTHER THAT a Section 219 Building Use covenant be registered on the subject 
property limiting the development to nine dwelling units in order to prevent the 
development of any additional dwellings not contemplated by this permit. 

2.0 Purpose  

96



Z14-0026 – Page 2 

 
To rescind Bylaw No. 10994 at first reading and to rezone the subject property from the RU1 - 
Large Lot Housing zone to the RM2 - Low Density Row Housing in order to develop a freehold five 
unit townhouse and a freehold four unit townhouse. 

3.0 Urban Planning Department 

3.1  Background 

Staff supported the original rezoning proposal to allow a freehold five unit townhouse 
development on the eastern portion of the subject property and three medium lot single family 
dwellings on the western portion. That proposal was negotiated after lengthy discussions 
between Staff and the applicant due to the sensitivity of density within the neighbourhood. The 
Official Community Plan (OCP) designates the subject property and all the properties to the north 
(between Mountainview Street & Glenmore Drive) as MRL – Multiple Unit Residential (Low 
Density). Originally, the applicant approached Staff and wanted to meet the OCP’s goals by 
proposing two five unit freehold townhouses on each side of the lane. However, Staff anticipated 
the neighbourhood’s concern for density and lane congestion and recommended to the applicant 
to reduce the density prescribed by the OCP. This would have been achieved by amending the 
OCP on the western portion of the subject property from MRL – Multiple Residential (Low Density) 
to S2RES – Single / Two Unit Residential and rezoning the western portion to RU2 in order to 
create three single family lots. The lot frontages of each RU2 lot would have been 14.55m 
compared to an average Mountainview lot frontage of 20.7m. Despite the OCP envisioning greater 
density along Mountainview Street as compared to the surrounding single family development, 
the smaller RU2 zoned single family development was seen by Staff as an appropriate transition 
for this neighbourhood between the larger surrounding RU1 lots and the five unit townhouses on 
the eastern portion of the subject property. 

At the public hearing on August 26th 2014, Council suggested the applicant consider adding a 
westward lane through the subject property connecting Mountainview Street to the north/south 
lane. At that meeting, Council and Staff heard from the residents that emergency access, lane 
congestion, and the density were all concerns. Council passed the following resolution: 

THAT further readings consideration of Bylaw No. 10994 be deferred so the 
applicant and staff may determine an appropriate use and lane location for the 
western portion of the parcel; 
 
AND THAT staff report back to council as appropriate following discussions with 
the applicant. 

3.2 Planning considerations 

Staff originally did not recommend a lane to Mountainview Street as it was considered redundant 
and would eliminate one RU2 lot. The applicant would be responsible for the costs of installing 
the lane and dedicating it to the City. The City’s Development Engineering Branch recommends 
that if the lane is to be a requirement, it be located on the south side of the property as this 
would be better from a site lines and traffic safety perspective in addition to being a visible 
barrier between the OCP designated MRL properties to the north and the S2-RES properties to the 
south. However, placing the lane in this location will also require the applicant to relocate the 
existing telephone poles and associated utilities. 

97



Z14-0026 – Page 3 

 

  

Due to the cost of adding the lane and relocating the utility, the applicant will abandon the OCP 
amendment to reduce the future land use designation and meet the goals of the OCP by providing 
a four unit freehold townhouse along Mountainview Street. 

This proposal is consistent with the Official Community Plan (OCP) Future Land Use designation 
for the area. This proposal would not need any variances and has provided the required number 
of off-street parking stalls. 

The only concern Staff has with both the current and original applications is the potential to add 
additional dwelling units within the townhouses after the new home owners move in. The RM2 
zone does not restrict the number of dwelling units to nine but due to the site limitations 
including parking this is the effective maximum density for ground oriented housing. Any 
additional dwelling units would trigger additional parking requirements and as a result staff are 
recommending that a Section 219 Building Use covenant be registered on title that states only 
one dwelling unit is permitted per lot. 

A Development Permit is required to review the form and character of the proposed development 
and will be brought forward to Council if the zoning is approved. 

To address Council Policy No. 367 with respect to public consultation, the applicant has 
undertaken neighbour consultation by individually contacting the adjacent neighbours as 
described in the attached Schedule ‘A’. No major issues were identified during the initial 
consultation with neighbouring parcels.  

 

 

 

 

98



Z14-0026 – Page 4 

 
4.0 Proposal 

4.1 Project Description 

The subject property currently contains one single detached dwelling that will be demolished and 
is proposed to be replaced with a five unit townhouse development on the eastern portion of the 
subject property and a four unit townhouse development of the western portion of the subject 
property. 

4.2 Site Context 

The site area is approximately 1,942 m2 and is located within a well established residential 
neighbourhood. The Kelowna Golf and Country Club is located to the east directly across 
Glenmore Drive. The subject property is designated MRL (Multiple Residential – Low Density) and 
the lot is within the Permanent Growth Boundary. Specifically, the adjacent land uses are as 
follows: 

Orientation Zoning Land Use 

North 
RU1 – Large Lot Housing 
RU2 – Medium Lot Housing 

Residential 

East 
P3LP – Parks and Open Space (Liquor 
Primary) 

Golf Course 

South RU1 – Large Lot Housing Residential 

West RU1 – Large Lot Housing Residential 

 
 

Subject Property Map: 1280 Glenmore Drive 

 

 

99



Z14-0026 – Page 5 

 
4.3 Zoning Analysis Table 

Zoning Analysis Table 

CRITERIA RM2 ZONE REQUIREMENTS PROPOSAL 

Development Regulations 
 Principal Bldg Principal Bldg 

Height 
9.5 m (2.5 storeys) To the midpoint 

of the roof 
9.5 m (2.5 stories) to the Peak 

Front Yard 4.5 m > 4.5 m 

Side Yard  
4.0 m 

0.0 m with party wall agreement 
4.0 m 

0.0 m with party wall agreement 

Flanking Side Yard n/a  n/a 

Rear Yard 
6.0 m for 1 or 1 ½ storeys 
7.5 m for 2 or 2 ½ storeys 

7.5 m 

Site coverage of buildings  50 % 35.9 % 

Site coverage of 
buildings, driveways & 

parking 
55 % 46.8 % 

Other Regulations 
Minimum Parking 

Requirements 
2 / dwelling unit = 10 parking stalls 10 

Private Open Space 25 m2 / dwelling unit Greater than 25 m2  / dwelling unit 

 

5.0 Current Development Policies  

5.1 Kelowna Official Community Plan (OCP) 

Development Process 

Compact Urban Form.1 Develop a compact urban form that maximizes the use of existing 
infrastructure and contributes to energy efficient settlement patterns. This will be done by 
increasing densities (approximately 75 - 100 people and/or jobs located within a 400 metre 
walking distance of transit stops is required to support the level of transit service) through 
development, conversion, and re-development within Urban Centres (see Map 5.3) in particular 
and existing areas as per the provisions of the Generalized Future Land Use Map 4.1. 

Sensitive Infill.2 Encourage new development or redevelopment in existing residential areas to 
be sensitive to or reflect the character of the neighbourhood with respect to building design, 
height, and siting. 

6.0 Technical Comments  

6.1 Building & Permitting Department 

 Development Cost Charges (DCC’s) are required to be paid prior to issuance of any 
Building Permits. 

 Full Plan check for Building Code related issues will be done at time of Building Permit 
applications.  

                                                      
1 City of Kelowna Official Community Plan, Policy 5.3.2 (Development Process Chapter). 
2 City of Kelowna Official Community Plan, Policy 5.22.6 (Development Process Chapter). 

100



Z14-0026 – Page 6 

 
6.2 Development Engineering Department 

 See attached 

6.3 Fire Department 

 No concerns with the concept but a lane cannot be considered as access for the fire 
department. 

7.0 Application Chronology  

Date of Application Received: June 5th 2014 
Date of Public consultation: July 7th 2014 
Date of Last Public Hearing: August 26th 2014 

Report prepared by: 

     
Adam Cseke, Planner   
 
 

Reviewed by:    Ryan Smith, Urban Planning Manager 
 

Approved for Inclusion:    Doug Gilchrist, Community Planning ＆ Real Estate Div. Dir. 

Attachments:  

Site Plan / Landscape Plan 
Colour Board 
Conceptual Elevations 
Development Engineering Comments 
 
 
 

101



102



103



104



105



106



107



108



109



110



111



112



113



114



115



116



117



118



119



REPORT TO COUNCIL 
 
 
 

Date: October 6, 2014 

RIM No. 1250-30 

To: City Manager 

From: Urban Planning, Community Planning & Real Estate (LB) 

Application: Z14-0035 Owner: 
Orchard Park Shopping 
Centre Holdings Inc. 

Address: 2271 Harvey Avenue Applicant: 
Kelowna Farmers’ & 
Crafters’ Market 

Title: 2014 09 24 Report Z14-0035 2271 Harvey Ave 

Existing OCP Designation: MXR – Mixed Use (Residential / Commercial) 

Existing Zone: C6 – Regional Commercial 

Proposed Zone: C6rls – Regional Commercial (Retail Liquor Sales) 
 

 

1.0 Recommendation 

THAT Rezoning Application No. Z14-0035 to amend City of Kelowna Zoning Bylaw No. 8000 by 
changing the zoning classification of a portion of Lot 1, District Lot 127, ODYD, Plan KAP53260 
except Plans KAP56123 and EPP3467, located on 2271 Harvey Avenue, Kelowna, BC, from the C6 – 
Regional Commercial zone to the C6rls – Regional Commercial (Retail Liquor Sales) zone, as 
shown on Map “A” attached to the Report of the Urban Planning Department dated October 6, 
2014, be considered by Council; 

AND THAT the Zone Amending Bylaw be forwarded to a Public Hearing for further consideration. 

2.0 Purpose 

To consider a proposal to rezone a portion of the subject property to allow for licensed 
manufacturers of liquor to sell products and offer samples at the Kelowna Farmers’ and Crafters’ 
Market. 

3.0 Urban Planning 

Staff support the proposed rezoning to allow for licensed manufacturers of liquor to sell and offer 
samples at the Kelowna Farmers’ and Crafters’ Market. The proposal is consistent with the 
Zoning Bylaw regulations for the C6rls zone and the Official Community Plan (OCP) direction to 
support farmers’ markets. 

 

120



Z14-0035 – Page 2 

 
 

4.0 Proposal 

4.1 Project Description 

The Kelowna Farmers’ and Crafters’ Market is seeking to rezone the east portion of 2271 Harvey 
Avenue to the C6rls – Regional Commercial (Retail Liquor Sales) zone to allow licensed 
manufacturers of liquor to sell and offer product samples at the Market. This could include 
licensed wineries, breweries and distilleries. The Market typically operates at this location on 
Wednesdays and Saturdays between 8 am and 1 pm from April through October. 

4.2 Site Context 

The subject property is a parking lot owned by Orchard Park Shopping Centre Holdings Inc. The 
OCP Future Land Use designation of the subject property is MXR – Mixed Use (Residential / 
Commercial), and it is within the Permanent Growth Boundary and the Midtown Urban Centre. 
The surrounding area is a mix of commercial, institutional and residential uses as well as vacant 
agricultural land. 

Specifically, adjacent land uses are as follows: 

Orientation Zoning Land Use 

North 
C6 – Regional Commercial 
A1 – Agriculture 1 

School District No. 23 Administration Office 
Vacant land 

East A1 – Agriculture 1 Vacant land 

South A1 – Agriculture 1 Vacant land 

West C6 – Regional Commercial Orchard Park Shopping Centre 

 

Subject Property Map: 2271 Harvey Avenue 

 

121



Z14-0035 – Page 3 

 
 

5.0 Current Development Policies 

5.1 Kelowna Official Community Plan (OCP) 

Development Process 

Farmer’s Markets.1 Support the development of farmer’s markets on non-ALR sites. ALR sites 
located near the urban – rural edge, in accessible, central locations may be considered if a non-
ALR alternative cannot be secured. 

6.0 Technical Comments  

6.1 Development Engineering Department 

The requested application does not compromise any municipal infrastructure or services. 

This application does not trigger any offsite upgrades. See attached memorandum dated 
September 11, 2014. 

6.2 Interior Health 

Provided this application is serviced by community sewer and water this office has no concerns 
with liquid waste or drinking water. 

If this application is to proceed, permitting may be required and questions can be directed to the 
Kelowna Health Centre, Health Protection Office. 

6.3 RCMP 

No comments received. 

7.0 Application Chronology  

Date of Application Received: September 3, 2014 
 

Report prepared by: 

     
Laura Bentley, Planner 
 
 

Reviewed by:    L. Ganczar, Urban Planning Supervisor 

Approved for Inclusion  R. Smith, Urban Planning Manager 
 

Attachments: 

Map “A” 
Development Engineering Memorandum 

                                                
1 City of Kelowna Official Community Plan, Policy 5.12.1 (Development Process Chapter). 

122



123



124



125



126



127



REPORT TO COUNCIL 
 
 
 

Date: October 6, 2014 

RIM No. 1250-30 

To: City Manager 

From: Subdivision, Agriculture & Environment Department (LB) 

Application: Z14-0029 Owner: D Squared Enterprises Inc. 

Address: 801 Francis Avenue Applicant: Kevin Lindsay 

Title: 2014-10-06 Report - Z14-0029 - 801 Francis Ave 

Existing OCP Designation: S2RES – Single / Two Unit Residential 

Existing Zone: RU6 – Two Dwelling Housing 

Proposed Zone: 
RU2 – Medium Lot Housing 
RU6 – Two Dwelling Housing 
 

 

1.0 Recommendation 

THAT Rezoning Application No. Z14-0029 to amend City of Kelowna Zoning Bylaw No. 8000 by 
changing the zoning classification of Lot 2, District Lot 136, ODYD, Plan 6253, located on 801 
Francis Avenue, Kelowna, BC, from the RU6 – Two Dwelling Housing zone to the RU2 – Medium Lot 
Housing and RU6 – Two Dwelling Housing zones, as shown on Map “A” attached to the Report of 
the Urban Planning Department, dated October 6, 2014, be considered by Council; 

AND THAT the Zone Amending Bylaw be forwarded to a Public Hearing for further consideration; 

AND THAT final adoption of the Zone Amending Bylaw be considered subsequent to the issuance 
of a Preliminary Layout Review Letter by the Approving Officer; 

AND FURTHER THAT final adoption of the Zone Amending Bylaw be considered subsequent to the 
requirements of the Development Engineering Branch being completed to their satisfaction. 

2.0 Purpose 

To rezone the subject property to RU2 – Medium Lot Housing and RU6 – Two Dwelling Housing to 
allow for a two lot subdivision. 

3.0 Subdivision, Agriculture & Environment 

Staff support the proposed rezoning to facilitate a two lot subdivision of the subject property. 
The proposal is consistent with the Official Community Plan (OCP) Future Land Use designation of 
S2RES – Single / Two Unit Residential for the area. The proposed lots meet the zoning criteria for 
RU2 – Medium Lot Housing and RU6 – Two Dwelling Housing. The proposed RU2 lot will be 

128



Z14-0029 – Page 2 

 
 

approximately 495 m2 (minimum required is 400 m2) and the proposed RU6 lot will be 
approximately 520 m2 (minimum required is 400 m2). The surrounding area is primarily zoned RU6 
– Two Dwelling Housing with some more intensive residential uses. 

In fulfillment of Council Policy No. 367 respecting public consultation, the applicant undertook 
neighbor consultation by individually contacting the neighbours (see attached). No major 
concerns were identified during this consultation. 

4.0 Proposal 

4.1 Project Description 

One single detached dwelling and an accessory building are currently located on the subject 
property. The applicant proposes to rezone the east portion of the property to the RU2 – Medium 
Lot Housing zone and retain the RU6 – Two Dwelling Housing zone for the west portion of the 
property in order to allow a subdivision to two lots. The existing house and accessory building are 
to be demolished. 

4.2 Site Context 

The subject property is approximately 941 m2 in area. The OCP Future Land Use designation is 
S2RES – Single / Two Unit Residential, and it is within the Permanent Growth Boundary. The 
property is in a residential area with Cameron Park to the north. 

Specifically, adjacent land uses are as follows: 

Orientation Zoning Land Use 

North RU6 – Two Dwelling Housing Residential 

East RU6 – Two Dwelling Housing Residential 

South RU6 – Two Dwelling Housing Residential 

West RU6 – Two Dwelling Housing Residential 

 

Subject Property Map: 801 Francis Avenue 
 

 

 

129



Z14-0029 – Page 3 

 
 

4.3 Zoning Analysis Table 

Zoning Analysis Table 

CRITERIA 
RU6 ZONE 

REQUIREMENTS 
PROPOSAL 

RU2 ZONE 
REQUIREMENTS 

PROPOSAL 

Existing Lot/Subdivision Regulations 
Lot Area 400 m2  520 m2 400 m2 495 m2 

Lot Width 13.0 m 13.0 m 12.0 m 12.375 m 

Lot Depth 30.0 m 37.186 m 30.0 m 37.186 m 

4.4 Current Development Policies 

4.5 Kelowna Official Community Plan (OCP) 

Development Process 

Compact Urban Form.1 Develop a compact urban form that maximizes the use of existing 
infrastructure and contributes to energy efficient settlement patterns. This will be done by 
increasing densities (approximately 75 - 100 people and/or jobs located within a 400 metre 
walking distance of transit stops is required to support the level of transit service) through 
development, conversion, and re-development within Urban Centres (see Map 5.3) in particular 
and existing areas as per the provisions of the Generalized Future Land Use Map 4.1. 

Sensitive Infill.2 Encourage new development or redevelopment in existing residential areas to 
be sensitive to or reflect the character of the neighbourhood with respect to building design, 
height and siting. 

5.0 Technical Comments  

5.1 Building & Permitting Department 

No comments. 

5.2 Development Engineering Department 

See attached memorandum dated July 14, 2014. 

5.3 Telus 

Telus will provide underground facilities to this development. The applicant will be required to 
supply and install conduit as per Telus policy. 

6.0 Application Chronology  

Date of Application Received: July 10, 2014 
 

Report prepared by: 

     
Laura Bentley, Planner 
                                                      
1 City of Kelowna Official Community Plan, Policy 5.3.2 (Development Process Chapter). 
2 City of Kelowna Official Community Plan, Policy 5.22.6 (Development Process Chapter). 

130



Z14-0029 – Page 4 

 
 

Approved for Inclusion  S. Gambacort, Director, Subdivision, Agriculture &  
Environment 

 
 

Attachments: 

Map “A” 
Site Plan 
Development Engineering Memorandum 
Neighbourhood Consultation 

131



132



133



134



135



136



137



138



REPORT TO COUNCIL 
 
 
 

Date: 10/6/2014 

RIM No. 1210-21 

To: City Manager 

From: Subdivision, Agriculture & Environment Services (MS) 

Application: 
OCP14-0022 
Z14-0047 

Owners:   
Sherwood Mission Developments 
Ltd. & Dr. Alexander Rezansoff 

Address: 984 Dehart Road Applicant: New Town Planning Services Inc. 

Subject: Official Community Plan (OCP) Amendment and Rezoning Application 

Existing OCP Designation: 
Single / Two Unit Residential (S2RES) 
Multi-Unit Residential Low Density (MRL) 
 

Proposed OCP Designation: Single / Two Unit Residential (S2RES) 

Existing Zone: A1 – Agriculture 1 

Proposed Zone: RU1 – Large Lot Housing 
RU2 – Medium Lot Housing 

 

1.0 Recommendation 

THAT Official Community Plan Bylaw Amendment No. OCP14-0022 to amend Map 4.1 of the 
Kelowna 2030 – Official Community Plan Bylaw No. 10500, by changing a portion of the Future 
Land Use designation of Lot 1, Section 31, TWP 29, ODYD Plan KAP62654, located at 984 Dehart 
Road, Kelowna, BC, from the Multi-Unit Residential Low Density (MRL) designation to the 
Single/Two Unit Residential (S2RES) designation, in accordance with ‘Map A’, be considered by 
Council; 
 
AND THAT Rezoning Application No. Z14-0047 to amend the City of Kelowna Zoning Bylaw No. 
8000 by changing the zoning classification of portions of Lot 1, Section 31, TWP 29, ODYD Plan 
KAP62654, located at 984 Dehart Road, Kelowna, BC, from the A1 – Agriculture 1 zone to the RU1 
– Large Lot Housing zone and to the RU2 – Medium Lot Housing zone in accordance with ‘Map B’ 
be considered by Council; 
 
AND THAT the Official Community Plan Amendment Bylaw and Zone Amending Bylaw be 
forwarded to a Public Hearing for further consideration; 
 
AND THAT final adoption of the zone amending bylaw be considered subsequent to the 
requirements of Development Engineering Branch and Parks Services Branch being completed to 
their satisfaction, as well as, a Farm Protection Development Permit and a Natural Environment 

139



OCP14-0022 / Z14-0047 – Page 2 

 
 

Development Permit being issued to the satisfaction of the Subdivision, Agriculture & 
Environment Services Branch.   

2.0 Purpose  

The applicant is proposing to rezone a portion of the land from the A1 - Agriculture 1 zone to the 
RU1 - Large Lot Housing zone and RU2 – Medium Lot Housing zone to facilitate a future 110 lot 
residential subdivision. The proposal also requires an OCP amendment to extend the Single/Two 
Unit Residential (S2RES) future land use designation north into the area designated for Multi-Unit 
Residential - Low Density (MRL). 

3.0 Subdivision, Agriculture & Environment Services  

In the spring of 2014, the applicant had brought forth to Council a multi-family / single/two 
family residential concept that received First Reading and was sent to Public Hearing on June 
10th, 2014. The application as proposed was defeated at 2nd Reading.  Council’s subsequent 
resolution stated: 

Council requested staff work with the applicant to contemplate only single family residential, 
multiple accesses, and traffic signals or other options for DeHart road in any amendment to the 
application. 
 

As directed by Council, the applicant has worked with staff to amend the application. This 
application includes the following key items: 

 Single / Two Family Residential Future Land Use designation for the entire property; 

 RU1 – Large Lot Housing and RU2 – Medium Lot Housing Residential proposed zoning; 

 Primary access via Dehart Road with secondary access via Turner Road; 

 A roundabout constructed at Dehart Road and Bartholomew Court; 

 A 15 metre riparian buffer along the west property line; 

 A 20 metre riparian buffer along the northeast property line; 

 A 15 metre farm protection buffer along ALR lands; and 

 A proposed pedestrian connection to Torrs Road. 
 
Staff supports the application subject to the following conditions being fulfilled prior to Final 
Reading, including requirements of the: 

 Development Engineering Branch (memo attached),  

 Parks & Building Planning Branch including a blanket Statutory Right of Way over the 
property, to facilitate a trail network to be established at the time of subdivision; 

 Subdivision, Agriculture & Environment Services, including the requirements of the: 

o Covenant #KM084923 (see summary below and attached covenant); 

o Farm Protection Development Permit; 

o Natural Environment Development Permit, including a mitigation/restoration plan 
(signed off by an QEP/RPBio) for the site, as required by the Settlement and 
Release Agreement1 (attached); and a 

                                                
1
 Rezansoff, A.A. & the City of Kelowna, 2010. Settlement and Release Agreement. 

140



OCP14-0022 / Z14-0047 – Page 3 

 
 

o The registration of a Build/No Disturb Covenant of 20 m along the northeast 
property line and a 15 m No Build / No Disturb Covenant along the west property 
line, and 15 m Farm Protection Buffer along the ALR land.  

4.0 Proposal 

4.1 Project Description 

The proposal is to amend the OCP and rezone the property to accommodate a future 110 unit 
subdivision at 984 Dehart Road. The Official Community Plan (OCP) Amendment is required to 
facilitate an extension of the Single / Two Unit Residential future land use designation to the 
north.  This represents a net increase of 43,600 m2 of Single / Two Unit Residential area than is 
currently designated in the OCP. 

The property includes two watercourses and associated riparian management areas (RMA) and 
the land use plan identifies a 20 m wide RMA along the northeast boundary and a 15 m RMA along 
the west boundary.  In addition to the RMA, the proposal also includes a farm protection buffer 
of 15 m area along the boundary of the ALR.  Adjacent water licenses with respect to flow and 
location will also be accommodated within the proposal.  A memorandum of understanding for 
access to Ahern and Cowan Springs has been agreed upon between the water licence holders. 

4.2 Background  

The property at 984 Dehart was removed from the Agricultural Land Reserve (ALR) in 1989.  

In the spring of 2013, an application was initiated to amend the OCP and rezone the property. 
This proposal was to rezone to RU-1 Large Lot Residential included a road access that came 
through Young and Turner Roads.  A Public Information Meeting was held on April 18th, 2013, with 
many of the residents opposed to this access.  Based on this public feedback, an alternate plan 
was developed, with the primary access at Dehart Road.  A Traffic Impact Analysis was prepared 
for this revised road network, which was received by the City in February of 2014. 

In the spring of 2014, a revised application was heard by Council and was sent to Public Hearing 
on June 10, 2014. This application included both multi-family and single/two family residential 
housing, connections to Turner Road and ingress/egress at Dehart across from Bartholomew 
Road. The application was defeated by Council and Council directed staff to work with the 
applicant to investigate a single / two family housing option and traffic options. 

The most recent application was initiated in the summer of 2014.  This latest proposal is to 
rezone to both the RU-1 Large Lot Residential and RU-2 Medium Lot Residential with the main 
road access via a roundabout at Bartholomew Court while the secondary access is via Turner 
Road.  A revised Traffic Impact Analysis was submitted for this revised road network, which was 
received by the City in August, 2014.  A second Public Information Meeting was held on Monday, 
September 29th, 2014.  At the time of writing this Council Report, the results of the second Public 
Information Meeting was unknown. 

 

  

141



OCP14-0022 / Z14-0047 – Page 4 

 
 

4.3 Site Context 

The 9.6 ha subject property is located within the Okanagan Mission Sector of the City (Map 1, 
below) and is within the Permanent Growth Boundary. The property is currently zoned A1 but is 
not in the Agricultural Land Reserve.  Properties within the Agricultural Land Reserve lie to the 
north and east (Map 2, below).  

The property has a number of water licenses in favour of downstream neighbours. The historical 
infilling changed water flow patterns which resulted in issues with respect to water licenses and 
access to the water.  As part of this application package, a Memorandum of Understanding has 
been prepared to address water license and water flow issues. The neighbours have agreed to 
cooperate in the construction of a proposed conveyance route in order to ensure the water 
license rights are sustained in the future.   

The natural gas line Right of Way (ROW) runs diagonally through the site from the west of the site 
to the north. 

A number of watercourses are present on the site.  The project includes riparian areas and 
details on cross sections of each of these watercourses in the design2 and riparian planting is 
proposed as part of the environmental report, but a planting plan has not yet been provided3. 

4.4 Neighbourhood Context 

A single / two unit residential subdivision with RU1 zoning lies to the west of the property, and 
agricultural properties lie to the north and east.  Dehart Road borders the property to the south, 
and single unit and rural residential properties are south of Dehart Road. 

Specifically, adjacent land uses are as follows: 

Orientation Zoning ALR Land Use 

North A1 – Agriculture 1 Yes Agriculture 

East A1 – Agriculture 1 Yes Agriculture 

South 
RU1 – Large Lot Housing 
RR2 – Rural Residential 2 

No Single Family Residential 
Rural Residential 

West RU1 – Large Lot Housing No Single Family Residential 

 

The subject property is located within a Development Permit Area for Farm Protection given its 
proximity to ALR land. It is also within a Natural Development Permit Area given the high 
groundwater and surface water conditions in the area. 

4.5 Utilities 

The sanitary sewer services are within the jurisdiction of the City of Kelowna. Currently water is 
provided by the South-East Kelowna Irrigation District (SEKID).  According to the consulting 
engineer report4, an agreement in principle has been reached between the City of Kelowna and 
SEKID to accommodate a boundary adjustment, such that the City of Kelowna will become the 
water purveyor for the subdivision prior to 4th reading of the rezoning application, subject to the 
owner covering the administration costs incurred by SEKID for the boundary adjustment (memo 
attached). 

 

                                                
2
 Aplin & Martin, 2013. Civil Engineering Servicing Brief – Proposed Dehart Road Subdivision – 984 Dehart Rd, Kelowna, BC 

3
 Makonis, 2013.  Dehart Road Environmental Assessment – Submitted to New Town Planning Services Inc. 

4
 Aplin & Martin, 2013. Civil Engineering Servicing Brief – Proposed Dehart Road Subdivision – 984 Dehart Rd, Kelowna, BC. 

142



OCP14-0022 / Z14-0047 – Page 5 

 
 

Map 1: Subject Property 

 
 
 
Map 2: Agricultural Land Reserve 

 
 
 

Subject Property 

Subject Property 

Swamp Road 

Dehart Road 

Swamp Road 

ALR 

143



OCP14-0022 / Z14-0047 – Page 6 

 
 

Map 3: Permanent Growth Boundary 

 
 
 
Map 4: Current Future Land Use 

 
 

4.6 Traffic Impact Analysis 

Resource 
Protection Area 

Multi-Unit 
Residential Low 

Density 

Single/Two Unit 
Residential 

Subject Property 

Subject Property 

Permanent Growth 
Boundary 

144



OCP14-0022 / Z14-0047 – Page 7 

 
 

A Traffic Impact Analysis to assess the current application of 110 single/two family residential 
units was completed in August, 2014. The results indicate that the proposed road network will 
accommodate the traffic generated by the development. (See attached report, EYH, August, 
2014).  

In Consultation with the City of Kelowna Development Services and Transportation and Mobility 
Branches, the concept includes a roundabout at Dehart Road which intersects at Bartholomew 
Court. This provides the following: 

 Universal access (turns available to all directions); 

 Pedestrian crossing; and  

 Traffic slowing along Dehart. 

The OCP indicates that a sidewalk is required along Dehart between the project and Gordon 
Drive.  The City of Kelowna is willing to take a limited responsibility for the costs, for 50% up to a 
maximum of $25,0005. Frontage upgrades along Dehart Road would be required in accordance 
with Bylaw # 7900.  The TIA Memo (EYH, date?) indicates that pedestrian access could be 
provided along the utility easements. 

4.7 Public Consultation 

Two Public Information Sessions have been held for the project.  The first Public Information 
Session was held for the project on April 18, 2013. There were 51 attendees recorded.  An exit 
questionnaire was prepared with 32 responses received. The road and lot configuration presented 
included the primary access from Young / Turner Roads.  Of the 32 responses, 27 strongly 
disagreed that the traffic could be accommodated on this route.  The results of the April 18, 
2013 Public Information Session are attached. The road configuration was changed in response to 
these results, and that the main access is now from Dehart Road. 

The second Public Information Session was held on the evening of Monday, September 29th, 2014.  
No information was available regarding this session given that the Council Report deadline was 
prior to the public meeting.   

4.8 Zoning Requirements 

The zoning requirements for RU1 and RU2 developments are included in the table below. Note 
that the lot current lot illustrated in the application documents illustrates a proposed 
configuration, but because a subdivision is not currently being applied for, the exact alignment of 
lots may change. The road network will not change.  However, the current configuration 
demonstrates that 100 RU1 – Large Lot Housing and RU2 – Medium Lot Housing is possible for the 
site. No variances are necessary with the current configuration. 

 

 

 

 

Zoning Analysis Table 

                                                
5
 Muenz, S. January 21, 2014. Email to K. Funk, Dehart IIA & Sidewalk. 

145



OCP14-0022 / Z14-0047 – Page 8 

 
 

CRITERIA ZONE REQUIREMENTS PROPOSAL 

Existing Lot/Subdivision Regulations – RU1 – Large Lot Housing 
Lot Area 550 m2 Minimum 550 m2 

Lot Width 16.5 m (17 for a corner lot) Minimum 16.5 m 

Lot Depth 30 m Minimum 30 m 

Existing Lot/Subdivision Regulations – RU2 – Medium Lot Housing 
Lot Area 400 m2 Minimum 400 m2 

Lot Width 13 m (15 for a corner lot) Minimum 13 m 

Lot Depth 30 m Minimum 30 m 

No variances are being requested for this rezoning.  Staff notes that subdivision plan is not being 
applied for at this time. The lot current lot configuration has no variances required.  

4.9 Transit 

Currently there is a transit stop at the southeast corner of the subject property. This existing bus 
stop will require upgrading to current standard (UBS2), as per the Development Engineering 
Department requirements (see attached memo). 

4.10 Pedestrian Linkages 

The internal roads will be built to a local road standard according to the Subdivision, 
Development and Servicing Bylaw No. 7900. The current subdivision layout includes a pedestrian 
connection to Torrs Road.  As a subdivision is not currently being applied for and may change, a 
blanket statutory right-of-way is being requested as a condition of rezoning, with trail 
connections to be determined during the Preliminary Layout Review of subdivision.  

4.11 Geotechnical 

Since the mid-1990s, the property has been subject to infilling and watercourse disruption and 
relocation. In 1998, a Section 219 Restrictive Covenant was placed on the property requiring 
geotechnical, hydrogeological and drainage investigation and plans prior to development. The 
covenant outlines investigation and plans required to address these concerns prior to 
development. In addition, there is a City of Kelowna Settlement and Release Agreement (2010) to 
address the geotechnical and environmental considerations.  Details of these documents are 
included below. 

Section 219 Restrictive Covenant #KM084923 

The owner entered into a Section 219 Restrictive Covenant with the City of Kelowna in 19986 that 
stipulated that no further development occur until certain conditions were provided, including: 

 Sanitary sewer and a community water provided with fire protection capability; 

 A complete geotechnical report, to address the fill material and remedial actions required 
to make the property suitable for development, as well as address the surface and 
groundwater characteristics and a drainage plan, including any items that should be 
included in a restrictive covenant  which would safeguard building sites and utility 
installations; 

                                                
6
 BC Agent – Kamloops Registry Service Ltd, Aug. 28, 1998. Land Title Act Form C No 1044 – KM084923 – Covenant. 

146



OCP14-0022 / Z14-0047 – Page 9 

 
 

 Site grading and drainage plan completed to the satisfaction of the Development 
Engineer; 

 A suitable landscape buffer complete with fencing is established along the border of the 
ALR and non-ALR lands to the southeast and to the north and to the satisfaction of the 
Approving Officer; 

 A prepared geotechnical report prepared by Golder & Associates7; and 

 A complete inventory of springs, drainage channels and water licenses be identified, 
complete with a hydrogeotechnical study proposing how water will be handled through 
culverts and drainage channels. 

 
City of Kelowna Settlement and Release Agreement - 2010 

In 2010, a Settlement and Release Agreement (attached) was signed by the owner and the City of 
Kelowna, stipulating that the owner undertake the following: 

 Ensure that there is no net loss of riparian habitat and function for the Lands; 

 To remove all of the drain piping located on the Lands as identified on the photograph of 
the Lands attached hereto as Schedule “A”; 

 Prepare a mitigation/restoration plan (signed off by an QEP/RPBio) for the site; 

 Ensure that all future works on the site will adhere to applicable provincial acts, including 
but not limited to: the BC Water Act and the BC Fish Protection Act; and 

 Ensure that all future works on the site will adhere to applicable City of Kelowna policies, 
plans and policies including but not limited: Kelowna 2020 Official Community Plan 
(7600), Zoning Bylaw (8000) and Subdivision and Servicing Bylaw (7900). 

As part of the grading and site modification, fill was placed over peat in different locations of the 
property. A geotechnical report in 1998 concluded that buildings constructed over the existing 
conditions would result in unacceptable total and differential settlements8. The report provided 
a number of potential treatments for the property prior to development, including but not 
limited to: 

 Complete subexcavation of the fills, surficial topsoil layer and  peat deposits and 
replacement with granular fills; 

 Pile supports; 

 Subexcavation of fill layer, combined with preload fill to compact peat deposits; 

 Complete subexcavation of fills, topsoil and peats under proposed roads and replacement 
with granular fill and/or preloaded;  

 Dewatering during excavation due to high groundwater table; and 

 The provision of adequate subsurface and surface drainage measures. 
 

4.12 Surface Water 

Aplin and Martin Consultants Ltd. have provided plans accommodating overland creek flows at 
the west and northeast portions of the property (see attached plans). The plans include a 15 m 
creek and RMA along the west property line, and a 20 m wide channel and RMA / farm protection 
buffer along the northeast property line.  The West Creek cross section indicates that the 

                                                
7
 Golder & Associates, 1996. Preliminary Geotechnical Investigation Proposed Subdivision, Lot 2, Plan 35773, Sec. 31, TP.29, ODYD 

Dehart Road, Kelowna, British Columbia 
8
 Golder & Associates, 1996. Preliminary Geotechnical Investigation Proposed Subdivision, Lot 2, Plan 35773, Sec. 31, TP.29, ODYD 

Dehart Road, Kelowna, British Columbia 

147



OCP14-0022 / Z14-0047 – Page 10 

 
 

channel will be lined with riprap, and includes culverts under proposed roadways.  The Creek 
Restoration Plan on the northeast property line will have side slopes of 6:1, transitioning into 3:1 
slopes to meet existing grade, and will not have riprap. 

4.13 Groundwater 

The Section 219 Restrictive Covenant #KM084923 stipulates that a geotechnical report that 
addresses surface and groundwater characteristics must be and outlines recommendations for an 
overall drainage plan that safeguards building sites and utility installations must be prepared. 
The Dehart Road Environmental Assessment indicates that 6 springs are known in close proximity 
to the subject property9. 

A Creek Restoration Plan for the northeast drainage channel and a plan for the West Creek 
Upgrade have been prepared by Aplin & Martin Consultants Ltd. and are attached. 

The property is within a Natural Environment Development Permit Area, and the applicant has 
submitted a Natural Environment Development Permit application for this property with the City.  
The approximate area of high groundwater is shown in Map 5, below. 

4.14 Environmental 

According to the Dehart Road Environmental Assessment, a number of rare and endangered 
ecosystems occur on the site.  One of these, the Fd- Water Birch – Douglas Maple ecosystem 
occurs along the northeast property line, where the creek / riparian reserve is proposed. Another 
ecosystem, the ActFd – Common Snowberry – Red-osier Dogwood Riparian, is present along the 
west property line along the open drainage in this location. While the ecosystem is not ranked by 
the Conservation Data Centre of BC, it is associated with riparian and wetland habitat 
characteristics and should be protected, according to the assessment. Within the ditches, there 
are several small isolated occurrences of cattail marsh.  These are ranked as ‘blue-listed’ or 
vulnerable, by the Conservation Data Centre of BC.  Avoidance of these areas is recommended in 
the assessment10.  The rest of the ecosystems found on site are anthropogenic, or highly 
modified, according to the report. 

The assessment noted evidence of deer and coyote, and likely provide habitat for mice, voles and 
shrews, although these species were not specifically inventoried.  Bighorn sheep were noted on 
the property during one site visit. 

The Dehart Road Environmental Assessment found no rare plants on the property. However the 
timing and sampling intensity may indicate non-detection rather than absence11.  
 
 
 
Map 5: Natural Environment Development Permit Areas 

                                                
9
 Makonis, 2013.  Dehart Road Environmental Assessment – Submitted to New Town Planning Services Inc. 

10
 Makonis, 2013.  Dehart Road Environmental Assessment – Submitted to New Town Planning Services Inc. 

11
 Makonis, 2013.  Dehart Road Environmental Assessment – Submitted to New Town Planning Services Inc. 

148



OCP14-0022 / Z14-0047 – Page 11 

 
 

 
 
 
Map 6: Neighbourhood Wetlands, Creeks and Easements 

 
 

5.0 Current Development Policies 

Subject Property 

High Groundwater Area 
 

Subject Property 

Wetlands 

Stream (Typical) 

High Groundwater 
Stream 

Wetlands 

149



OCP14-0022 / Z14-0047 – Page 12 

 
 

5.1 Kelowna Official Community Plan (OCP) 

Focus development to designated growth areas12. 

Permanent Growth Boundary. Establish a Permanent Growth Boundary as identified in the OCP. 
Support development of property outside the Permanent Growth Boundary for more intensive 
uses only to the extent permitted as per the OCP Future Land Use designations in place as of 
initial adoption of OCP Bylaw 10500, except as per Council’s specific amendment of this policy.  

Compact Urban Form. Develop a compact urban form that maximizes the use of existing 
infrastructure and contributes to energy efficient settlement patterns. This will be done by 
increasing densities (approximately 75 - 100 people and/or jobs per ha located within a 400 
metre walking distance of transit stops is required to support the level of transit service) through 
development, conversion, and re-development within Urban Centres in particular and existing 
areas as per the provisions of the Generalized Future Land Use. 

Farm Protection DP Guidelines13 

Objectives 

 Protect farm land and farm operations; 

 Minimize the impact of urban encroachment and land use conflicts on agricultural land; 

 Minimize conflicts created by activities designated as farm use by ALC regulation and non-

farm uses within agricultural areas. 

Guidelines 

 On properties located adjacent to agricultural lands, design buildings to reduce impact 
from activities associated with farm operations.  Design considerations include, but are 
not limited to maximizing the setback between agricultural land and buildings and 
structures, and reducing the number of doors, windows, and outdoor patios facing 
agricultural land. 

 On agricultural and non-agricultural lands, establish and maintain a landscape buffer 
along the agricultural and/or property boundary, except where development is for a 
permitted farm use that will not encourage public attendance and does not concern 
additional residences (including secondary suites), in accordance with guidelines provided 
by Ministry of Agriculture “Guide to Edge Planning” and the ALC report “Landscape Buffer 
Specifications” or its replacement. 

 Design any subdivision or urban development of land to reduce densities and the intensity 
of uses gradually towards the boundary of agricultural lands. 
 

Ensure environmentally sustainable development14. 
 
Environmentally Sensitive Area Linkages. Ensure that development activity does not 
compromise the ecological function of environmentally sensitive areas and maintains the 
integrity of plant and wildlife corridors. 
 
Protection Measures. Protect and preserve environmentally sensitive areas (ESAs) using one or 
more of the following measures, depending on which measures are appropriate to a given 
situation: Dedication; Return to Crown Land or covenant for conservation purposes with the City 

                                                
12 City of Kelowna 2030 Official Community Plan (2011) – Farm Protection Development Permit Chapter; p. 15.2 – 15.4.  
13 City of Kelowna 2030 Official Community Plan (2011) – Farm Protection Development Permit Chapter; p. 15.2 – 15.4.  
14

 City of Kelowna 2030 Official Community Plan (2011) – Development Process Chapter 5; p. 5.17 

150



OCP14-0022 / Z14-0047 – Page 13 

 
 

or other government body; and Ensure setbacks on adjacent developments on adjacent 
developments are adequate to maintain the integrity of the ESA. 

5.2 City of Kelowna Agriculture Plan 

New Growth Areas15. Discourage the establishment of new growth areas within or beyond 
agricultural areas that create additional traffic pressure on the local rural road network. 

Farmland Preservation16. Direct urban land uses to areas within the permanent growth 
boundary, in order to reduce development and speculative pressure. This is to encourage the 
preservation of agricultural lands and discourage further extension of existing urban areas into 
agricultural lands. 

Urban Buffers. Require new development, adjacent to agricultural areas, to establish setbacks, 
fencing and landscape buffers on the urban side of the defined urban – rural/agricultural 
boundary. 

6.0 Technical Comments 

6.1 Building & Permitting Services 

A geotechnical report will be required to define building requirements / limitations. 

6.2 Development Engineering Services 

A full list of Development Engineering Services requirements is included in the revised memo, 
attached.  A summary includes: 

 Prior to final adoption of the zoning bylaw, a pre-design report must identify all the 
offsite servicing needs in accordance with the Subdivision, Development and Servicing 
Bylaw No. 7900. 

 The high water table may impact site and building design, and should be determined by 
an engineer and detailed on a Lot Grading Plan. 

 A report by a Geotechnical Engineer in the field of hydro-geotechnical engineering to 
identify ground water characteristics and limitations, as well as soil conditions and 
potential requirements or restrictions regarding slope stability, soil suitability and 
drainage requirements. 

 Provide an adequate domestic and fire water system with adequate water pressure, in 
accordance with Bylaw No. 7900. 

 Provide an adequately sized sanitary sewer system complete with individual lot 
connections. 

 Provide an adequately sized drainage system and a detailed Lot Grading Plan, complete 
with dedications, rights of way, setbacks and non-disturbance areas, a Stormwater 
Management Plan, and an Erosion and Sediment Control Plan. 

 Upgrades to Dehart Road to an urban standard, including all fronting improvements. 

 Construction of a roundabout at the Dehart Road / Bartholomew Court intersection. 

 Construction of a concrete sidewalk from Gordon Drive to the development frontage. The 
City of Kelowna will cost share this work to a maximum of $25,000. 

                                                
15 City of Kelowna Agriculture Plan (1998); p. 99. 
16 City of Kelowna Agriculture Plan (1998); p. 131 & 132. 

151



OCP14-0022 / Z14-0047 – Page 14 

 
 

 Driveway access is not permitted onto Dehart Road.  

 Provide underground service connections and street lights. 

 Design and construction must be prepared and inspected by a Consulting Civil Engineer in 
accordance with Bylaw No. 7900. 

 Provide a Servicing Agreement in accordance with Bylaw No. 7900, including the 
preparation of adequate drawings and estimates prior to the preparation of the Servicing 
Agreement. 

 Provide all necessary Statutory Rights-of-Way for any utility corridors required, including 
those on proposed or existing City Lands. 

6.3 Bylaw Services 

The property was subject to nine bylaw complaints between 2008 and 2011.  The complaints 
varied, but included noise, unsightly premises, nuisance trees and shrubs and altering the land 
without a development permit.  All bylaw incidents were concluded.  

6.4 Parks & Building Planning Branch 

The Parks & Building Planning Branch have concerns with the ground and surface water 
conditions of the site, and potential impacts to Thomson Marsh and Mission Recreation Park.  
They recommend that any creek restoration be done by the developer and that a three year 
maintenance requirement by the developer. 
 
Infrastructure Planning, in consultation with Parks Services, have determined that there is no 
need for park dedication within this subdivision, based on the Linear Park Master Plan, the OCP, 
and that the number of units is not high enough to justify the provision of a park at this time.   
 
However, Parks Services has identified a need for a pedestrian walkway through the 
development, and across Dehart Road from Bartholomew Court.  This would provide access for 
high school students going to Okanagan Mission High School, and a pedestrian access to Dehart 
Road at the mid-point of the property.  These should be constructed to the Bylaw No. 7900 
standard. In addition, a pedestrian path access location to the north should be kept available to 
the north of the property, should a pathway alignment become available in the future. 
 
Parks Services recommends that any environmental areas are protected with a No Build / No 
Disturb Covenant on private lands. 

6.5 Policy & Planning Department 

This application is to amend the OCP designation for the northern portion of the subject property 
from  MRL to S2RES and to rezone the southern portion of the property to RU1 – Large Lot 
Housing, and the northern half to RU2 – Medium Lot Housing. Furthermore, the applicant says 
there will be protection of a 15m riparian zone along the westerly boundary and a 20m riparian 
protection zone along the north easterly boundary, and a 15 buffer from agricultural lands. 
 
RU1 and RU2 zonings are permitted within the S2RES designation. Although the northern portion 
of the lot is designated for multi-unit development, removal of this density from the site is not a 
significant concern, as the overall objective of the OCP is to concentrate multi-unit development 
in locations where services and amenities are already in place. Subject to both ALR and 

152



OCP14-0022 / Z14-0047 – Page 15 

 
 

environmental protection measures, including appropriate buffers in accordance with standards 
outlined in the OCP, Policy & Planning staff support this application.  

6.6 Subdivision Approving Officer 

The Subdivision Approving Officer notes that fill has been brought to the site for years without 
geotechnical investigation, and that Development Cost Charges (DCCs) will be payable at final 
subdivision stage. 

6.7 Fire Department 

Fire Department access, fire flows, and hydrants must be in accordance with the BC Building 
Code and the City of Kelowna Subdivision Bylaw #7900.  This bylaw requires a minimum of 60 
ltr/sec fire flows.  Additional comments will be required at the time of the building permit 
application. 

6.8 Fortis BC (Electric) 

The subject property is currently serviced by a primary electrical distribution extension from 
Dehart Road. This line crosses both a neighbour’s property and a waterway without a statutory 
right of way or permitting.  Until such a time as this line is protected by land rights, any servicing 
to the proposed subdivision will require a new extension from the primary distribution facilities 
along Dehart Rd.   

The applicant is responsible for costs associated with servicing the proposed lots as well as the 
provision of appropriate land rights where required. It should be noted that additional land rights 
issues may arise from the design process but can be dealt with at that time, prior to 
construction. 

6.9 FortisBC (Gas) 

Fortis BC Gas has a pipeline running at a diagonal through the northern portion of the property. 
They have provided these comments, as well as general development comments. 

 Fortis pipeline may require an engineering assessment and possible upgrade to current 
standards at the expense of the owner. 

 The existing soil conditions, final site grades and building elevations, as well as 
preloading, must be considered as it relates to the existing pipeline and Right of Way 
(ROW). 

 Fortis BC encourages the use of its ROW for linear parks.  Fortis BC requests that the 
proposed property lines align with, and do not cross, the Fortis BC ROW boundaries. 

 

7.0 Application Chronology  

Revised Application Received: July 2014 
Revised Traffic Impact Analysis: August 28, 2014 
Revised Plans Received  September 16 & September 23, 2014 
Complete Application Received: September 23, 2014 
Public Information Session  September 29, 2014 

Report prepared by: 

153



OCP14-0022 / Z14-0047 – Page 16 

 
 

     
Melanie Steppuhn, Land Use Planner  
 
Reviewed by:   
 

 Todd Cashin, Subdivision, Agriculture & Environment Services Manager 
 
Approved for Inclusion: 
 

 Shelley Gambacort, Director of Subdivision, Agriculture & Environment 
 
 

 

Attachments: 

Subject Property Map  
Site Photos  
OCP Amendment Plan – Map ‘A’ 
Rezoning Plan – Map ‘B’ 
DeHart Environmental/ALR Plan – Buffer Areas 
Aplin & Martin Consultants Ltd. – Civil Details and West Creek Upgrade  
Development Engineering Manager – revised August 25, 2014 
EYH Consultants – TIA Memo – August 28, 2014  
South East Kelowna Irrigation District  
Settlement and Release Agreement – 2010 
Section 219 Restrictive Covenant #KM084923 
Council Report – April 28, 2014 (Z13-0016/OCP13-0011) 
 

154



155



156



157



158



159



NEW TOWN PLANNING SERVICES LTD.

PROJECT:

DEVELOPER:

APLIN & MARTIN PROJECT No.

SITE LOCATION PLAN

SITE

12-651

A&M DRAWING NO.: 12-651-01

ENGINEERING SERVICES PROVIDED BY

PROJECT MANAGEMENT          ENGINEERING         PLANNING         SURVEYING

      454 Leon Avenue,  Kelowna, B.C. Canada V1Y 6J3
Tel: (250) 448-0157, Fax: (778) 436-2312,  E-mail: general@aplinmartin.com

164 ST. PAUL STREET
KELOWNA, BC
V1W 2C7

DRAWING INDEX

SHEET NUMBER SHEET TITLE

GENERAL NOTES AND LEGEND

BARTHOLOMEW CT

KELOWNA, BC

TURNER RD

DEHART RD

B
.C

. G
AS

 R
O

W

PLAN KAP62654
LOT 1

SWAMP RD

RESIDENTIAL SUBDIVISION
984 DEHART ROAD
LOT 1, PLAN KAP62654, SEC 31, TP 29, O.D.Y.D.

COVER PAGE

LOT SUBDIVISION PLAN

ROADWORKS - TURNER ROAD (EXTENSION)

ROADWORKS - ROAD A - STA. 0+000 - 0+200

01

02

03

04

05

TORRS RD DEHART RD

YOUNG RD

ROADWORKS - ROAD B

CREEK RESTORATION PLAN

STANDARD DETAILS

07

07

09

ROADWORKS - ROAD A - STA. 0+200 - 0+33006

160



GENERAL NOTES AND LEGEND

202 9.

RESIDENTIAL SUBDIVISION
984 DEHART RD., KELOWNA BC

PH. (250) 860-8185

NEW TOWN PLANNING SERVICES LTD.
1450 PANDOSY ST., KELOWNA BC, V1Y 1P3

12-651 -

.

CLIENT:

PROJECT:

PROJECT MANAGEMENT      ENGINEERING      PLANNING      SURVEYING

454 Leon Avenue, Kelowna, B.C. Canada   V1Y 6J3
Tel: (250) 448-0157, Fax: (250) 436-2312, E-mail: general@aplinmartin.com OF ####

MARCH 2013

LOT 2, PLAN KAP62654, SEC. 31, TP. 29, O.D.Y.D. #### ####

####
12-651

2

161



STANDARD DETAILS

909 9.

RESIDENTIAL SUBDIVISION
984 DEHART RD., KELOWNA BC

PH. (250) 860-8185

NEW TOWN PLANNING SERVICES LTD.
1450 PANDOSY ST., KELOWNA BC, V1Y 1P3

12-651 -

.

CLIENT:

PROJECT:

PROJECT MANAGEMENT      ENGINEERING      PLANNING      SURVEYING

454 Leon Avenue, Kelowna, B.C. Canada   V1Y 6J3
Tel: (250) 448-0157, Fax: (250) 436-2312, E-mail: general@aplinmartin.com OF ####

MARCH 2013

LOT 2, PLAN KAP62654, SEC. 31, TP. 29, O.D.Y.D. #### ####

####
12-651

2

162



.

RESIDENTIAL SUBDIVISION
984 DEHART RD., KELOWNA BC

PH. (250) 860-8185

NEW TOWN PLANNING SERVICES LTD.
1450 PANDOSY ST., KELOWNA BC, V1Y 1P3

12-651 -

.

CLIENT:

PROJECT:

PROJECT MANAGEMENT      ENGINEERING      PLANNING      SURVEYING

454 Leon Avenue, Kelowna, B.C. Canada   V1Y 6J3
Tel: (250) 448-0157, Fax: (250) 436-2312, E-mail: general@aplinmartin.com OF ####

DECEMBER 2012

LOT 2, PLAN KAP62654, SEC. 31, TP. 29, O.D.Y.D. #### ####

####
12-651

0

KEY PLAN - WEST CREEK UPGRADE

01 01 02

163



.

RESIDENTIAL SUBDIVISION
984 DEHART RD., KELOWNA BC

PH. (250) 860-8185

NEW TOWN PLANNING SERVICES LTD.
1450 PANDOSY ST., KELOWNA BC, V1Y 1P3

12-651 -

.

CLIENT:

PROJECT:

PROJECT MANAGEMENT      ENGINEERING      PLANNING      SURVEYING

454 Leon Avenue, Kelowna, B.C. Canada   V1Y 6J3
Tel: (250) 448-0157, Fax: (250) 436-2312, E-mail: general@aplinmartin.com OF ####

DECEMBER 2012

LOT 2, PLAN KAP62654, SEC. 31, TP. 29, O.D.Y.D. #### ####

####
12-651

0

PROFILE AND SECTION

02 02 02

WEST CREEK - PROFILE

WEST CREEK - CROSS SECTION
N.T.S.

164



165



166



167



168



169



170



171



172



173



174



175



176



177



178



179



180



181



182



183



184



185



186



187



188



189



190



191



192



193



194



195



196



197



198



199



200



201



202



203



REPORT TO COUNCIL 
 
 
 

Date: 4/28/2014 

RIM No. 1210-21 

To: City Manager 

From: Subdivision, Agriculture & Environment Services (MS) 

Application: 
OCP13-0011 
Z13-0016 

Owners:   
Sherwood Mission Developments  
Dr. A. Rezansoff 

Address: 984 Dehart Road Applicant: New Town Planning Services Inc. 

Subject: Official Community Plan (OCP) Amendment and Rezoning Application 

Existing OCP Designation: 
Single / Two Unit Residential (S2RES) / Multi-Unit Residential  
Low Density (MRL) 
 

Proposed OCP Designation: 
Single / Two Unit Residential (S2RES) / Multi-Unit Residential 
Low Density (MRL) 

Existing Zone: A1 – Agriculture 1 

Proposed Zone: RU1 – Large Lot Housing 

 

1.0 Recommendation 

THAT Official Community Plan Bylaw Amendment No. OCP13-0011 to amend Map 4.1 of the 
Kelowna 2030 – Official Community Plan Bylaw No. 10500, by changing  a portion of the Future 
Land Use designation of Lot 1, Section 31, TWP 29, ODYD Plan KAP62654, located at 984 Dehart 
Road, Kelowna, BC, from the Multi-Unit Residential Low Density (MRL) designation to the 
Single/Two Unit Residential (S2RES) designation, and a portion of Single/Two Unit Residential 
(S2RES) be changed to Multi-Unit Residential Low Density (MRL), in accordance with ‘Map A’, be 
considered by Council; 
 
AND THAT Rezoning Application No. Z13-0016 to amend the City of Kelowna Zoning Bylaw No. 
8000 by changing the zoning classification of Lot 1, Section 31, TWP 29, ODYD Plan KAP62654, 
located at 984 Dehart Road, Kelowna, BC, from the A1 – Agriculture 1 zone to the RU1 – Large Lot 
Housing zone, in accordance with ‘Map B’ be considered by Council; 
 
AND THAT the Official Community Plan Amendment Bylaw and Zone Amending Bylaw be 
forwarded to a Public Hearing for further consideration; 
 
AND THAT final adoption of the zone amending bylaw be considered subsequent to the 
requirements of Development Engineering Branch and Parks Services, being completed to their 

204



 
OCP13-0011 / Z13-0016 – Page 2 

 
 

satisfaction, as well as a Farm Protection Development Permit, and a Natural Environment 
Development Permit.  

2.0 Purpose  

The applicant is proposing to rezone a portion of the land from the A1 - Agriculture 1 zone to the 
RU1 - Large Lot Housing zone to facilitate a future 55 lot residential subdivision. The proposal 
requires an OCP amendment to extend the Single/Two Unit Residential (S2RES) future land use 
designation north into the area designated for Multi-Unit Residential, Low Density (MRL), in 
exchange for area that was previously Single/Two Unit Residential for Multi-Unit Residential, Low 
Density (MRL). 

3.0 Subdivision, Agriculture & Environment Services  

The property at 984 Dehart was removed from the Agricultural Land Reserve (ALR) in 1989 and 
since the mid-1990s has been subject to significant infilling and watercourse disruption and 
relocation. In 1998, a Section 219 Restrictive Covenant was placed on the property requiring 
geotechnical, hydrogeological and drainage investigation and plans prior to development. Fill has 
been placed over peat, making the current soil conditions unsuitable and/or uncertain for road 
and foundation construction. Geotechnical concerns involve the presence of undetermined fill 
over topsoil and peat in some locations, and the uncertainty of the structure of the fill.  
Hydrogeological concerns involve the presence and reconfiguration of springs and watercourses 
on the property.  The covenant outlines investigation and plans required to address these 
concerns prior to development. 

Between 2008 and 2012, nine bylaw investigations occurred on the property, including stop work 
orders for unauthorized earth moving, and unsightly premises.  A Settlement and Release 
Agreement was signed by the owner and the City of Kelowna (the City) in 2010, whereby the City 
of Kelowna agreed not to enforce the bylaw dispute with the understanding that the owner would 
undertake actions, including riparian and watercourse protection and restoration, and adherence 
to City bylaws. 

The current application was initiated in the spring of 2013. This proposal was for rezoning to RU-
1 Large Lot Residential included a road access that came through Young and Turner Roads.  A 
Public Information Meeting was held on April18, 2013, with most of the residents opposed to this 
access.  Based on this public feedback, an alternate plan was developed, with the primary access 
at Dehart Road.  This is the road layout for the current configuration.  A Traffic Impact Analysis 
was prepared for this revised road network, which was received by the City in February, 2014.   

Staff supports the application subject to the following conditions being fulfilled prior to 4th 
Reading, including requirements of the: 

 Development Engineering Branch (see attached memo),  

 Parks Services, including a blanket Statutory Right of Way over the property, to facilitate 
a trail network to be established at the time of subdivision; 

 Subdivision, Agriculture & Environment Services, including the requirements of the 
Covenant #KM084923 (see summary below and attached covenant); 

 Farm Protection Development Permit; 

205



 
OCP13-0011 / Z13-0016 – Page 3 

 
 

 Natural Environment Development Permit, including a mitigation/restoration plan (signed 
off by an QEP/RPBio) for the site, as required by the Settlement and Release Agreement1 
(attached); and a 

 The registration of a Build/No Disturb Covenant of 20 m along the northeast property line 
and a 15 m No Build / No Disturb Covenant along the west property line. 

4.0 Proposal 

4.1 Project Description 

The proposal is to amend the OCP and rezone the property to accommodate a future 55 unit RU1 
– Large Lot Residential subdivision on the southern and central portion of 984 Dehart Road. The 
Official Community Plan (OCP) Amendment is required to facilitate an extension of the Single / 
Two Unit Residential future land use designation slightly to the north, replacing 9,610 m2  of 
Multi-Unit Residential, Low Density (MRL), and changing 6,550 m2 of Single / Two Unit Residential 
to Multi-Unit Residential, Low Density (MRL). This represents a net increase of 3,060 m2 of Single 
/ Two Unit Residential area than is currently designated in the OCP. 

The proposal includes two watercourses and associated riparian management areas (RMA) in the 
land use plan, including a 20 m wide RMA along the northeast boundary and a 15 m RMA along the 
west boundary.  The northeast RMA will also function as a farm protection buffer area. Adjacent 
water licenses with respect to flow and location must be accommodated within the plan.  A 
memorandum of understanding with their neighbour regarding Ahern and Cowan Spring has been 
agreed upon. 

4.2 Background  

As discussed, much of the site has been modified over the last 20 years through grading and 
infilling.  The filling and watercourse modifications, as well as bylaw infractions of moving soil 
and watercourses without permits, have resulted in a Section 219 Restrictive Covenant being 
registered on the title of the property and the City of Kelowna Settlement and Release 
Agreement – 2010.  Details of these are included below. 

Section 219 Restrictive Covenant #KM084923 

The owner entered into a Section 219 Restrictive Covenant with the City of Kelowna in 19982 that 
stipulated that no further development occur until certain conditions were provided, including: 

 Sanitary sewer and a community water provided with fire protection capability; 

 A complete geotechnical report, to address the fill material and remedial actions required 
to make the property suitable for development, as well as address the surface and 
groundwater characteristics and a drainage plan, including any items that should be 
included in a restrictive covenant  which would safeguard building sites and utility 
installations; 

 Site grading and drainage plan completed to the satisfaction of the Development 
Engineer; 

 A suitable landscape buffer complete with fencing is established along the border of the 
ALR and non-ALR lands to the southeast and to the north and to the satisfaction of the 
Approving Officer; 

                                                      
1 Rezansoff, A.A. & the City of Kelowna, 2010. Settlement and Release Agreement. 
2 BC Agent – Kamloops Registry Service Ltd, Aug. 28, 1998. Land Title Act Form C No 1044 – KM084923 – Covenant. 

206



 
OCP13-0011 / Z13-0016 – Page 4 

 
 

 A prepared geotechnical report prepared by Golder & Associates3; and 

 A complete inventory of springs, drainage channels and water licenses be identified, 
complete with a hydrogeotechnical study proposing how water will be handled through 
culverts and drainage channels. 

 
City of Kelowna Settlement and Release Agreement - 2010 

In 2010, a Settlement and Release Agreement (attached) was signed by the owner and the City of 
Kelowna, stipulating that the owner undertake the following: 

 Ensure that there is no net loss of riparian habitat and function for the Lands; 

 To remove all of the drain piping located on the Lands as identified on the photograph of 
the Lands attached hereto as Schedule “A”; 

 Prepare a mitigation/restoration plan (signed off by an QEP/RPBio) for the site; 

 Ensure that all future works on the site will adhere to applicable provincial acts, including 
but not limited to: the BC Water Act and the BC Fish Protection Act; and 

 Ensure that all future works on the site will adhere to applicable City of Kelowna policies, 
plans and policies including but not limited: Kelowna 2020 Official Community Plan 
(7600), Zoning Bylaw (8000) and Subdivision and Servicing Bylaw (7900). 

4.3 Site Context 

The 9.6 ha subject property is located within the Okanagan Mission Sector of the City (Map 1, 
below) and is within the Permanent Growth Boundary. The property is currently zoned A1 but is 
not in the Agricultural Land Reserve.  Properties within the Agricultural Land Reserve lie to the 
north and east (Map 2, below).  

The property has a number of water licenses in favour of downstream neighbours. The historical 
infilling resulted in changes in water flow. This resulted in issues with respect to water licenses.  
As part of this application package, a Memorandum of Understanding has been prepared to 
address water license and water flow issues. The neighbours have agreed to cooperate in the 
construction of a proposed conveyance route in order to ensure the water license rights are 
sustained in the future.   

The natural gas line Right of Way (ROW) runs diagonally through the site from the west of the site 
to the north. 

A number of watercourses are present on the site.  The project includes riparian areas and 
details on cross sections of each of these watercourses in the design4 and riparian planting is 
proposed as part of the environmental report, but a riparian restoration plan has not yet been 
provided5. 

4.4 Neighbourhood Context 

A single / two unit residential subdivision with RU1 zoning lies to the west of the property, and 
agricultural properties lie to the north and east.  Dehart Road borders the property to the south, 
and single unit and rural residential properties are south of Dehart Road. 

Specifically, adjacent land uses are as follows: 

                                                      
3 Golder & Associates, 1996. Preliminary Geotechnical Investigation Proposed Subdivision, Lot 2, Plan 35773, Sec. 31, TP.29, ODYD Dehart Road, 

Kelowna, British Columbia 
4 Aplin & Martin, 2013. Civil Engineering Servicing Brief – Proposed Dehart Road Subdivision – 984 Dehart Rd, Kelowna, BC 
5 Makonis, 2013.  Dehart Road Environmental Assessment – Submitted to New Town Planning Services Inc. 

207



 
OCP13-0011 / Z13-0016 – Page 5 

 
 

Orientation Zoning ALR Land Use 

North A1 – Agriculture 1 Yes Agriculture 

East A1 – Agriculture 1 Yes Agriculture 

South 
RU1 – Large Lot Housing 
RR2 – Rural Residential 2 

No Single Family Residential 
Rural Residential 

West RU1 – Large Lot Housing No Single Family Residential 

 

The subject property is located within a Development Permit Area for Farm Protection given its 
proximity to ALR land. It is within a Natural Development Permit Area for high groundwater and 
surface water conditions. 

Map 1: Subject Property 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Subject Property 

Swamp Road 

Dehart Road 

Swamp Road 

208



 
OCP13-0011 / Z13-0016 – Page 6 

 
 

Map 2: Agricultural Land Reserve 

 
 
 
Map 3: Permanent Growth Boundary 

 
 
 

Subject Property 

ALR 

Subject Property 

Permanent Growth 

Boundary 

209



 
OCP13-0011 / Z13-0016 – Page 7 

 
 

Map 4: Current Future Land Use 

 

4.5 Traffic Impact Analysis 

Two traffic impact analysis (TIA) reports have been completed for the project.  The first Traffic 
Analysis Report6 was completed with the main access via Young and Turner Roads.  Torrs Road 
was available for emergency vehicles only, and there was no vehicular access from Dehart Road. 
This road network option was presented at a public information session held by the applicant in 
April 18, 2013.  It was met with significant concern from the residents of the Young / Turner 
Road neighbourhood.  In response, another road network configuration was developed using an 
intersection at Dehart Road and Bartholomew Court as the primary access.  A second TIA was 
completed in based on this new configuration.   

A second TIA, the Traffic Impact Assessment for the Proposed 984 Dehart Road Development7, 
and was completed in January, 2014.  This TIA is based on the current road and lot configuration, 
with the primary vehicular access on Dehart Road, and a secondary access from Turner Road. 

The TIA assessed two phases of the project.  The first phase is based on 55 single family units, 
based on the rezoning under application currently, and is estimated for completion in 2018.  The 
second phase includes a townhouse development of approximately 200 units at the north portion 
of the property.  This is not currently under application, but the use is accommodated in the 
current OCP and has been estimated for completion in 2030.   

The current road layout includes the primary access through an intersection on Dehart Road and 
Bartholomew Court, to the south of the project.  The results of the TIA indicate that the 55 unit 

                                                      
6 CTQ, March 2013. Traffic Analysis Report for 984 Dehart Road. 
7 EYH Consultants Ltd., Jan. 31, 2014.  Traffic Impact Assessment for the Proposed 984 Dehart Road Development, Kelowna, BC.  A report prepared 
for New Town Architecture and Urban Planning. 

Resource 

Protection Area 

Multi-Unit 
Residential Low 

Density 

Single/Two Unit 
Residential 

Subject Property 

210



 
OCP13-0011 / Z13-0016 – Page 8 

 
 

single family development could be accommodated with this intersection.  Road A on the site 
could accommodate three lanes with STOP control, two outbound and one inbound.  A westbound 
right turn lane into the development from Dehart could be installed and should be included in the 
detailed design stage for the subdivision.8 The TIA indicates that painted left turn lanes at Dehart 
Road for access to the site should also be provided. Along the Young / Turner Roads, the TIA 
estimates that the 55 unit subdivision will generate an additional 4 vehicles in the morning and 6 
in the afternoon peak hours. 

The TIA found that, at the time of the addition of the 200 unit townhouse development, a traffic 
signal would be required at Dehart Road.  These results are based on the assumption that the 
townhouse traffic will use the Road A / Dehart intersection for primary access.  Under this 
assumption, the results estimate an additional 8 trips through the Young / Turner Road route in 
peak morning hours, and 10 trips along this route at peak afternoon hours.   

The OCP indicates that a sidewalk is required along Dehart between the project and Gordon 
Drive.  The City of Kelowna is willing to take a limited responsibility for the costs, for 50% up to a 
maximum of $25,0009. Frontage upgrades along Dehart Road would be required in accordance 
with Bylaw # 7900.  The TIA indicates that pedestrian access could be provided along the utility 
easements. 

4.6 Utilities 

The sanitary sewer services are within the jurisdiction of the City of Kelowna. Currently water is 
provided by the South-East Kelowna Irrigation District (SEKID).  According to the consulting 
engineer report10, an agreement in principle has been reached between the City of Kelowna and 
SEKID to accommodate a boundary adjustment, such that the City of Kelowna will become the 
water purveyor for the subdivision prior to 4th reading of the rezoning application, subject to the 
owner covering the administration costs incurred by SEKID for the boundary adjustment (memo 
attached). 

4.7 Public Consultation 

A Public Information Session was held for the project on April 18, 2013. There were 51 attendees 
recorded.  An exit questionnaire was prepared with 32 responses received. The road and lot 
configuration presented included the primary access from Young / Turner Roads.  Of the 32 
responses, 27 strongly disagreed that the traffic could be accommodated on this route.  The 
results of the April 18, 2013 Public Information Session are attached. The road configuration was 
changed in response to these results, and that the main access is now from Dehart Road.    

4.8 Zoning Requirements 

The zoning requirements for RU1 developments are included in the table below. Note that the lot 
current lot illustrated in the application documents illustrates a proposed configuration, but 
because a subdivision is not currently being applied for, the exact alignment of lots may change. 
The road network will not change.  However, the current configuration demonstrates that 55 RU1 
                                                      
8 EYH Consultants Ltd., Jan. 31, 2014.  Traffic Impact Assessment for the Proposed 984 Dehart Road Development, Kelowna, BC.  A report prepared 
for New Town Architecture and Urban Planning. 
9 Muenz, S. January 21, 2014. Email to K. Funk, Dehart IIA & Sidewalk. 
10 Aplin & Martin, 2013. Civil Engineering Servicing Brief – Proposed Dehart Road Subdivision – 984 Dehart Rd, Kelowna, BC. 

211



 
OCP13-0011 / Z13-0016 – Page 9 

 
 

– Large Lot Housing is possible for the site. No variances are necessary with the current 
configuration. 

Zoning Analysis Table 

CRITERIA ZONE REQUIREMENTS PROPOSAL 

Existing Lot/Subdivision Regulations 
Lot Area 550 m2 Minimum 550 m2 

Lot Width 16.5 m Minimum 16.5 m 

Lot Depth 30 m Minimum 30 m 

No variances are being requested for this rezoning.  Staff notes that subdivision plan is not being 
applied for at this time. The lot current lot configuration has no variances required.  

4.9 Transit 

4.10 Currently there is a transit stop at the southeast corner of the subject property. This 
existing bus stop will require upgrading to current standard (UBS2), as per the Development 
Engineering Department requirements (see attached memo). 

4.11 Pedestrian Linkages 

The internal roads will be built to a local road standard according to the Subdivision, 
Development and Servicing Bylaw No. 7900. The current subdivision layout includes a pedestrian 
connection to Torrs Road. As a subdivision is not currently being applied for and may change, a 
blanket statutory right-of-way is being requested as a condition of rezoning, with trail 
connections to be determined during the Preliminary Layout Review of subdivision.  

4.12 Geotechnical 

As discussed, much of the site has been modified over the last 20 years through grading and 
infilling. The fill was placed over peat in different locations of the property. A geotechnical 
report in 1998 concluded that buildings constructed over the existing conditions would result in 
unacceptable total and differential settlements11. The report provided a number of potential 
treatments for the property prior to development, including but not limited to: 

 Complete subexcavation of the fills, surficial topsoil layer and  peat deposits and 
replacement with granular fills; 

 Pile supports; 

 Subexcavation of fill layer, combined with preload fill to compact peat deposits; 

 Complete subexcavation of fills, topsoil and peats under proposed roads and replacement 
with granular fill and/or preloaded;  

 Dewatering during excavation due to high groundwater table; and 

 The provision of adequate subsurface and surface drainage measures. 
 

4.13 Surface Water 
                                                      
11

 Golder & Associates, 1996. Preliminary Geotechnical Investigation Proposed Subdivision, Lot 2, Plan 35773, Sec. 31, TP.29, ODYD Dehart Road, 

Kelowna, British Columbia 

212



 
OCP13-0011 / Z13-0016 – Page 10 

 
 

Aplin and Martin Consultants Ltd. have provided plans accommodating overland creek flows at 
the west and northeast portions of the property (see attached plans). The plans include a 15 m 
creek and RMA along the west property line, and a 20 m wide channel and RMA / farm protection 
buffer along the northeast property line.  The West Creek cross section indicates that the 
channel will be lined with riprap, and includes culverts under proposed roadways.  The Creek 
Restoration Plan on the northeast property line will have side slopes of 6:1, transitioning into 3:1 
slopes to meet existing grade, and will not have riprap. 

4.14 Groundwater 

The Section 219 Restrictive Covenant #KM084923 stipulates that a geotechnical report that 
addresses surface and groundwater characteristics must be and outlines recommendations for an 
overall drainage plan that safeguards building sites and utility installations must be prepared. 
The Dehart Road Environmental Assessment indicates that 6 springs are known in close proximity 
to the subject property12. 

A Creek Restoration Plan for the northeast drainage channel and a plan for the West Creek 
Upgrade have been prepared by Aplin & Martin Consultants Ltd. and are attached. 

The property is within a Natural Environment Development Permit Area, and the applicant has a 
current Natural Environment Development Permit application for this property with the City.  
The approximate area of high groundwater is shown in Map 5, below. 

4.15 Environmental 

According to the Dehart Road Environmental Assessment, a number of rare and endangered 
ecosystems occur on the site.  One of these, the Fd- Water Birch – Douglas Maple ecosystem 
occurs along the northeast property line, where the creek / riparian reserve is proposed. Another 
ecosystem, the ActFd – Common Snowberry – Red-osier Dogwood Riparian, is present along the 
west property line along the open drainage in this location. While the ecosystem is not ranked by 
the Conservation Data Centre of BC, it is associated with riparian and wetland habitat 
characteristics and should be protected, according to the assessment. Within the ditches, there 
are several small isolated occurrences of cattail marsh.  These are ranked as ‘blue-listed’ or 
vulnerable, by the Conservation Data Centre of BC.  Avoidance of these areas is recommended in 
the assessment13.  The rest of the ecosystems found on site are anthropogenic, or highly 
modified, according to the report. 

The assessment noted evidence of deer and coyote, and likely provide habitat for mice, voles and 
shrews, although these species were not specifically inventoried.  Bighorn sheep were noted on 
the property during one site visit. 

The Dehart Road Environmental Assessment found no rare plants on the property. However the 
timing and sampling intensity may indicate non-detection rather than absence14.  
 
  

                                                      
12

 Makonis, 2013.  Dehart Road Environmental Assessment – Submitted to New Town Planning Services Inc. 
13

 Makonis, 2013.  Dehart Road Environmental Assessment – Submitted to New Town Planning Services Inc. 
14

 Makonis, 2013.  Dehart Road Environmental Assessment – Submitted to New Town Planning Services Inc. 

213



 
OCP13-0011 / Z13-0016 – Page 11 

 
 

Map 5: Natural Environment Development Permit Areas 

 
 
 
Map 6: Neighbourhood Wetlands, Creeks and Easements 

 
  

Subject Property 

High Groundwater Area 

 

Subject Property 

Wetlands 

Stream (Typical) 

High Groundwater 
Stream 

Wetlands 

214



 
OCP13-0011 / Z13-0016 – Page 12 

 
 

5.0 Current Development Policies 

5.1 Kelowna Official Community Plan (OCP) 

Focus development to designated growth areas15. 

Permanent Growth Boundary. Establish a Permanent Growth Boundary as identified in the OCP. 
Support development of property outside the Permanent Growth Boundary for more intensive 
uses only to the extent permitted as per the OCP Future Land Use designations in place as of 
initial adoption of OCP Bylaw 10500, except as per Council’s specific amendment of this policy.  

Compact Urban Form. Develop a compact urban form that maximizes the use of existing 
infrastructure and contributes to energy efficient settlement patterns. This will be done by 
increasing densities (approximately 75 - 100 people and/or jobs per ha located within a 400 
metre walking distance of transit stops is required to support the level of transit service) through 
development, conversion, and re-development within Urban Centres in particular and existing 
areas as per the provisions of the Generalized Future Land Use. 

Farm Protection DP Guidelines16 

Objectives 

 Protect farm land and farm operations; 

 Minimize the impact of urban encroachment and land use conflicts on agricultural land; 

 Minimize conflicts created by activities designated as farm use by ALC regulation and non-
farm uses within agricultural areas. 

Guidelines 

 On properties located adjacent to agricultural lands, design buildings to reduce impact 
from activities associated with farm operations.  Design considerations include, but are 
not limited to maximizing the setback between agricultural land and buildings and 
structures, and reducing the number of doors, windows, and outdoor patios facing 
agricultural land. 

 On agricultural and non-agricultural lands, establish and maintain a landscape buffer 
along the agricultural and/or property boundary, except where development is for a 
permitted farm use that will not encourage public attendance and does not concern 
additional residences (including secondary suites), in accordance with guidelines provided 
by Ministry of Agriculture “Guide to Edge Planning” and the ALC report “Landscape Buffer 
Specifications” or its replacement. 

 Design any subdivision or urban development of land to reduce densities and the intensity 
of uses gradually towards the boundary of agricultural lands. 
 

Ensure environmentally sustainable development17. 
 
Environmentally Sensitive Area Linkages. Ensure that development activity does not 
compromise the ecological function of environmentally sensitive areas and maintains the 
integrity of plant and wildlife corridors. 
 
                                                      
15 City of Kelowna 2030 Official Community Plan (2011) – Farm Protection Development Permit Chapter; p. 15.2 – 15.4.  
16 City of Kelowna 2030 Official Community Plan (2011) – Farm Protection Development Permit Chapter; p. 15.2 – 15.4.  
17 City of Kelowna 2030 Official Community Plan (2011) – Development Process Chapter 5; p. 5.17 

215



 
OCP13-0011 / Z13-0016 – Page 13 

 
 

Protection Measures. Protect and preserve environmentally sensitive areas (ESAs) using one or 
more of the following measures, depending on which measures are appropriate to a given 
situation: 

 Dedication; 

 Return to Crown Land or covenant for conservation purposes with the City or other 
government body;and 

 Ensure setbacks on adjacent developments on adjacent developments are adequate to 
maintain the integrity of the ESA. 

5.2 City of Kelowna Agriculture Plan 

New Growth Areas18. Discourage the establishment of new growth areas within or beyond 
agricultural areas that create additional traffic pressure on the local rural road network. 

Farmland Preservation19. Direct urban land uses to areas within the permanent growth 
boundary, in order to reduce development and speculative pressure. This is to encourage the 
preservation of agricultural lands and discourage further extension of existing urban areas into 
agricultural lands. 

Urban Buffers. Require new development, adjacent to agricultural areas, to establish setbacks, 
fencing and landscape buffers on the urban side of the defined urban – rural/agricultural 
boundary. 

6.0 Technical Comments 

6.1 Building & Permitting Department 

A Geotechnical report will be required to define building requirements / limitations. 

6.2 Development Engineering Department 

A full list of Development Engineering Services requirements is included in the attached memo.  
A summary includes: 

 Prior to final adoption of the zoning bylaw, a pre-design report must identify all the 
offsite servicing needs in accordance with the Subdivision, Development and Servicing 
Bylaw No. 7900. 

 The high water table may impact site and building design, and should be determined by 
an engineer and detailed on a Lot Grading Plan. 

 A report by a Geotechnical Engineer in the field of hydro-geotechnical engineering to 
identify ground water characteristics and limitations, as well as soil conditions and 
potential requirements or restrictions regarding slope stability, soil suitability and 
drainage requirements. 

 Provide an adequate domestic and fire water system with adequate water pressure, in 
accordance with Bylaw No. 7900. 

 Provide an adequately sized sanitary sewer system complete with individual lot 
connections. 

                                                      
18 City of Kelowna Agriculture Plan (1998); p. 99. 
19 City of Kelowna Agriculture Plan (1998); p. 131 & 132. 

216



 
OCP13-0011 / Z13-0016 – Page 14 

 
 

 Provide an adequately sized drainage system and a detailed Lot Grading Plan, complete 
with dedications, rights of way, setbacks and non-disturbance areas, a Stormwater 
Management Plan, and an Erosion and Sediment Control Plan. 

 Upgrades to Dehart Road to an urban standard, including all fronting improvements. 

 Provide an additional highway allowance widening on Dehart Road. 

 Recommendations from the Traffic Impact Analysis (TIA) on a roadway access onto Dehart 
will be requirements of zoning. 

 Provide underground service connections and street lights. 

 Design and construction must be prepared and inspected by a Consulting Civil Engineer in 
accordance with Bylaw No. 7900. 

 Provide a Servicing Agreement in accordance with Bylaw No. 7900, including the 
preparation of adequate drawings and estimates prior to the preparation of the Servicing 
Agreement. 

 Provide all necessary Statutory Rights-of-Way for any utility corridors required, including 
those on proposed or existing City Lands. 

6.3 Bylaw Services 

The property was subject to nine bylaw complaints between 2008 and 2011.  The complaints 
varied, but included noise, unsightly premises, nuisance trees and shrubs and altering the land 
without a development permit.  All bylaw incidents were concluded.  

6.4 Parks and Public Spaces Department 

The Parks and Public Spaces Department have concerns with the ground and surface water 
conditions of the site, and potential impacts to Thomson Marsh and Mission Recreation Park.  
They recommend that any creek restoration be done by the developer and that a three year 
maintenance requirement by the developer. 
 
Infrastructure Planning, in consultation with Parks Services, have determined that there is no 
need for park dedication within this subdivision, based on the Linear Park Master Plan, the OCP, 
and that the number of units is not high enough to justify the provision of a park at this time.   
 
However, Parks Services has identified a need for a pedestrian walkway through the 
development, and across Dehart Road from Bartholomew Court.  This would provide access for 
high school students going to Okanagan Mission High School, and a pedestrian access to Dehart 
Road at the mid-point of the property.  These should be constructed to the Bylaw No. 7900 
standard.  
 
Parks Services recommends that any environmental areas are protected with a No Build / No 
Disturb Covenant on private lands. 

6.5 Policy and Planning 

The RU1 zoning requested is permitted in the S2RES portion of the property, and therefore 
compliant with the OCP.  Although the portion designated for Multi-Unit Residential – Low Density 
(MRL) is not consistent with the OCP, it is consistent with the surrounding uses and is also 

217



 
OCP13-0011 / Z13-0016 – Page 15 

 
 

compliant with other policies within the OCP, including environmental policies of 
Environmentally Sensitive Linkages, Protection Measures, Voluntary Protection, and Habitat 
Protection. The proposal indicates there will be pedestrian connections for easier access to the 
transit stop on Dehart Road.   

6.6 Subdivision Approving Officer 

The Subdivision Approving Officer notes that fill has been brought to the site for years without 
geotechnical investigation, and that Development Cost Charges (DCCs) will be payable at final 
subdivision stage. 

6.7 Fire Department 

Fire Department access, fire flows, and hydrants must be in accordance with the BC Building 
Code and the City of Kelowna Subdivision Bylaw #7900.  This bylaw requires a minimum of 60 
ltr/sec fire flows.  Additional comments will be required at the time of the building permit 
application. 

6.8 Fortis BC Inc. – Electric 

The subject property is currently serviced by a primary electrical distribution extension from 
Dehart Road. This line crosses both a neighbour’s property and a waterway without a statutory 
right of way or permitting.  Until such a time as this line is protected by land rights, any servicing 
to the proposed subdivision will require a new extension from the primary distribution facilities 
along Dehart Rd.   

The applicant is responsible for costs associated with servicing the proposed lots as well as the 
provision of appropriate land rights where required. It should be noted that additional land rights 
issues may arise from the design process but can be dealt with at that time, prior to 
construction. 

6.9 Fortis Gas 

Fortis BC Gas has a pipeline running at a diagonal through the northern portion of the property. 
They have provided these comments, as well as general development comments. 

 Fortis pipeline may require an engineering assessment and possible upgrade to current 
standards at the expense of the owner. 

 The existing soil conditions, final site grades and building elevations, as well as 
preloading, must be considered as it relates to the existing pipeline and Right of Way 
(ROW). 

 Fortis BC encourages the use of its ROW for linear parks. 

 Fortis BC requests that the proposed property lines align with, and do not cross, the Fortis 
BC ROW boundaries. 

7.0 Application Chronology  

Application Received:   March 26, 2013 

Public Information Session  April 18, 2013 

218



219



220



221



222



223



224



225



226



227



228



229



Date: 

 

Oct. 1, 2014 
 

File: 
 

0165-30  

To:  
 

City Manager 
 

From: 
 

Deputy City Manager 

Subject: 
 

Quarterly Report Update 

 Report Prepared by: Summer Effray, Marketing & Communications Advisor 

 

Recommendation: 
THAT Council receives, for information, the Quarterly Report from the Deputy City Manager, 
dated Oct. 1, 2014. 
 
Purpose:  
To provide Council with an update of the City’s activities for the third quarter of 2014. 
 
Background: 
The attached PowerPoint presentation provides a brief summary of some key activities 
undertaken in the last quarter by the corporation.   
 
The content of the presentation continues to evolve and staff welcomes Council’s suggestions 
in ensuring the report is both informative and timely for our community. All contributors and 
contributing departments are not expected to attend the Council presentation, however if 
Council has specific questions that require a staff member attend the meeting, it is requested 
that the City Clerk be advised in advance of the meeting. 
 
Internal Circulation: 
Presentation distributed to Divisional Directors. 
 
Considerations not applicable to this report: 
Legal/Statutory Authority: 
Legal/Statutory Procedural Requirements: 
Existing Policy: 
Financial/Budgetary Considerations: 
Personnel Implications: 
External Agency/Public Comments: 
Communications Comments: 
 
Submitted by: 
  
 
Paul Macklem, Deputy City Manager 

230



Q U A RT E R LY  R E P O RT  
Quarter 3, 2014 

231



G R O W  O U R  E C O N O M Y  

Your link to the world: 
Kelowna International Airport 
• Daily service to San Francisco 
• August – busiest month in YLW 

history 
232



G R O W  O U R  E C O N O M Y  
Building Kelowna 

$260 million in building permits, YTD 
260 issued for single-family homes 
Highest numbers since 2010 
451 development applications processed 
 

2012 2013 2014 

$91m $102m $104m 
Building permit 
values – 3rd Quarter 

2012 2013 2014 

3rd Quarter 9 58 6 

2nd Quarter 31 23 152 

1st Quarter 14 99 130 

Number of 
subdivision lots 
approved  
(to Sept. 9, 2014) 

233



E N H A N C E  C I T I Z E N S ’  Q U A L I T Y  O F  L I F E  

Outdoor enjoyment 
Parks 

City Park concept plan 
Stuart Park, Phase 2 
Ponds Playground 
Gopher Creek Linear 
Park 
Munson Pond Park 

 
Neighbourhood 
events 

Park & Play 
Dancing in the Park 

234



G R O W  O U R  E C O N O M Y  

Event attractions 
artsVest 
Culture Days 
Rugby Canadian Championships 
Baseball Valley Championships 
Axel Merckx Youth Cycling  
Foundation Camp 
Youth Basketball Tournament 
Tennis Futures Tournament 
Wine Country Half Marathon 
 

235



E N H A N C E  C I T I Z E N S ’  Q U A L I T Y  O F  L I F E  

Police Services Building Project update 
Security clearances underway 
Rezoning received first three readings 
Alternative Approval Process 
Borrowing over 30 years 

236



F O C U S  O N  R E S U LT S  

Community engagement 
for City projects 

In the Community 
1,653 face-to-face 
interactions 
643 feedback forms/surveys 
completed 

Online 
Social media 
getinvolved.kelowna.ca 

1,409 total participants 
1,815 visitors and 6,704 
page views 

237



D E L I V E R  O N  O U R  P L A N  

Active transportation 
Queensway 
Okanagan College 
#97 Rapidbus 
Gordon Drive 
Route 8 University realignment 
Regional Strategic 
Transportation Plan 

238



P R O A C T I V E  &  P R A G M AT I C  L E A D E R S H I P  

New options for 
customers to pay 

 Increase in recycling 
 Landfill-to-gas pipeline 

239



P R O A C T I V E  &  P R A G M AT I C  L E A D E R S H I P  

Annual budget process underway 
Balancing act: 

Reasonable tax rate  
Delivering services expected by residents 
Adjusting to economic realities 

240



2 0 1 4  T H I R D  Q U A RT E R  R E P O RT  

For other ways to stay informed, 
visit kelowna.ca/connect 

241

http://kelowna.ca/connect�


Report to Council 
 

 

Date: 

 
October 6, 2014 
 

Rim No. 
 

0280-70 

To:  
 

City Manager 
 

From: 
 

Matt Friesen, Accountant, Revenue Branch 

Subject: 
 

2015 Permissive Tax Exemption Bylaw No  11009 

  

 

Recommendation: 
 
THAT Council receives, for information, the Report from the Revenue Branch Accountant 
dated October 6, 2014 with respect to the 2015 Permissive Tax Exemption Bylaw; 
 
AND THAT Bylaw No. 11009, being the 2015 Permissive Tax Exemption Bylaw be forwarded for 
reading consideration. 
 
Purpose:  
 
Council to consider a property tax exemption for those organizations that have met the 
qualification as outlined in Permissive Tax Exemption Policy #327. 
 
Background: 
 
The following are revisions to Schedules A through I of the 2014 Tax Exemption Bylaw No. 

10889 

Schedule A, Public Worship: 

Change the following rolls: 

NO. 

ROLL 

NO. 

LEGAL 

DESCRIPTION 

REGISTERED 

OWNER/LESSEE RATIONALE/COMMENTS 

1 57510  

Lot A, Plan 16013, 

DL 137 
Convention Baptist 

Churches of BC 

Change status to fully exempt. Organization no 

longer operates a Daycare at this location. 

Property is now fully exempt as the principal 

purpose of the total property is a Place of Public 

Worship 

242



NO. 

ROLL 

NO. 

LEGAL 

DESCRIPTION 

REGISTERED 

OWNER/LESSEE RATIONALE/COMMENTS 

2 6198870 

Lots 78, 79 & 80, 

Sec 26, Twp 26, 

Plan 22239 

Pentecostal Assemblies of 

Canada 

Change status to fully exempt. Organization no 

longer operates a Daycare at this location. 

Property is now fully exempt as the principal 

purpose of the total property is a Place of Public 

Worship 

 
Delete the following rolls: 

NO. 

ROLL 

NO. 

LEGAL 

DESCRIPTION 

REGISTERED 

OWNER/LESSEE RATIONALE/COMMENTS 

1 3273007 

Lot A, Plan 

KAP83120 Halo Valley Holdings Ltd. 

Change in status to fully taxable. Garden Valley 

Community Church no longer owns the property 

but they currently lease the property from the 

new owner, Halo Valley Holdings Ltd. The 

property no longer qualifies for a Statutory 

Exemption from BC Assessment. The Permissive 

Tax Exemption Policy is only extended to 

properties that are first granted a Statutory 

Exemption. 

 
 
Schedule B, Private Schools:  No Change 
 
Schedule C, Hospitals: No Change 

 

Schedule D, Special Needs Housing: 

 

Delete the following rolls: 

NO. 

ROLL 

NO. 

LEGAL 

DESCRIPTION 

REGISTERED 

OWNER/LESSEE RATIONALE/COMMENTS 

1 46190 

Lot 15, D.L. 136, 

Plan 9138 

Adult Integrated Mental 

Health Services Society 

Change in Status to fully taxable. The 

organization no longer provides subsidized 

housing and rents out the units on the property 

at market rates to the general public. 

 

Schedule E, Social Services:  

 

Add the following rolls: 

NO. 

ROLL 

NO. 

LEGAL 

DESCRIPTION 

REGISTERED 

OWNER/LESSEE RATIONALE/COMMENTS 

1 6371030 

Lot 2, Plan 

KAP30323 Pathways Abilities Society 

New Applicant: Non-profit organization that 

provides people with disabilities the support to 

participate and contribute to society by 

participating in volunteer work, paid 

employment, recreation and leisure services 

 

243



Delete the following rolls: 

NO. 

ROLL 

NO. 

LEGAL 

DESCRIPTION 

REGISTERED 

OWNER/LESSEE RATIONALE/COMMENTS 

1 3819001 Lot 2,Plan 3306 City of Kelowna 

Change in status to fully taxable. The property 

has been sold to the City of Kelowna and the Ki-

Low-Na Friendship Society no longer occupies the 

property. 

 

Schedule F, Public Park or Recreation Ground, Public Athletic or Recreational:  

Add the following rolls: 

NO. 

ROLL 

NO. 

LEGAL 

DESCRIPTION 

REGISTERED 

OWNER/LESSEE RATIONALE/COMMENTS 

1 83521 

Lot 1, Plan 

EPP29214 Kelowna Yacht Club 

New Applicant. Non-profit organization that 

provides sailing lessons and activities that is 

accessible to all the residents of Kelowna 

including specific programs for those with special 

needs. These programs are offered at below 

market rates. Criteria # 6: Approx 21,168 sq ft 

(88%) taxable as the principal use of this portion  

of the property is not directly related to 

principal purpose of organization owning the 

property (rental/lease/restaurant) 

2 9472588 

Lot 2, DL 14, LD 

41, KAP53240 

Kelowna Outrigger Racing 

Canoe Club Society/City 

of Kelowna 

New Application - Non-Profit organization 

providing an environment for the purpose of the 

furtherance of paddle sports of all descriptions 

including training and education in skills. The use 

of this property will work in conjunction with the 

property adjacent to this one that is already 

occupied by this same organization and has an 

approved permissive tax exemption. 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

244



Schedule G, Cultural Organizations:  

Change the following rolls: 

NO. 

ROLL 

NO. 

LEGAL 

DESCRIPTION 

REGISTERED 

OWNER/LESSEE RATIONALE/COMMENTS 

1 77062 Lot 1, Plan 42511 

City of Kelowna/Kelowna 

Museums Society 

Change in Status. Criterion # 3: 1,300 sq ft 40% 

exempt (3rd year of the 5 year phase out 

program) as area’s primary purpose are 

commercial liquor sales. 

Per Policy 327: ”Non-profit organizations 

conducting retail and/or commercial activity and 

charging rates or fees at market value are 

considered to be in competition with for-profit 

businesses and will not be eligible for tax 

exemption.” Note: The portion of the Wine 

Museum which is a VQA Wines store would be 

taxable – Approx. 60% of the Wine Museum area 

(1,300 sq. ft.). 

NO. 

ROLL 

NO. 

LEGAL 

DESCRIPTION 

REGISTERED 

OWNER/LESSEE RATIONALE/COMMENTS 

2 80250 Lot A, KAP67454 

Kelowna Visual & 

Performing Arts Centre 

Society / City of Kelowna 

Change in exemption area. Change in lease 

within the leased portion of the property (429 sq 

ft). The previous lease holder of this unit was 

taxable under tax roll 80259. The new lease 

holder is a Non-profit organization (Cool Arts 

Society) and qualifies as an exempt area. 

 

Schedule H, Other Non-Profit Societies: No Changes 

Schedule I, Partnering, Heritage Property and Revitalization: No Change 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

245



There are two tax exemption requests that are not being recommended for exemption: 
 

NO. 

ROLL 

NO. 

LEGAL 

DESCRIPTION 

REGISTERED 

OWNER/LESSEE RATIONALE/COMMENTS 

1 29160  

Lot 1, D.L. 136, 

Plan KAP3506 

Timothy and Lesley 

Spiegel 

Denied. The property is not owned by the non-

profit organization. (Chabad Okanagan 

Society). Criteria #5: The principal use of 

property is not directly related to principal 

purpose of organization owning the property. 

2 6224941  

Lot B Plan 

KAP71871 

Army, Navy & Air Force 

Veterans in Canada 

Denied. Vacant lot. Criteria #5: The principal 

use of property is not directly related to 

principal purpose of organization owning the 

property. 

 
On October 1, 2012, Council endorsed Policy # 327 (Permissive Tax Exemption Policy) in its 
current state, reaffirming that it is fair, consistent and appropriate. 
 
All currently exempt applicants as well as new applicants were reviewed by staff in relation 
to Council Policy # 327 and the above recommendations represent the changes to the status 
of each applicant. 
 
The following have been included as attachments: 
 
Appendix A, 2015 Tax Exemptions Summary – Municipal Tax Impact related to General 
Exemption and Permissive Exemption 
 
Appendix B, 2015 Tax Exemptions Summary – Municipal Tax Impact related to Permissive 
Exemption only 
 
Appendix C, Policy # 327 
 
Appendix D, Tax Exemption Bylaw – Schedules Background 
 
Appendix E, Proposed Bylaw # 11009 to be presented for first 3 readings on Monday, October 
6, 2014 
 
The foregoing changes for 2015 property tax exemption are placed before Council for 
consideration. 
 
Internal Circulation: 
 
Sandra Kochan, Cultural Services Manager 
Jim Gabriel, Director, Active Living & Culture 
 
Legal/Statutory Authority: 
 
Council may, by bylaw in accordance with sections 220, 224 and 225 of the Community 
Charter exempt land or improvements, or both, from taxation to the extent, for the period 
and subject to the conditions provided in the bylaw. 

246



Legal/Statutory Procedural Requirements: 
 
Under section 227 of the Community Charter Council must give notice of a proposed bylaw in 
accordance with section 94 [public notice must be once a week for 2 consecutive weeks 
prior], identifying the property that would be subject to the bylaw, describe the proposed 
exemption, state the number of years that the exemption may be provided and provide an 
estimate of the amount of taxes that would be imposed on the property if it were not 
exempt, for the year in which the proposed bylaw is to take effect and the following 2 years. 
Under Division 7 – Permissive Exemptions of the Community Charter a bylaw may only be 
adopted by an affirmative vote of the majority of Council, and does not apply to taxation in a 
calendar year unless it comes into force on or before October 31 in the preceding year. 
 
Existing Policy: 
 
Permissive Tax Exemption Policy 327 
 
Financial/Budgetary Considerations: 
 
Tax exemptions are not financed through a budgetary line item in the same way as municipal 
spending, nor do they affect the amount that has to be raised through property taxes. 
Nevertheless, tax exemptions do impose a cost on taxpayers who are not exempt. Tax 
exemptions reduce the total value of the tax base (i.e. the taxable value of property). 
Therefore, tax exemptions transfer the burden of taxation from properties that are exempt to 
properties that are taxable. An increase in the value of tax exemptions increases the taxes 
paid by properties that are not tax exempt. Refer to Appendix A, 2015 Tax Exemptions 
Summary – General Exemption and Permissive Exemption - Municipal Tax Impact and Appendix 
B, 2015 Tax Exemptions Summary – Permissive Exemption – Municipal Tax Impact. 
 
Considerations not applicable to this report: 
 
Personnel Implications: 
External Agency/Public Comments: 
Communications Comments: 
Alternate Recommendation: 
 
Submitted by:  
 
 
 
 
M. Friesen, Revenue Accountant  
 
 
 
Approved for inclusion:                 (Genelle Davidson, CPA, CMA, Director, Financial Services) 
 
 
cc: BC Assessment 
 
 

  

247



Appendix A, 2015 Tax Exemptions Summary – Municipal Tax Impact related to General 
Exemption and Permissive Exemption: 
 

Schedule 

Class 01: 

Residential 

Class 06:     

Business* 

Class 08: 

Recreation / 

Non-Profit Total 

A - Places of Worship 

    

 

Assessed Values 45,000  6,917,250  122,691,500  129,653,750  

 

Municipal Taxes $178  $57,146  $485,408  $542,732  

B - Private Schools 

    

 

Assessed Values 404,000  39,614,550  10,221,300  50,239,850  

 

Municipal Taxes $1,598  $327,268  $40,439  $369,304  

C - Hospitals 

    

 

Assessed Values 27,816,000  183,415,000  0  211,231,000  

 

Municipal Taxes $110,049  $1,515,242  $0  $1,625,291  

D - Special Needs Housing 

   

 

Assessed Values 12,007,600  711,200  0  12,718,800  

 

Municipal Taxes $47,506  $5,876  $0  $53,381  

E - Social Services 

    

 

Assessed Values 2,479,000  20,577,700  571,200  23,627,900  

 

Municipal Taxes $9,808  $170,000  $2,260  $182,067  

F - Public Park or Recreation Ground, Public Athletic or Recreational 

 

 

Assessed Values 18,002,000  7,881,980  77,478,340  103,362,320  

 

Municipal Taxes $71,222  $65,115  $306,530  $442,867  

G - Cultural 

    

 

Assessed Values 1,900  30,881,168  2,289,300  33,172,368  

 

Municipal Taxes $8  $255,118  $9,057  $264,183  

H - Other 

    

 

Assessed Values 1,913,300  3,776,000  1,028,100  6,717,400  

 

Municipal Taxes $7,571  $31,195  $4,067  $42,832  

I - Partnering, Heritage or Other Special Exemption Authority 

  

 

Assessed Values 25,500  691,000  0  716,500  

 

Municipal Taxes $101  $5,710  $0  $5,810  

      Grand Total 

    

 

Assessed Values 62,694,300  294,465,848  214,279,740  571,439,888  

 

Municipal Taxes $248,041  $2,432,669  $847,761  $3,528,471  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

248



Appendix B, 2015 Tax Exemptions Summary – Municipal Tax Impact related to Permissive 
Exemption only: 
 

Schedule
1
 

Class 01: 

Residential 

Class 06:     

Business* 

Class 08: 

Recreation / 

Non-Profit Total 

A - Places of Worship 

    

 

Assessed Values 45,000  1,308,500  68,417,400  69,770,900  

 

Municipal Taxes $178  $10,810  $270,681  $281,669  

B - Private Schools 

    

 

Assessed Values 321,000  16,266,200  3,577,000  20,164,200  

 

Municipal Taxes $1,270  $134,380  $14,151  $149,800  

C - Hospitals 

    

 

Assessed Values 7,719,000  10,290,000  0  18,009,000  

 

Municipal Taxes $30,539  $85,009  $0  $115,547  

D - Special Needs Housing 

   

 

Assessed Values 12,007,600  689,300  0  12,696,900  

 

Municipal Taxes $47,508  $5,694  $0  $53,203  

E - Social Services 

    

 

Assessed Values 2,479,000  20,367,700  571,200  23,417,900  

 

Municipal Taxes $9,808  $168,263  $2,260  $180,331  

F - Public Park or Recreation Ground, Public Athletic or Recreational 

 

 

Assessed Values 18,002,000  7,761,980  77,478,340  103,242,320  

 

Municipal Taxes $71,222  $64,123  $306,530  $441,875  

G - Cultural 

    

 

Assessed Values 1,900  30,781,168  2,289,300  33,072,368  

 

Municipal Taxes $8  $254,292  $9,057  $263,356  

H - Other 

    

 

Assessed Values 1,913,300  3,716,000  1,028,100  6,657,400  

 

Municipal Taxes $7,570  $30,699  $4,068  $42,336  

I - Partnering, Heritage or Other Special Exemption Authority 

  

 

Assessed Values 25,500  681,000  0  706,500  

 

Municipal Taxes $101  $5,626  $0  $5,727  

Grand Total 

    

 

Assessed Values 42,514,300  91,861,848  153,361,340  287,737,488  

 

Municipal Taxes $168,203  $758,896  $606,746  $1,533,845  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

                                                           
1
 Schedules A, B & C include the land assessed values of the buildings footprint which is a general exemption. 

249



Appendix C, Policy #327: 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
City of Kelowna 
1435 Water Street  
Kelowna, BC  V1Y 1J4   
250 469-8500 
kelowna.ca 

POLICY 327 

 

Council Policy 
Permissive Tax 

Exemption Policy 
APPROVED August 8, 2005 

RESOLUTION:  R375/10/04/26 
REPLACING: R446/06/05/15; R759/05/08/08 
DATE OF LAST REVIEW:  April 2010 
 

A.  PREAMBLE 
The City of Kelowna recognizes the significant value of volunteers, volunteer groups and agencies to the spiritual, 
educational, social, cultural, and physical well-being of the community. A permissive tax exemption is a means for 
Council to support organizations within the community that further Council’s objective to enhance the quality of life while 
delivering services economically to the citizens of Kelowna.  

The Permissive Tax Exemption Policy is intended to: 

 -Provide clarity, consistency and certainty to the municipality, the public and prospective applicants. 

 

B.  EXTENT, CONDITIONS, AND PENALTIES  
 1. Council may designate only a portion of land/improvements as exempted where the following  circumstances 
 exist: 

 a. A portion of the land/improvements is used by private sector and/or organization not meeting  
  Council’s exemption criteria. 

 b. The applicant already receives grant in aid from the municipality, provincial or federal government. 

 c. The applicant meets all eligibility criteria, however Council may at its discretion grant a partial  
  exemption. 

2. Council may impose conditions on the exempted land/improvements with the applicant organization, 
 including but not limited to: 

 a. Registration of a covenant restricting use of the property 

 b. An agreement committing the organization to continue a specific service/program 

 c. An agreement committing the organization to have field/facilities open for public use for specific  
 times or a total amount of time 

 d. An agreement committing the organization to offer use of the field/facility to certain groups free  
 of charge or at reduced rates 

 e. An agreement committing the organization to immediately disclose any substantial increase in the 
  organization’s revenue or anticipated revenue (i.e. receives large operating grant from senior  
  government) 

3. Council may impose penalties on an exempted organization for knowingly breaching conditions of 
 exemption, including but not limited to: 

 

250



 a. Revoking exemption with notice 

 b. Disqualifying  any future application for exemption for specific time period 

 c. Requiring repayment of monies equal to the foregone tax revenue. 

CITY OF KELOWNA          COUNCIL POLICY NO. 327                      Page 2 of 4 

 

C.  PROCESS  
Council will consider permissive tax exemption applications from Places of Worship, Private Schools and Hospitals for a 
period of up to 5 years.  Other Non-Profit organizations will be considered annually.  

The opportunity to apply for a permissive tax exemption will be advertised in the local newspaper once in the month of 
June.  Application forms can be downloaded from the City of Kelowna website, or picked up at City Hall in the Revenue 
Branch of the Financial Services Department.   

Application Forms 

Places of Worship, Private Schools and Hospitals are required to complete the Place of Worship, Private School, and 
Hospital 5 Year Application.  The City of Kelowna will administer these applications on a 5 year cycle.   If the application 
is approved the organization will be exempt for the number of years remaining in the cycle.  At the end of the 5 year 
cycle all organizations must complete an application for the next 5 years.  It is the organization’s responsibility to notify 
the City of Kelowna of any changes in property ownership and/or use of the property.   

For example: 

Application Period Number of Years Exempt Application Due Date 

 

2011 – 2015 5 Years July 15, 2010 

2012 – 2015 4 Years July 15, 2011 

2013 – 2015 3 Years July 15, 2012 

2014 – 2015  2 Years July 15, 2013 

2015 1 Year July 15, 2014 

 

Other Non-Profit Organizations will be required to complete a Comprehensive Non-Profit Application.  If the application is 
approved for the next tax year, the organization will be required to submit a short renewal application every year for the 
next 4 tax years.  The renewal application is confirmation that ownership and use of property has not changed and will 
be reviewed and approved before a permissive tax exemption is granted.   

The Place of Worship, Private Schools and Hospital applications and the Comprehensive Non-Profit applications must 
have the following information attached before consideration of a 5 year permissive tax exemption:  

Copy of last Registered Charity Information Return or Non-Profit Organization Information Return submitted to the CCRA 

Copy of most current Audited Financial Statements 

Financial Budget (pro-forma Balance Sheet and Income Statement) for the current 12 months 

Scale Drawing of Property, that includes buildings, parking lots, landscaping, playgrounds, fields, etc. 

Copy of Lease Agreement if applicable 

Applications with required supporting information must be submitted prior to July 15th of each year to be considered for 
the next permissive tax exemption year or cycle.   

Additional Information 

Council may request a presentation from applying organization. 

251



The City of Kelowna may request additional information. 

The City of Kelowna reserves the right to review records and/or property to verify information provided in support of  

 

 

CITY OF KELOWNA         COUNCIL POLICY NO. 327                      Page 3 of 4 

 

application. 

Successful applicants may be asked to publicly acknowledge the exemption. 

Council may, at its discretion, reject any or all applicants in any given year. 

This policy does not apply to permissive tax exemptions for heritage revitalization, riparian, and other special exemption 
authority. 

 

Eligibility Criteria 

To be eligible for a permissive tax exemption an organization must comply with all of the eligibility criteria outlined below.  
The application forms and supporting documentation are an integral part of this policy. There is no obligation on the part 
of Council to grant permissive tax exemptions in any given year. 

 

The applicant(s): 

 1. qualifies for an exemption under the provisions of the Community Charter, general authority for  
 permissive exemptions. (Part 7, Division 7, Section 224). 

 2. and/or the property owner is in compliance with municipal policies, plans, bylaws, and regulations 
  (i.e. business licensing, zoning). 

 3. is a Non-Profit Organization. 

 Tax exemptions will only be granted to organizations that are a Registered Charity or Non-Profit  Organization. 

 The intent of this requirement is to ensure that municipal support is not used to further activities of an 
 organization or individual that, if not for it’s not-for-profit status would otherwise be considered business,  i.e. an 
organization that is operating as a Non-Profit; although it charges market value for services available,  and would be 
comparable in operations and perception to public as a For Profit Business. 

 Non-profit organizations conducting retail and/or commercial activity and charging rates or fees at market  value 
are considered to be in competition with for-profit businesses and will not be eligible for tax  exemption. 

 4. provides services or programs that are compatible or complementary to those offered by the City  
 of Kelowna. When a service or program is offered by a non-profit group or club, the Community   may 
benefits from a more cost effective provision of services. 
 

 Services provided by an organization should fulfill some basic need, or otherwise improve the quality of life 
 for residents of Kelowna. 

 5. principal use of property meets Council’s objectives. The “principal use of the property” refers to  
 the use related directly to the principal purpose of the organization owning the property. 

 

 Permissive tax exemptions will be based on the principal use of the property, not on the non-profit or 
 charitable services of the organization. 

 6. will provide benefits and accessibility to the residents for Kelowna. Specifically, members of the  
 public, within the appropriate age range, are able to join a club or organization and participate in   its 
activities for a nominal rate or fee. 

252



 Kelowna residents must be the primary beneficiaries of the organization’s services.  The services provided 
 on the property must be accessible to the public.  Council may at its discretion provide partial exemptions. 

 7. that provide liquor and/or meal services as their primary function and/or source of revenue will not 
  be eligible for permissive tax exemption. 

 

CITY OF KELOWNA        COUNCIL POLICY NO. 327                       Page 4of 4 

 

 8. provides short term housing with length of stay up to a maximum of two years.  

 This would include: emergency shelters, transitional housing, supportive housing for people with special  needs, 
and group homes. 

 9. that have a residence in the building or on the property will only be exempt if a caretaking function 
  is performed and the property owner (organization) can provide a copy of an agreement   
 demonstrating: 

  1. rent is not collected on the residence, and 

  2. there is a caretaker agreement in place. 

Administration 

The Revenue Branch in the Financial Services Department will review all applications for completeness and contact the 
applicant if additional information is necessary. 

The Revenue Branch will prepare a summary report of applications and bylaw for presentation to Council the first week 
of October for approval and adoption prior to October 31st of each year. 

A public notice will be placed in the local newspaper of proposed bylaw.  The notice will include: 

Property subject to bylaw 

Description of the proposed exemption 

Number of years the exemption will be provided 

Estimate of the amount of taxes that would be imposed on the property if it were not exempt for the year of exemption 
and following 2 years. 

Public notice will be in accordance with Section 94 of the Community Charter. 

Places of Worship, Private Schools, and Hospitals that have been approved for permissive tax exemption will be exempt 
for up to 5 years. 

All other Non-Profit Organizations that have been approved will be exempt for 1 year.  To be considered for future years 
a renewal application must be submitted prior to July 15th of each year of the next 4 tax years.  A comprehensive 
application must be submitted at least every 5 years. 

Late Application 

Applications received after the deadline for submission will be held until the next scheduled October presentation to 
Council that meets the application due date. Applicants may, at that time, request Council to consider a refund of the 
Municipal portion of taxes paid for the property to be exempted the following year. 

 

REASON FOR POLICY 

Provide clarity for permissive property tax exemption applications. 

LEGISLATIVE AUTHORITY 

Section 224 – Community Charter 

253



PROCEDURE FOR IMPLEMENTATION 

Council Resolution 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Appendix D, Tax Exemption Bylaw – Schedules Background: 

 

254



SCHEDULE A 

Public Worship: 

 

Place of worship are given a general exemption from taxation for the church building and the 

land on which the building stands under C.C. Section 220 (1) (h). While this part of the 

exemption does not require a bylaw, any other buildings (church hall) or lands (parking, etc.) to 

be exempted are at the discretion of Council through a permissive exemption. The exemption 

would not include living quarters (manse or other) for the staff. 

 

If a statutory exemption occurs for a building set apart for public worship as well as the 

land on which the building stands the title to the land  

 must be registered in the name of religious organization using the building 

 or trustees for the use of that organization 

 or religious organization granting a lease of the building and land to be used solely 
for public worship  

 

A permissive tax exemption may be provided for the land surrounding the exempt building 

that Council considers necessary. (Section 224 (2) (f) of the Community Charter) 

 

A permissive tax exemption may be provided for land and improvements used or occupied 

by a religious organization, as a tenant or licensee, for the purpose of public worship.   

(Section 224 (2) (g))  (The lessee under the lease must be required to pay property taxes 

directly to the City of Kelowna.) 

 

SCHEDULE B 

 

Private Schools: 

 

Statutory Exemption 

A building and the land on which the building stands if owned by an incorporated 

institution of learning that is regularly giving children instruction accepted as equivalent to 

that given in a public school, is exempt from taxation (Section 220(1)(l)) 

 

A permissive tax exemption may be provided for the land surrounding the exempt building. 

(Section 224(2)(h)) 

 

SCHEDULE C 

 

Hospitals: 

 

Statutory Exemption 

A building set apart and used solely as a hospital under the Hospital Act, except a private 

hospital under that Act, together with the land on which the building stands is exempt from 

taxation. (Section 220 (1)(j)) 

 

 A permissive tax exemption may be provided for the land surrounding the exempt 
building. (Section 224(2)(h)) 

 

255



 A permissive tax exemption may be provided for land or improvements owned or 
held by a person or organization and operated as a private hospital licensee under 
the Hospital Act, or an institution licensed under the Community Care Facility Act. 
(Section 224(2)(j)) 

 

SCHEDULE D 

 

Special Need Housing: 

 

a. A permissive tax exemption may be provided for land and improvements that are 
owned or held by a registered charity or non profit, and Council considers are used for 
a purpose that is directly related to the purposes of the corporation.  (Section 
224(2)(a))  Special needs housing to members of the community such as:  

 short term emergency or protection housing 
 halfway houses, group homes, or supportive housing for people with special 

needs 

 

SCHEDULE E 

 

Social Services: 

 

A permissive tax exemption may be provided for land and improvements that are owned or 

held by a registered charity or non profit, and Council considers are used for a purpose that 

is directly related to the purposes of the corporation.  (Section 224(2)(a))  Social services 

to members of community such as: 

 Food banks, drop in centre for people with special needs, seniors or youth. 
 Support services and programs for people with special needs, who are in 

some way disadvantaged and need assistance in maximizing their quality of 
life.  (i.e. counselling for substance abuse,  employment re- entry programs)   

 

SCHEDULE F 

 

Public Park or Recreation Ground, Public Athletic or Recreational 

 

A permissive tax exemption may be provided for land or improvements owned or held by a 

person or athletic or service club or association and used as a public park or recreational 

ground or for public athletic or recreational purposes.(Section 224(2)(i))  

 Facilities must be available to the public, exclusive membership clubs or 
associations not eligible for exemption. 

 Council may impose covenant restricting use of property or require 
agreement committing organization to offer the field/facility to certain 
groups free of charge or at reduced rates.  

 

A permissive exemption may be provided when land and improvements are owned by public 

authority or local authority, and used by a non-profit organization for the purpose of public 

park or recreation ground or athletic or recreational purposes, which would have been 

exempt if land and improvements were owned by that organization. (Section 224(2)(d) (The 

lessee under the lease must be required to pay the property taxes directly to the City of 

Kelowna, or have a partnership agreement with the City of Kelowna.) 

 

256



SCHEDULE G 

 

Cultural Organizations 

 

A permissive exemption may be provided for land and improvements that are owned or 

held by a non profit that provides cultural education and recreation. (Section 224(2) (a)). 

The Facility must be available for members of the public. 

 

SCHEDULE H 

 

Other Non- Profit Societies  

 

A permissive tax exemption may be provided for land and improvements that are owned or 

held by a registered charity or nonprofit society that Council deems beneficial to the 

community, such as museums, animal shelters, property to preserve wildlife and 

environmental areas. (Section 225(2)(a). 

 

A permissive tax exemption may be provided for land or improvements, for which a grant 

has been made, after March 31, 1974, under the Housing Construction (Elderly Citizens) Act 

before its repeal. (Section 224 (2) (k)) 

 

SCHEDULE I 

 

Partnering, Heritage Property and Revitalization  

The following property is eligible for a tax exemption under this section: 

(a) eligible partnering property, being property that 

(i) is owned by a person or public authority providing a municipal service under a 
partnering agreement, and 

(ii) the Council considers will be used in relation to the service being provided under 
the partnering agreement; 

(b) eligible heritage property, being property that is 

(i) protected heritage property, 

(ii) subject to a heritage revitalization agreement under section 966 of the Local 
Government Act, 

(iii) subject to a covenant under section 219 of the Land Title Act that relates to the 
conservation of heritage property, or 

(iv) if property referred to in subparagraphs (i) to (iii) is a building or other 
improvement so affixed to the land as to constitute real property, an area of land 
surrounding that improvement; 

 

257



 

SCHEDULE J 

 

Assessment and Taxation Impact  

 

Includes land and improvements associated with the following: 

 

1. Total projected municipal taxation impact for each of Schedule A, B, C, D, E, F, G, H, I by 

assessment class for the year’s 2015, 2016 and 2017. 

 

2. The projected taxation impact for 2015, 2016, 2017 have been calculated by increasing the 2014 

actual municipal taxation rate by 3.11%, 4.68%, and 3.92% respectively as this relates to the 2014 

five year financial plan approved by Council. 

258



Appendix E, Proposed Bylaw # 11009: 
 

Schedule A – Public Worship 

 

Tax Exempt Properties for 2015 Tax Year 

NO. ROLL NO. 

LEGAL 

DESCRIPTION 

REGISTERED 

OWNER/LESSEE RATIONALE/COMMENTS 

1  1230  
Lot 1, Blk 13, 
Plan 202, DL138 

The Union of Slavic 
Churches of Evangelical 
Christians c/o Trustees   

2  1350  

Lots 2 and 3, Blk 
15, Plan 202, DL 
138 

Trustees of First United 
Church   

3  1360  

Lot 4,Blk 15,Plan 
202, DL 138 In 
Trust - DD 
197582F 

Trustees of First United 
Church Note: Parking Lot 

4  1370  

Lot 5,Blk 15,Plan 
202, DL 138 In 
Trust - DD 
197582F 

Trustees of First United 
Church Note: Parking Lot 

5  6911  

Lot 25, Plan 578, 
DL 138, Except 
Plan H16278, & 
Lot A PL 

Kelowna Buddhist 
Society   

6  18380  
Lot 2, Plan 1319, 
DL 138 

Bethel United 
Pentecostal Church 
(Truth Now Tabernacle)   

7  21300  

Lot 19-20, Plan 
2085, District Lot 
139 

Unitarian Fellowship of 
Kelowna Society   

8  21640  
Lot 5, Blk B, Plan 
2167, DL 139 

Christian Science Society 
of Kelowna   

9  22500  
Lot 6, Plan 2271, 
DL 139 

Kelowna Tabernacle 
Congregation - Trustees   

10  51070  
Lot 1, Plan 
11332, DL 137 

Governing Council of the 
Salvation Army in 
Canada Note: Parking Lot 

11  57010  Lot 1, Plan 15741 

Ray Chase, Emsley 
Hunter, and Cyril Nash 
(Trustees) 

Criteria #5: 3096 sq ft taxable as principal use 
of property not directly related to principal 
purpose of organization owning the property. ( 
1548 sq ft Taxable: lease/rental to L'Eslale 
daycare) & (1548 sq ft Taxable: lease/rental to 
Music School)  

12  57510  
Lot A, Plan 
16013, DL 137 

Convention Baptist 
Churches of BC 

Change status to fully exempt. Organization no 
longer operates a Daycare at this location. 
Property is now fully exempt as the principal 
purpose of the total property is a Place of 
Public Worship 

13  62110  Lot A, KAP65650 

The Trustees of 
Congregation of Kelowna 
Bible Chapel   

259



NO. ROLL NO. 

LEGAL 

DESCRIPTION 

REGISTERED 

OWNER/LESSEE RATIONALE/COMMENTS 

14  62120  Lot 2, Plan 17933 

The Trustees of 
Congregation of Kelowna 
Bible Chapel Note: Parking Lot 

15 68680  Lot 3, Plan 25524 
Trustees Congregation - 
Grace Baptist Church 

Criteria #3: No change in status per Policy 327 
as "Daycare" is operating on avg. at below 
market (Thrive out of school club).  

16  69380  Lot A, Plan 27070 
Roman Catholic Bishop 
Of Nelson 

Criteria #9: Residences will be excluded from 
otherwise tax exempt property (Note: Church 
Manse/Rectory) 

17  71130  
Lot 1, Plan 
30180, DL137 

Governing Council of the 
Salvation Army in 
Canada (Community 
Church)   

18  71680  Lot 4, Plan 30824 
Seventh Day Adventist 
Church (BC Conference)   

19  74502  
Lot A, Plan 
33076, DL138 

Roman Catholic Bishop 
of Nelson 

Criteria #9: Residences will be excluded from 
otherwise tax exempt property (Note: Church 
Manse/Rectory) 

20  75210  Lot 1, Plan 34637 

Trustees of The 
Congregation of the 
Christ Evangelical 
Lutheran Church   

21  76394  
Lot C, Plan 
40170, DL137 

The Congregation of the 
First Mennonite Church   

22  78266  
Lot 1, Plan 
KAP47242 

Ukrainian Catholic 
Eparchy of New 
Westminster 

Criteria #9: Residences will be excluded from 
otherwise tax exempt property (Note: Church 
Manse/Rectory) 

23  83239  
Lot A, Plan 
KAP91385, DL 14 

Synod-Diocese of 
Kootenay  

24  3255224  
Lot 1, Plan 
KAP56294 

Trust Cong St David's 
Presb Church   

25  3337370  Lot A, Plan 23927 
Kelowna Christian 
Reformed Church 

Criteria #5: 2,974 sq ft taxable as principal use 
of property not directly related to principal 
purpose of organization owning the property. 
(lease/rental to GRASP)  

26  3337769  
Lot A, Plan 
KAP83760 

Okanagan Jewish 
Community Association 

Criteria #5: 1,200 sq ft taxable as principal use 
of property not directly related to principal 
purpose of organization  owning the property 
(lease/rental North Glenmore Daycare)  

27  3378102  Lot A, Plan 44041 
Glenmore Congregation 
of Jehovah's Witnesses   

28  3922000  Lot A, Plan 5223 
BC Assn of Seventh Day 
Adventist   

29  4310442  Lot A, Plan 31085 
Seventh Day Adventist 
Church (BC Conference)   

30  4360460  
Lot 2, Twp 
26,Plan 27837 

Roman Catholic Bishop 
of Nelson   

260



NO. ROLL NO. 

LEGAL 

DESCRIPTION 

REGISTERED 

OWNER/LESSEE RATIONALE/COMMENTS 

31  4423888  

Lot PT 26, Plan 
187 Except Plan 
3067, That PT of 
L 25 PL 187 S/O 
PL B130 

Synod of the Diocese of 
Kootenay   

32  4571592  

Lot 1, Sec 19, 
Twp 26, Plan 
37842 

Kelowna Full Gospel 
Church Society 

Criteria #3: No change in status per Policy 327 
as "Daycare" is operating on avg. at below 
market (Thrive out of school club). Criteria #9: 
Residences will be excluded from otherwise tax 
exempt property (Note: Housing Society) 

33  4645000  Lot 7, Plan 3727 
Church of the Nazarene - 
Canada Pacific   

34  4660000  Lot 1, Plan 4877 

Serbian Orthodox Par-
Holy Prophet St Ilija 
(Parish) 

Criteria #9: 680 sq. ft taxable as residences 
will be excluded from otherwise tax exempt 
property. [Note: Church Manse/Rectory] 

35  4803156  

Lot A, Sec 22, 
Twp 26, Plan 
27717 

BC Assoc of Seventh Day  
Adventists   

36  4804250  Lot A, Plan 29696 
Gurdwara Guru Amardas 
Darbar Sikh Society  

Criteria #9: 240 sq ft taxable as residences will 
be excluded from otherwise tax exempt 
property (Note: church manse/rectory).  

37  5475931  

Lot Pcl Z, Sec 23, 
Twp 26, Plan 
24426, Except 
Plan KAP69971, 
DD J53659 

NW Canada Conf 
Evangelical Church   

38  5476791  Lot B, Plan 41234 

BC Conference of 
Mennonite Brethren 
Churches 

Criteria #9: Residences will be excluded from 
otherwise tax exempt property (Note: Housing 
Society) 

39  5606001  
Lot A, Plan 
KAP76650 

Okanagan Sikh Temple & 
Cultural Society 

Criteria #9: Residences will be excluded from 
otherwise tax exempt property (Note: Church 
Manse/Rectory) 

40  5611000  
Lot PT 2, Plan 
2166 

Roman Catholic Bishop 
of Nelson 

Criteria #9: Residences will be excluded from 
otherwise tax exempt property (Note: Church 
Manse/Rectory) 

41  5752000  Lot A, Plan 4841 
Okanagan Chinese 
Baptist Church   

42  6198870  

Lots 78, 79 & 80, 
Sec 26, Twp 26, 
Plan 22239 

Pentecostal Assemblies 
of Canada 

Change is status to fully exempt. Organization 
no longer operates a Daycare at this location. 
Property is now fully exempt as the principal 
purpose of the total property is a Place of 
Public Worship 

43  6198872  
Parcel A, Plan 
22239 

Synod of the Diocese of 
Kootenay   

44  6199358  

Lot H, Sec 26, 
Twp 26,Plan 
26182 

Faith Lutheran Church of 
Kelowna   

45  6339000  

Lot 14, Sec 27, 
Twp 26 Plan 
14897 BC Muslim Association   

261



NO. ROLL NO. 

LEGAL 

DESCRIPTION 

REGISTERED 

OWNER/LESSEE RATIONALE/COMMENTS 

46  6370120  

Lot A, Plan 
19465, DL 143, 
Sec 27, Twp 26 

Trustees of Spring Valley 
Congregation of 
Jehovah's Witnesses   

47  6372497  
Lot 1, Plan 
KAP55460 

Kelowna Christian 
Centre Soc Inc   

48  6372506  
Lot A, Plan 
KAP56177 

New Apostolic Church of 
Canada Inc.   

49  6496742  

Lot 1, Sec 29 & 
32,  Plan 
KAP64073 

The Church of Jesus 
Christ of Latter-Day 
Saints   

50  6735000  Lot A, Plan 11520 

Trustees Rutland United 
Church Pastoral Charge 
of the United Church 

Criteria #5: 1278 sq ft taxable as principal use 
of property not directly related to principal 
purpose of organization owning the property 
(lease/rental Green Gables Daycare).  

51  7212492  Lot 1, Plan 37256 
Synod of the Diocese of 
Kootenay   

52  10407200  
Lot A, Plan 
20452, DL 128 

Christian & Missionary 
Alliance - Canadian 
Pacific District   

53  10468000  
Lot 2, Plan 9491, 
DL 129 

St. Peter & Paul 
Ukrainian Greek 
Orthodox Church of 
Kelowna 

Criteria #9: Residences will be excluded from 
otherwise tax exempt property (Note: Orchard 
Haven Housing Society) 

54  10519214  
Lot 9, Plan 
20128, DL 129 

Kelowna Trinity Baptist 
Church   

55  10519844  
Lot A, Plan 37351 
(Portion of Lot) 

Apostolic Resource 
Centre Society 

Criteria #5: 3520 sq ft taxable as principal use 
of property not directly related to principal 
purpose of organization owning the property 
(1565 sq ft Commercial class 06: Wood Fire 
Bakery Restaurant & 1955 sq ft Commercial 
class 06: Clothing Store).  

56  10519902  
Lot 1, Plan KAP 
45185 

Kelowna Trinity Baptist 
Church   

57  10738200  
Lot 1, Plan 
27982, DL 131 

Canadian Baptists of 
Western Canada 

Criteria #5: 1,200 sq ft Taxable as principal use 
of property not directly related to principal 
purpose of organization owning the property 
(lease/rental to Montessori Pre-School). 
Criteria #9: House on property is taxable as 
residences will be excluded from otherwise tax 
exempt property (Note: rental unit). 

58  10738366  

Lot 2, Plan 
KAP44292, DL 
131 

Evangel Tabernacle of 
Kelowna 

Criteria #3:No change in status per Policy 327 
as church "Daycare" is operating on avg. at 
below market. 

59  10768002  
Lot 2, Plan 
KAP81588 

Roman Catholic Bishop 
of Nelson 

Criteria #9: Residences will be excluded from 
otherwise tax exempt property (Note: Church 
Manse/Rectory) 

262



NO. ROLL NO. 

LEGAL 

DESCRIPTION 

REGISTERED 

OWNER/LESSEE RATIONALE/COMMENTS 

60  10936348  Lot 1, Plan 35917 
Kelowna Gospel 
Fellowship Church   

61  10936653  Lot 1, Plan 41844 

Canadian Mission Board 
of the German Church of 
God Dominion of Canada 

Criteria #9: Residences will be excluded from 
otherwise tax exempt property (Note: Housing 
Society) 

62  10937443  
Lot A, Plan 
KAP76720 

First Lutheran Church of 
Kelowna BC   

63  11025140  
Lot 1, Plan 
25466, DL 135 

Trustees of The 
Lakeshore Congregation 
of Jehovah's Witnesses   

64  11025172  
Lot 7, Plan 
25798, DL 135 

Congregation of Bethel 
Church of Kelowna 

Criteria #3: No change in status per Policy 327 
as church "Daycare" is operating on avg. at 
below market. (Village Daycare) 

65  11025480  Lot 1, Plan 34984 

Trustees of the 
Congregation of St Paul's 
United Church 

 Criteria #5: 1,000 sq ft Taxable as principal 
use of property not directly related to principal 
purpose of organization owning the property 
(lease/rental to Montessori Pre-School). 

66  11059000  

Lot 1, Plan 
12441, DL 136 
Trustees 

Guisachan Fellowship 
Baptist Church   

67  11097073  

Lot 1, Plan 
KAP52447, DL 
136 C3 Church 

Property Sold by General Assembly of the 
Church of God in Western Canada to C3 
Church. Principal purpose of the property 
remains as a Place Of Public Worship.  
Criteria #5: 610 sq ft taxable as principal use 
of property not directly related to principal 
purpose of organization owning the property 
(lease/rental to Lasting Impressions Pre-
School). 

 
 
  

263



Schedule B – Private Schools 

 

Tax Exempt Properties for 2015 Tax Year 

NO. ROLL NO. 

LEGAL 

DESCRIPTION 

REGISTERED 

OWNER/LESSEE RATIONALE/COMMENTS 

1  52700  
Lot C, Plan 12546, 
DL 138 

Roman Catholic Bishop of 
Nelson Hall 

2  74502  
Lot A, Plan 33076, 
DL 138 

Roman Catholic Bishop of 
Nelson 

Criteria #9: Residences will be excluded from 
otherwise tax exempt property (Note: Church 
Manse/Rectory) 

3  3458032  Lot 1, KAP86356 
Aberdeen Hall Senior 
School Society   

4  4417000  
Lot A, Plan 
KAP1725 

Okanagan Montessori 
Elementary School 
Society 

Criteria #3: No change in status per Policy 327 as 
"Daycare" is operating on avg. at below market. 

5  5122000  

Lot 2, Plan 3849, 
Sec 23, Twp 26, 
Ld 41 exc Plan 
16489 (15 ac.) 

Seventh-Day Adventist 
Church - BC Conference   

6  6372497  
Lot 1, Plan 
KAP55460 

Kelowna Christian Centre 
Society Inc   

7  6372527  
Lot A, Plan 
KAP71175 

Vedanta Educational 
Society Inc   

8  7212595  
Lot A, Plan 
KAP48732 

Waldorf School 
Association of Kelowna 

Criteria #3: No change in status per Policy 327 as 
"Daycare" is operating on avg. at below market.  

9  7212596  
Lot B, Plan 
KAP48732 

Waldorf School 
Association of Kelowna   

10  10589111  
Lot 1, Plan 
KAP59724 

Kelowna Society for 
Christian Education   

11  10738366  
Lot 2, Plan 
KAP44292, DL 131 

Evangel Tabernacle of 
Kelowna   

12  10738378  
Lot A, Plan 
KAP54674, DL 131 

The Catholic Independent 
Schools of Nelson Diocese    

13  10937443  
Lot A, Plan 
KAP76720 

First Lutheran Church of 
Kelowna   

14  12184557  
Lot 2, Plan 69898, 
DL 41 

Waldorf School 
Association of 
Kelowna/City of Kelowna 

Criteria #3: Per Policy 327, "Daycare" is operating 
on avg. at below market. 

264



Schedule C – Hospitals 

 

Tax Exempt Properties for 2015 Tax Year 

NO. ROLL NO. 

LEGAL 

DESCRIPTION 

REGISTERED 

OWNER/LESSEE RATIONALE/COMMENTS 

1  55260  
Lot A, Plan 
EPP11464 Interior Health Authority   

2  73571  
Lot 15, Plan 
32159, DL 137 Interior Health Authority   

3  79392  
Lot A, Plan 
KAP60581, DL 14 Canadian Cancer Society   

4  82282  
Lot A, Plan 
EPP18664 Interior Health Authority   

5  4529001  
Lot A, Plan 
KAP84779, DL 136 Interior Health Authority   

 

  

265



Schedule D – Special Needs Housing 

 

Tax Exempt Properties for 2015 Tax Year 

NO. ROLL NO. 

LEGAL 

DESCRIPTION 

REGISTERED 

OWNER/LESSEE RATIONALE/COMMENTS 

1  4340  
Lot 15, Plan 462, 
DL 139 

Kelowna Gospel Mission 
Society   

2  7270  
Lot 4, Plan 635, 
DL 14 

Bridge Youth & Family 
Services Society   

3  23390  
Lot 10, Plan 
2498, DL 137 

Bridges to New Life 
Society   

4  33110  Lot 2, Plan 3929 

New Opportunities for 
Women (NOW) Canada 
Society   

5  43090 Lot 1, Plan 7765 
Howard-Fry Housing 
Society   

6  46240  Lot 20, Plan 9138 
Kelowna Gospel Mission 
Society   

7  46250  Lot 21, Plan 9138 
Kelowna Gospel Mission 
Society   

8  48500  Lot 8, Plan 10011 
Okanagan Halfway House 
Society Inc   

9  48750  
Lot 33, Plan 
10011, D.L. 137 

Resurrection Recovery 
Resource Society Inc.   

10  48770  
Lot 35, Plan 
10011 

Okanagan Halfway House 
Society   

11  50050  
Lot 22, Plan 
KAP10689 

Resurrection Recovery 
Resource Society 

Transitional housing for recovering addicts. 
Fully exempt per policy 327 as max. stay <2yrs 

12  50060  
Lot 23, Plan 
10689 

Resurrection Recovery 
Resource Society   

13  50070  
Plan 10689, Lot 
24 

Resurrection Recovery 
Resource Society   

14  50080  
Lot 25, Plan 
10689 

Resurrection Recovery 
Resource Society   

15  50650  Lot A, PL 11018 

Society of St. Vincent De 
Paul of Central 
Okanagan   

16  55030  Lot 4, Plan 14741 

Central Okanagan 
Emergency Shelter 
Society   

17  55040  Lot 5, Plan 14741 

Central Okanagan 
Emergency Shelter 
Society   

18  55150  Lot A, Plan 14836 
Okanagan Halfway House 
Society   

19  71805  Lot 1, Plan 31153 
Adult Integrated Mental 
Health Services Society   

266



NO. ROLL NO. 

LEGAL 

DESCRIPTION 

REGISTERED 

OWNER/LESSEE RATIONALE/COMMENTS 

20  80873  
Plan KAS2634, 
Lot 1 

Okanagan Mental Health 
Services Society   

21  5476630  
Plan KAP33003, 
Lot A 

The Bridge Youth & 
Family Services Society 

Working together with children, youth, families 
and individuals to build healthy and positive 
lives through counseling, education and 
support.  Fully exempt per policy 327 as max. 
stay <2yrs 

22  6370241  
Plan KAP22268, 
Lot D 

The Bridge Youth & 
Family Services Society 

Working together with children, youth, families 
and individuals to build healthy and positive 
lives through counseling, education and 
support.  Fully exempt per policy 327 as max. 
stay <2yrs 

23  10519958  
Lot 4, Plan 
KAS1717 

Kelowna Child Care 
Society   

24  11097075  

PCL A, Plan 
KAP52447, DL 
136 

National Society of Hope 
/Provincial Rental 
Housing Corp   

  

267



Schedule E – Social Services 

 

Tax Exempt Properties for 2015 Tax Year 

NO. ROLL NO. 

LEGAL 

DESCRIPTION 

REGISTERED 

OWNER/LESSEE RATIONALE/COMMENTS 

1  4330  
Lot 14, Plan 462 
Block 5 

Kelowna Gospel Mission 
Society   

2  4580  

Lots 3 and 4, Blk 
8, DL 139, Plan 
462 

Ki-Low-Na Friendship 
Society   

3  4830  
Lot E 1/2 L 15 
Plan 462, Blk 10 

Kelowna Community 
Resources & Crisis 
Centre Society   

4  9900  

Plan 830, Lot 2, 
DL 14, Blk 21 exc 
Parcel 2A, B1750 

Canadian Mental Health 
Association   

5  10470  Lot 11, Plan 922 
Kelowna & District 
S.H.A.R.E. Society   

6  16620  

Lot 8, Plan 1303 
& Lot 1, DL 139 
PL13585 & Lot 1 
DL139 PL 3585 

Kelowna Community 
Food Bank Society   

7  26190  
Lot 138, Plan 
3163 

Okanagan Boys & Girls 
Clubs/City of Kelowna 

Criteria #3: No change in status per Policy 327 
"Daycare/Afterschool Care" is operating on 
avg. at below market. 

8  45862  Lot A, Plan 9012 
Okanagan Boys & Girls 
Clubs/City of Kelowna 

Criteria #3: No change in status Per Policy 327 
"Daycare/Afterschool Care" is operating on 
avg. at below market. 

9  57060  Plan 15778, Lot B 
Ki-Low-Na Friendship 
Society    

10  59530  Lot A, Plan 16898 
Okanagan Boys & Girls 
Clubs/City of Kelowna 

Criteria #3: No change in status per Policy 327 
"Daycare/Afterschool Care" is operating on 
avg. at below market. 

11  66250  Lot 1, Plan 22678 
Kelowna(#26) Royal 
Canadian Legion 

Criteria #7: 32% land and improvements not 
exempt - Main Dining area 870 sq ft, Cooler 
area 92 sq ft - Total 1,786 of 5,522 sq ft 

12  76262  

Lot 1, Blk 6, Sec 
20, Twp 26, 
ODYD, Plan 39580 

Central Okanagan Child 
Development Association   

13  82144  
Lot A Plan 
KAP86241 

Pathways Abilities 
Society / City of 
Kelowna   

14  4918002  
Lot A Plan 
KAP90062 

Governing Council of the 
Salvation Army in 
Canada   

15  5477053  
Lot 5 Plan 
KAS2126 

MADAY Society for 
Seniors   

268



NO. ROLL NO. 

LEGAL 

DESCRIPTION 

REGISTERED 

OWNER/LESSEE RATIONALE/COMMENTS 

16  6198704  
Lot 1, Plan 
KAP91112 

Boys & Girls Clubs/City 
of Kelowna 

Criteria #3:No change in status per Policy 327 
"Daycare/Afterschool Care" is operating on 
avg. at below market. 

17  6370273  
Lot 19, Plan 
23749 

Ki-Low-Na Friendship 
Society   

18  6371030  
Lot 2, Plan 
KAP30323 

Pathways Abilities 
Society 

New Applicant. Non-profit organization that 
provides people with disabilities the support 
to participate and contribute to society by 
participating in volunteer work, paid 
employment, recreation and leisure services 

19  6774486  
Lot 2 Plan: 
KAS2048 

Big Brothers Big Sisters 
of the Okanagan Society   

20  6774491  
Lot:7 Plan 
KAS2048 

Big Brothers Big Sisters 
of the Okanagan Society   

21  10508002  Lot 2, Plan 15777 Kalano Club of Kelowna   

22  10519925  
Lot A, Plan 
KAP54261 

Reach Out Youth 
Counselling & Services 
Society   

23  10522014  
Lot 10 Plan 
KAS3728 

Kelowna Elks Lodge No 
52   

24  10707000  

Lot 1, Plan 
15596, Except 
Plan KAP73753 

BHF Building Healthy 
Families Society   

 

 

  

269



Schedule F – Public Park or Recreation Ground, Public Athletic or Recreational 

 

Tax Exempt Properties for 2015 Tax Year 

NO. ROLL NO. 

LEGAL 

DESCRIPTION 

REGISTERED 

OWNER/LESSEE RATIONALE/COMMENTS 

1  571  

Part DL 14 (.727 
Acres) Lot A, Plan 
5352 

Kelowna Lawn Bowling 
Club /City of Kelowna   

2  37220  Lot 4, Plan 4921 
Kelowna Badminton 
Club/City of Kelowna   

3  73507 Lot 2, Plan 32159 
City of Kelowna/Kelowna 
Cricket Club   

4  80966  
Lot B, Plan 
KAP76448 

Kelowna Major Men's 
Fastball Association / 
City of Kelowna 

No Change in Status as liquor license held by 
CofK not organization. 

5  80967  
Lot A, Plan 
KAP76448 

Kelowna Curling Club / 
City of Kelowna 

Criteria # 7: 2,000 sq ft taxable as areas 
primary use is liquor/food services.  

6  83521  
Lot 1, Plan 
EPP29214 Kelowna Yacht Club 

New Applicant. Non-profit organization that 
provides sailing lessons and activities that is 
accessible to all the residents of Kelowna 
including specific programs for those with 
special needs. These programs are offered at 
below market rates. Criteria # 6: Approx 
21,168 sq ft (88%) taxable as the principal use 
of this portion  of the property is not directly 
related to principal purpose of organization 
owning the property (rental/lease/restaurant)  

7  4009000  

Plan 2020, Parcel 
A , PCL A 
(KG34204) 

Kelowna & District Fish 
& Game Club 

Exempting non-commercial and non-
residential class only 

8  4078511 Lot 2, KAP80134 City of Kelowna 

H2O Centre to be exempted except for space 
occupied by current tenant "Jugo Juice" which 
is taxed under it's own tax roll # 4078513 

9  4078511 Lot 2, KAP80134 
Kelowna United Football 
Club/City of Kelowna 

Non-Profit organization providing an 
environment for the purpose of high level 
training, games and leagues for local youth 
soccer players. 

10  4453000  
Lot 1 & 2, Plan 
3067 

East Kelowna Community 
Hall Association Criteria#9: Caretaker Agreement in place 

11  4525505  Lot 1, KAP61083 

Central Okanagan Land 
Trust / Central Okanagan 
(Regional District) Land Conservation (Parkland) 

12  6198705  
Lot 1, Plan 
KAP91112 

Okanagan Gymnastic 
Centre / City of Kelowna   

13  6224735  
Lot B, Plan 
KAP53836 Rutland Park Society 

Criteria #5: 1,200 sq ft taxable as primary use 
of property not the principal purpose of the 
organization owning the property 
(Lease/Rental: Little Bloomers Daycare).  

14  6935000  
Part S 1/2 of SW 
1/4 

Central Okanagan Land 
Trust / Central Okanagan 
(Regional District) Land Conservation (Parkland) 

270



NO. ROLL NO. 

LEGAL 

DESCRIPTION 

REGISTERED 

OWNER/LESSEE RATIONALE/COMMENTS 

15  6936000  
Part N 1/2 of SW 
1/4 

Central Okanagan Land 
Trust / Central Okanagan 
(Regional District) Land Conservation (Parkland) 

16  6961000  

Lot Fr E 1/2 Sec 
17, Twp 28 exc 
Plan B4553 Nature Trust of BC Land Conservation (Parkland) 

17  6962004  

Fr NE 1/4 Sec 17, 
Twp 28 SDYD, 
shown Amended 
Plan B4553, exc 
Plan 26911 

Crown Provincial/ Nature 
Trust of BC  Land Conservation (Parkland) 

18  6962006  

Lot A, Sec 17, 
Twp 28, Plan 
41403 Nature Trust of BC Land Conservation (Parkland) 

19  6962008  Lot B, Plan 41403 Nature Trust of BC Land Conservation (Parkland) 

20  6974000  
Lot 11, Sec. 22, 
Plan 4080 

Scout Properties 
(BC/Yukon) Ltd    

21  6976000  
Lot 11, Sec. 22, 
Plan 4080 

Scout Properties 
(BC/Yukon) Ltd  Criteria #9: Caretaker Agreement in place 

22  9461001  
Lot B, DL 14, LD 
41, KAP 10727 

Kelowna Outrigger 
Racing Canoe Club 
Society/City of Kelowna 

Non-Profit organization providing an 
environment for the purpose of the 
furtherance of paddle sports of all 
descriptions including training and education 
in skills. 

23  9472588  
Lot 2, DL 14, LD 
41, KAP53240 

Kelowna Outrigger 
Racing Canoe Club 
Society/City of Kelowna 

New Application - Non-Profit organization 
providing an environment for the purpose of 
the furtherance of paddle sports of all 
descriptions including training and education 
in skills. The future use of this property will 
work in conjunction with the property 
adjacent to this one that already occupied by 
this same organization and has an approved 
permissive tax exemption. 

24  10776000  Plan 9359, Lot 2 Kelowna Riding Club Criteria #9: Caretaker Agreement in place 

25  11029007  

That part of Plan 
37018, DL 136, 
shown as park 

Central Okanagan 
Heritage Society/City of 
Kelowna 

Criterion #9: 566 Sq ft taxable as residences 
will be excluded from otherwise tax exempt 
property. (Rental Unit) 

26  11151000  Lot 1, Plan 11796 
Kelowna Minor Fastball 
Society/City of Kelowna   

27 11501989  Lot 1, Plan 35229 

Central Okanagan Small 
Boat Association / City 
of Kelowna Criteria #9: Caretaker Agreement in place 

28 12184556  
Lot 1, Plan 
KAP69898 

Okanagan Mission 
Community Hall 
Association   

 

271



Schedule G – Cultural 

 

Tax Exempt Properties for 2015 Tax Year 

NO. ROLL NO. 

LEGAL 

DESCRIPTION 

REGISTERED 

OWNER/LESSEE RATIONALE/COMMENTS 

1  950  
Lot 1, Block 12, 
Plan 202 

Centre Cultural François 
De L' Okanagan   

2  1830  
Lot 49, Plan 262, 
Blk 15 

Kelowna Canadian Italian 
Club   

3  38641  Lot A, Plan 5438 

Okanagan Military 
Museum Society / City of 
Kelowna   

4  38644  
Plan 5438, D.L. 
139 

Kelowna Centennial 
Museum Association / 
City of Kelowna   

5  75959  Lot 2, Plan 37880 Kelowna Music Society 
Criteria #4: Majority of Program areas are not 
directly competing 

6  77062  Lot 1, Plan 42511 
City of Kelowna/Kelowna 
Museums Society 

Change in Status. Criterion # 3: 1,300 sq ft 
40% exempt (5 year phase out program) as 
area’s primary purpose are commercial liquor 
sales. 
Per Policy 327: ”Non-profit organizations 
conducting retail and/or commercial activity 
and charging rates or fees at market value are 
considered to be in competition with for-profit 
businesses and will not be eligible for tax 
exemption.” Note: The portion of the Wine 
Museum which is a VQA Wines store would be 
taxable – Approx. 60% of the Wine Museum 
area (1,300 sq. ft.). 

7  79055  
Lot 3, Plan KAP 
57837, DL 139 

Okanagan Regional 
Library / City of Kelowna 
Library Society   

8  79932  
Lot A, Plan 
KAP67454 

Kelowna Art Gallery/City 
of Kelowna 

Per Policy 327-No 3rd Party lease agreement 
in place 

272



NO. ROLL NO. 

LEGAL 

DESCRIPTION 

REGISTERED 

OWNER/LESSEE RATIONALE/COMMENTS 

9  80250  Lot A, KAP67454 

Kelowna Visual & 
Performing Arts Centre 
Society / City of Kelowna 

The following areas will be Exempt areas - 
(80250)                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                           
Centre Society area 37,034 
Theatre Kelowna 892 sq ft 
Okanagan Artists Alternative  
Association (2 areas) 2,058 sq ft 
Ponderosa Spinners and Weavers area 409 sq ft 
Music Room 520 sq. ft.                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                  
Potters Addict 1589 sq ft                                    
Cool Arts Society 429 sq ft                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                     
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                     
Non-exempt areas – total 4,363 ft. 
80251 KVPACS Bistro 1,236 sq ft     
80252 Mission Dance Studio 1,185 sq ft 
80255 Angie Bonten, Trina Ganson, Sara 
Parsons studio 350 sq ft 
80256  Mal Gagnon studio area   428 sq ft 
80257 Aunaray Clusiau studio area 370 sq ft 
80258 Blind Eye Photography 444 sq. ft.  
80260 Brandy Marsh 350 sq ft 

10  83355  Lot 1, KAP92254 
Okanagan Symphony 
Society/City of Kelowna  

11  7212624  Lot 10, KAP72245 Westbank First Nation   

12  10349220  Lot B, Plan 28112 
German - Canadian 
Harmonie Club 

Criteria #7:  4,413 sq ft taxable as areas 
primary purpose is liquor and or meal services 

13  10768001  Lot A, Plan 6710 
Roman Catholic Bishop of 
Nelson Pandosy Mission   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

273



Schedule H – Other Non-Profit Societies 

 

Tax Exempt Properties for 2015 Tax Year 

NO. ROLL NO. 

LEGAL 

DESCRIPTION 

REGISTERED 

OWNER/LESSEE RATIONALE/COMMENTS 

1  16670  Lot 16, Plan 1303 
Kelowna Yoga House 
Society 

Criteria #4: No Change in Status. Per Policy 
327: house on property used by society & 
similar programs offered at Sport & Rec.  

2  23360  Lot 7, Plan 2498 
Columbus Holding 
Society   

3  28740  Lot 8, Plan 3398 
Kelowna Centre for 
Positive Living Society   

4  70030  Lot A, Plan 28311 
Columbus Holding 
Society 

Criteria #5: Upper floor & main floor fully 
taxable as primary use of property not the 
principal purpose of the organization owning 
the property (lease/rental upper floor - Inn 
From the Cold, main floor Lease/Rental 
Taxable-Right to Life, basement 100% Exempt: 
Knights of Columbus  

5  77364  Lot A, Plan 43658 
Kelowna Sr. Citizens 
Society of BC Criteria #9: Caretaker agreement in place. 

6  5763001  
Lot A, Plan 
KAP82536 

Kelowna General 
Hospital Foundation    

7  6198706  

Lot 1, Plan 
KAP91112, Safety 
Village Lease only 
(.739 ac.) (Parent 
06198.702) 

Kelowna & District 
Safety Council Society / 
City of Kelowna   

8  6199682  Lot 2, Plan 39917 
Father DeLestre 
Columbus (2009) Society   

9  
6371365 - 
6371403 

Lot 1-39, Plan 
KAS384 

The Society of Housing 
Opportunities and 
Progressive Employment 

Partial Exemption based on difference - one 
parcel vs. individual strata units 

10  10759011  
Lot 11, Plan 515, 
Blk 1 

BC Society for 
Prevention of Cruelty to 
Animals   

11  12188047  Lot B Plan 40681 

Cowen, Saundra K & 
Heather I Henderson 
(Trustees: Arion 
Therapeutic Riding 
Association)   

 

274



Schedule I – Partnering, Heritage or Other Special Exemption Authority 

 

Tax Exempt Properties for 2015 Tax Year 

NO. ROLL NO. 

LEGAL 

DESCRIPTION 

REGISTERED 

OWNER/LESSEE RATIONALE/COMMENTS 

1  10388000  
Lots 15 and 16, 
Blk. 7, Plan 415B 

Central Okanagan 
Heritage Society Criteria #9: Caretaker agreement in place. 

 

275



Schedule J – Estimated Municipal Property Tax Impact For the Years 2015 - 2017 
 

Schedule Property Classification 2015  2016  2017  

A - Places of Worship 

   

 

Class 01 - Residential 178  186  193  

 

Class 06 - Business 10,810  11,317  11,760  

 

Class 08 - Recreation/Non-Profit 270,681  283,351  294,457  

 
Total Municipal Taxes $281,669  $294,854  $306,410  

B - Private Schools 

   

 

Class 01 - Residential 1,270  1,329  1,381  

 

Class 06 - Business 134,380  140,670  146,183  

 

Class 08 - Recreation/Non-Profit 14,151  14,812  15,392  

 
Total Municipal Taxes $149,801  $156,811  $162,956  

C - Hospitals 

    

 

Class 01 - Residential 30,539  31,968  33,221  

 

Class 06 - Business 85,009  88,988  92,476  

 

Class 08 - Recreation/Non-Profit 0  0  0  

 
Total Municipal Taxes $115,548  $120,956  $125,697  

D - Special Needs Housing 

   

 

Class 01 - Residential 47,508  49,731  51,680  

 

Class 06 - Business 5,694  5,960  6,194  

 

Class 08 - Recreation/Non-Profit 0  0  0  

 
Total Municipal Taxes $53,202  $55,691  $57,874  

E - Social Services 

    

 

Class 01 - Residential 9,808  10,267  10,669  

 

Class 06 - Business 168,263  176,138  183,044  

 

Class 08 - Recreation/Non-Profit 2,260  2,366  2,459  

 
Total Municipal Taxes $180,331  $188,771  $196,172  

F - Public Park or Recreation Ground, Public Athletic or Recreational 

  

 

Class 01 - Residential 71,221  74,555  77,479  

 

Class 06 - Business 64,123  67,124  69,756  

 

Class 08 - Recreation/Non-Profit 306,530  320,876  333,455  

 
Total Municipal Taxes $441,874  $462,555  $480,690  

G - Cultural 

    

 

Class 01 - Residential 8  8  8  

 

Class 06 - Business 254,292  266,191  276,626  

 

Class 08 - Recreation/Non-Profit 9,057  9,481  9,853  

 
Total Municipal Taxes $263,357  $275,680  $286,487  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

    

276



Schedule
2
 Property Classification 2015  2016  2017  

H - Other 

    

 

Class 01 - Residential 7,570  7,924  8,235  

 

Class 06 - Business 30,699  32,135  33,394  

 

Class 08 - Recreation/Non-Profit 4,067  4,258  4,425  

 
Total Municipal Taxes $42,336  $44,317  $46,054  

I - Partnering, Heritage or Other Special Exemption Authority 

  

 

Class 01 - Residential 101  106  110  

 

Class 06 - Business 5,626  5,889  6,120  

 

Class 08 - Recreation/Non-Profit 0  0  0  

 
Total Municipal Taxes $5,727  $5,995  $6,230  

Total Impact 

    

 

Class 01 - Residential 168,203  176,074  182,976  

 

Class 06 - Business 758,896  794,412  825,553  

 

Class 08 - Recreation/Non-Profit 606,746  635,144  660,041  

 
Total Municipal Taxes $1,533,845  $1,605,630  $1,668,570  

 

                                                           
2
 Schedules A, B & C include the land assessed values of the buildings footprint which is a general exemption. 

 

277



278



279



280



281



282



283



284



285



286



287



288



289



290



291



292



293



294



295



296



297



Report to Council 
 

 

Date: 
 

10/1/2014 
 

File: 
 

1850-20 

To:  
 

City Manager 

From: 
 

Director, Corporate Business Ventures 

Subject: 
 

2014-10-01 Report - South Perimeter Rd 

 

Recommendation: 
 
THAT Council receives for information the report of the Director, Corporate Business Ventures 
dated October 1, 2014, with respect to the Extension of Gordon Drive and South Perimeter 
Road; 
 
AND THAT Council approves in principle the design and construction of these roadways under 
the conditions outlined in the Report of the Director, Corporate Business Ventures dated 
October 1, 2014; 
 
AND FURTHER THAT Council direct staff to inform citizens of the change in delivery timing of 
these roadways and report back to Council. 
 
Purpose:  
 
To provide Council with an update with respect to the extension of Gordon Drive and South 
Perimeter Road. 
 
Background: 
 
The City Official Community Plan envisions the extension of Gordon Drive and construction of 
the South Perimeter Road from Gordon Drive to Stewart Road West to provide an alternative 
access and egress from the Upper Mission area.  Through the Southwest Mission Sector Plan, 
development in the early to mid 1990s which involved extensive community consultation, key 
road links were developed and incorporated into subsequent Official Community Plans, 20 
Year Servicing Plans, and Financing Strategy and related Development Cost Charges.  These 
roadways were envisioned in the original plan to be constructed at 2700 units of development 
in the SW Mission though the latest OCP envisions the road at 3400 units.  This was as a result 
of the desire to move up the construction of Lakeshore Road which originally was planned at 
3800 units of development and was moved to 3000 units.  Most recently, Council approved 
advancing the section of Lakeshore Road at Anne McClymont Elementary School to proceed in 
2015.  The level of development in this sector is at approximately 2300 units. With the sector 
plan in place, we note that during the development of the Canyon Ridge phase of the 

298



Crawford subdivision in the mid 1990s, the developer provided a road reserve over the 
required lands for the South Perimeter Road and also constructed a concrete wall to buffer 
homes from the roadway. 
 
The development community has identified that constructing the Gordon Drive and South 
Perimeter Road portions earlier than the plan would benefit the neighborhoods of Upper 
Mission and Crawford.  In addition to providing an alternative egress and access for the 
residents, there is the potential for an enhanced commercial development within the Ponds 
neighborhood which is planned as a village center to serve the needs of the entire Upper 
Mission and Crawford areas.  These roads will also provide a strong connection between two 
school sites; the middle school site within the Ponds development, which is priority for School 
District 23, and the elementary school site within the Crawford neighborhood.   The 
catchments areas for both schools involve Upper Mission and Crawford neighborhoods, AND 
this road link avoids the need to travel the circuitous route via Crawford, Dehart and Gordon.  
The road also allows for improved transit circulation to service the Upper Mission and 
Crawford.  
 
The developers propose to construct these roads and to be paid the agreed project cost by 
way of Developer Cost Charge credits and revenues as development occurs in the SW Mission 
Roads sector without direct taxpayer contribution.  Gordon Drive would be funded through 
Developer Cost Charge Credits whereby the developers use these credits as they develop 
additional lots within their properties over the coming years.   The South Perimeter Road 
costs are proposed to be initially funded by the development community with compensation 
from Roads Sector DCC revenues received by the City over time.  Based on current rates of 
development in this sector, the developer would recover their estimated $7.6 million 
investment over a 5-7 year period.   The use of DCC credits to compensate developers for 
construction of sector roads  has been a common practice in development of major roads in 
this sector.  
 
Gordon Drive is planned to be constructed as an urban two lane arterial roadway complete 
with on street bikepaths, curb and gutter, boulevards and separated sidewalks on both sides.  
The South Perimeter Road is also envisioned to be an urban two lane arterial roadway in the 
longer term, with a multiuse pathway on the north side of the roadway.   As this roadway is 
within an area of the City currently not approved for development, the initial construction 
will be a rural two lane cross section with on road bikepaths.  Where it abuts the Canyon 
Ridge area of Crawford, the multiuse pathway will be installed to provide access to the 
Bellevue Creek corridor.  Particular attention will be paid to the future Bellevue Creek 
Corridor parking and public trail road crossings.   Should this project proceed, the City will 
also need to advance improvements to Stewart Rd West which are also identified within both 
the South East Kelowna Sector Plan and the South West Mission Sector Road Plan.  Funding is 
in place to complete the required safety improvements and these will be done, subject to 
Council approval, if the South Perimeter Road proceeds.   
 
Another improvement to the Upper Mission road network to be brought forward is the 
connection of Frost Rd with Chute Lake Rd which is planned for 2016.  This addresses long 
standing safety concerns at the Okaview and Chute Lake intersection, and reduces the 
circulation thru the present South Crest Dr/Killdeer connection.  
 
While advancing the schedule for construction of these roads has no direct taxpayer impact, 
it will require the deferral in planned construction of other major roadways identified as part 

299



of this sector.  The following planned major DCC roads improvements will be deferred due to 
DCC revenue shortfalls resulting from the combined effect of advancing construction of 
Lakeshore Rd at Anne McClymont school, plus the construction of South Perimeter Road  
   

 Dehart Rd (Gordon to Lakeshore) will be delayed from 2133 units to 3200 units,  

 Lakeshore (Dehart to Old Meadows) will be delayed from 3000 to 3600 units, 

 Casorso (Benvoulin to Swamp) will be delayed from 3,300 to 4,100 units, 

 Plus a number of minor improvements throughout the sector will be delayed.  
 
Current development rates within this sector are approximately 100 units per year and will 
vary annually depending on development interest in this area of the City.  It should be noted 
that the deferred improvements are primarily road urbanization with improved pedestrian 
and cycling facilities, and with limited vehicle capacity improvements to the area. 
 
The developer proponent still has a number of approval steps to go through with both the City 
and other developers in the SW Mission Sector before the project can proceed.  They are 
optimistic these can be achieved in the near future.  Staff believes that the community needs 
to be informed and consulted on as to the new schedule for delivery of this project.   While 
there currently is no preliminary or detailed design completed, staff and the developers can 
seek input on potential issues and concerns that the delivery of this roadway could present. 
 
Internal Circulation: 
City Clerk 
Deputy City Manager 
Divisional Director, Communications and Information Systems 
Divisional Director, Community Planning and Real Estate Services 
Divisional Director, Financial Services 
Divisional Director, Infrastructure 
Manager, Capital Investments and Assets 
Manager, Development Engineering 
Manager, Transportation and Mobility 
Communications Consultant 
 
Financial/Budgetary Considerations: Should this project proceed, the Financial Plan will 
need to be amended to incorporate the receipt of DCC revenues and payments to the 
developer over the coming years.  The 20 Year Servicing Plan identifies funding for multiuse 
corridors from federal/provincial gas tax revenues.  There are sufficient gas tax funds 
available to cover this portion of the work. There will be ongoing operating costs incurred for 
maintenance of the roadway, bikepaths, multiuse corridor and landscaping that may be 
installed.   
 
Personnel Implications: Should this project proceed, the road construction would be 
managed by the Development Engineering Section. 
 
External Agency/Public Comments:  Residents in the Crawford neighborhood have expressed 
concerns regarding how this roadway, and its related increased traffic, will impact their 
neighborhood. 
 
Communications Comments: Staff will lead community engagement activities to create 
awareness and invite feedback from citizens regarding the new schedule for construction of 

300



the road network.  The plan will be developed following the City’s Engage Policy.  The results 
of the feedback will be included as part of technical and financial considerations.  
 
Considerations not applicable to this report: 
Legal/Statutory Authority: 
Legal/Statutory Procedural Requirements: 
Existing Policy: 
Alternate Recommendation: 
 
 
______________________________ 
John Vos, P. Eng.,  
Director, Corporate Business Ventures 
 
 
Approved for inclusion:    Paul Macklem, Deputy City Manager 
 
 
 
Attachment: 2014-10-01 Attachment - SW Mission Sector B Road Map 
 
cc: City Clerk 
 Deputy City Manager 
 Divisional Director, Communications and Information Systems 
 Divisional Director, Community Planning and Real Estate Services 
 Divisional Director, Financial Services 
 Divisional Director, Infrastructure 
 Manager, Capital Investments and Assets 
 Manager, Development Engineering 
 Manager, Transportation and Mobility 
 Communications Consultant 
 
 

 

301



!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(!(

!(

!( !(

!(
!(

!(

!(

!(

!(
!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

éé

é é
é é

é é

é é

Ste
wa

rt 3

Lakeshore 4

Be
nvo

ulin
 1

South Perimeter 1

Go
rdo

n 1

La
ke

sh
ore

 2

Frost 1

Go
rdo

n 4

Dehart 2

Ca
sor

so 
1

La
ke

sh
ore

 1A
Lak

esh
ore

 1
La

ke
sh

ore
 3

Land Only

Gordon Bridge
(Bellevue Creek)

Casorso Bridge
(Mission Creek)

Lakeshore Bridge
(Bellevue
Creek) 

Lakeshore Bridge
(Mission Creek)

Lakeshore Bridge
(Wilson Creek)

2400

33
00

3300

3400

30
00

34
00

4200

300
0

36
50

2133

2133

30
00

2133

GO
RD

ON
 D

R

LAKESHORE RD

CA
SO

RS
O 

RD

DEHART RD
SW

AM
P R

D

TO
DD

 R
D

RA
YM

ER
 R

D

SAUCIER RD

ST
EW

AR
T R

D 
W

CR
AW

FO
RD

 R
D

BARNABY RD

WESTRIDGE DR

ST
EW

AR
T R

D 
E

HOBSON RD

WA
LL

AC
E H

ILL
 R

D

LEXINGTON DR

OKAVIEW RD

SA
LL

OW
S R

D

BARR

GRANTHAM RD

PARET RD

BEDFORD RD

SA
UC

IER
 R

D

¯

This map is for general information only.
The City of Kelowna does not guarantee its
accuracy. All information should be verified.
0 200 400

Meters

DCC Roads 
Triggers Overview

Rev. June 6/11

2 Lane
2 Lane (100% By Developer)
2 Lane and Centre Turn Lane
4 Lane

Inset Map

n 

Attachment 1: SW Mission Sector B Road map

302



Report to Council 
 

Date: 
 

October 6, 2014 

Rim No. 
 

1140-50 

To:  
 

City Manager 
 

From: 
 

Johannes Säufferer, Manager, Property Management 

Subject: 
 

2014-10-06 Report - Wine and Art Lease 

 

Recommendation: 
 
THAT Council approve the City entering into a five (5) year commercial lease with Marni 
Manegre (doing business as Wine and Art), with the option to renew for an additional five (5) 
year term, in the form attached as Schedule A to the Report of the Manager, Property 
Management, dated October 6, 2014; 
 
AND THAT the Mayor and City Clerk be authorized to execute the agreement. 
 
Purpose:  
 
That Council approve a lease agreement with Marni Manegre (d.b.a. Wine and Art) for a +/-
1,165 s.f. commercial space in the Chapman Parkade. 
 
Background: 
 
The City-owned Chapman Parkade, located at 345 Lawrence Avenue, includes four 
commercial retail units (“CRU’s”), ranging in size from 874 square feet to 1,409 square feet 
(see Schedule B for a floor plan of the parkade).  The +/- 1,165 s.f. CRU at 315 Lawrence 
Avenue was vacated by the previous tenant upon the expiration of their lease on September 
15th of this year. 
 
Staff engaged the City’s Commercial Realtor, Colliers International, to market the unit for 
lease.  Based on the responses, Colliers recommended that staff move forward with the 
expression of interest from Marni Manegre, who intends to operate a wine/beer/tapas bar in 
conjunction with an art gallery/studio.  Staff undertook due diligence on the potential 
tenant, reviewed the expression of interest terms and agreed with Colliers’ recommendation.   
 
The negotiated lease rate is supported by Colliers market research, by existing lease rates in 
the Chapman Parkade and by a Market Rent Estimate completed by Kent Macpherson (January 
2013), a summary of which is attached to this report as Schedule C.  The lease rate begins at 
$15.00/s.f. in the first year and increases to $17.00/s.f. over the course of the five year 
term.  At the end of the 5 year term, an option for renewal exists with a lease rate that will 
be renegotiated at that time.  

303



 

 
 
 
The “Wine and Art” concept promoted by Mrs. Manegre is built on a model similar to other 
establishments that combine creative art and refreshments, such as Raw Canvas and Paint 
Nite (both located in Vancouver, BC).  The following is a high-level summary of the proposed 
business; a comprehensive business plan is included as Schedule D.  
 
“Wine & Art is a new Wine Bar and Art Studio to exist downtown by the marina in Kelowna. 
This business would allow for customers to paint on a canvas while sipping wine and eating 
tapas. There will be brunch on the weekends and art classes instructed in the wine bar 
during the week.  Kelowna is known for being in the heart of the wine region and for having 
a vibrant art community. This business would speak not only to tourists in this region, but 
also to members of the local art community.” 
 
In order to ensure that the leased area is appropriate for the intended use and to mitigate 
any concerns regarding liquor consumption at the site, the proposed tenant has agreed to the 
following conditions regarding their business operations (reflected in clause 5.1b of the 
attached lease agreement): 
 

 all food is to be prepared off-site; no cooking is permitted on the leased premises; 

 a Participation Liquor License must be in place within 6 months of the possession date 
to ensure the ‘art’ component of the business plan is realized; 

 a restriction on the number of special event liquor licenses permitted; and, 

 hours of operation are restricted to between 10:00 am and 12:00 am. 
 
It is Staff’s opinion that Wine and Art will fill a unique niche in the local restaurant market 
while building on the regions strong artistic and oenophilic roots. 
 
Legal/Statutory Authority: 
 
Community Charter, Sec. 26 – Disposal of Municipal Property 
 
Legal/Statutory Procedural Requirements: 
 
Community Charter, Sec. 94 – Notice Requirements 
 
Internal Circulation: 
 
Director, Financial Services 
Manager, Parking Services 
Manager, Building Services 
Manager, Risk Management 
Manager, Urban Planning 
 
Considerations not applicable to this report: 
Existing Policy 
Financial/Budgetary Considerations 
Personnel Implications 
External Agency/Public Comments 
Communications Comments 
Alternate Recommendation 

304

http://www.rawcanvas.com/
https://www.paintnite.com/pages/venue/index/vancouver
https://www.paintnite.com/pages/venue/index/vancouver


 

 
 
 
Submitted by:   Johannes Säufferer, Manager, Property Management 
 
Approved for inclusion:   Derek Edstrom, Director, Real Estate & Building Services 
 
Attachments: Schedule A – Lease Agreement 
  Schedule B – Chapman Parkade Floor Plan 
  Schedule C – Kent Macpherson Market Rent Estimate Summary 
  Schedule D – Wine & Art Business Plan 
 
cc:   G. Davidson, Director, Financial Services 
  D. Duncan, Manager, Parking Services 
  M. Johansen, Manager, Building Services 
  L. Kayfish, Manager, Risk Management 
  R. Smith, Manager, Urban Planning 
 
 
 

305



306



307



308



309



310



311



312



313



314



315



316



317



318



319



320



321



322



323



324



325



326



327



328



329



330



331



332



333



334



335



336



337



338



339



340



341



342



343



 
 
 

 
 
 
 
Marni Manegre.  
Wine & Art 
315 Lawrence Avenue, Kelowna BC,  
 
September 2, 2014 
 
 
 
 
 
I'm very pleased to enclose my business plan for Wine & Art. Inside, you'll find a wealth of information about my 
business, a thorough assessment of opportunities in the marketplace, and a detailed plan for seizing them. I look 
forward to the possibility of working with you to make Wine & Art a success in the coming months and years. 
 
I am eager to hear your comments and answer any questions you may have. You can reach me at 587-433-7605. 
 
Thank you for your time and attention. 
 
Sincerely, 
 
Marni Manegre.  

344



Wine & Art 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Business Plan 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

September 2, 2014 

345



Executive Summary 
 
 
Wine & Art is a new Wine Bar and Art Studio to exist downtown by the marina in Kelowna. This business would 
allow for customers to paint on a canvas while sipping wine and eating tapas. There will be brunch on the weekends 
and art classes instructed in the wine bar during the week. Kelowna is known for being in the heart of the wine 
region and for having a vibrant art community. This business would speak not only to tourists in this region, but also 
to members of the local art community. We are looking at sales of $300,000/year, which would result in a net 
income of $130,00/year and then increasing this by 10% for year 2. We are looking at leasing a location downtown 
to set up our wine bar. We have $50,000 in cash for the business and are looking at borrowing $100,000 to cover 
$50,000 in New Assets, such as equipment for the kitchen and the rest would be a buffer for any additional 
uncounted expenditures. 

 
Wine & Art 

315 Lawrence Avenue, Kelowna BC 
Phone 587-433-7605 
Fax 1-403-451-1456 

Marni.Manegre@live.ca 

346



Business Description 

 
Business Overview 

 
 
Legal name of business 
Wine & Art 
 
 
Business address 
315 Lawrence Avenue, Kelowna BC,  
 
Mailing address 
315 Lawrence Avenue, Kelowna BC 
 
Phone number 
587-433-7605 
 
Fax number 
1-403-451-1456 
 
E-mail address 
Marni.Manegre@live.ca 
 
Structure of business 
Sole Proprietorship 
 
Date business established 
2014/09 
 
Nature of business 
Wine Bar, Tapas, Weekend Brunch Buffet, and Art Studio 
 
Bank and branch location used for business matters 
Scotiabank, Bernard St., Kelowna, BC 
 
Bank and branch location used for personal matters 
Scotiabank, Grandin Park Plaza, St. Albert, AB 

Business Background 
 
I have wanted to own a wine bar for more than a decade. I have personal contacts as friends and family members 
who operate similar businesses and I can talk to them for ideas and input for my own business. I have worked in 
Restaurants for over 7 years in fine dining and I have spent the past decade working in Advertising and Marketing. I 
work much better when I'm in charge, as I'm a leader by nature. I have the down payment for this business and 
found a prime location. I have instructors for classes in the wine bar and sourced suppliers I have also found 
contractors for renovations and determined what would need to be changed before opening. The schedule, hours of 
operation, and staffing have been determined and I have artists ready for gallery openings.   

Please see attached Resume for further details on Education and Work Experience. 

347



 

Personal Goals 
 
1) I want to spend time with my family and do things I'm passionate about. I want a healthy lifestyle with local food 
and to be surrounded by friends and family. I also enjoy being part of the art community. I define personal success 
by achieving my financial goals and by being happy.  

2) I want to own my own business, as I function best when I am in charge. When I work for corporations, I become 
frustrated when I see the overall business plan is not sustainable.  

3) My financial goals are to pay down all debts quickly and to bring in a net profit what not only pays the bills, but 
also pays my personal bills and allows me to live a comfortable life. Ideally, I would like to have personal income 
around 100,000/yr, however, within the first few years of running a new business, my goal is to exceed 50,000/yr.  

For the business, I would like to see the total sales exceed $300,000 within the first year (preferably closer to 
$350,000). I would like to pay back any business loans between 2 & 5 years and show year over year growth. Once 
this is determined successful, I would then like to look at the potential for a larger location. 

Business Vision 
 
Wine & Art is committed to providing local food and wine in a relaxed atmosphere that brings out creativity from 
our customers so that we can become a part of the local art community and become a profitable wine bar that 
remains busy. 

Business Objectives 
 
Short-term Objectives 
September - October 2014 – Acquisition of property and renovations.  

November 2014 - Grand Opening - advertising for weekend brunch, classes, and Christmas Parties – application for 
Food Primary License would be in and applying for further license for Participation 

From month 2 through month 12 - working to pay down business loan 
 
Long-term Objectives 
Major objective is to pay down business loan within first 3 years and to increase sales by 10% year over year. Will 
consistently be working on an advertising plan to meet these objectives. Would like to make a salary of 50,000/yr 
for the first couple of years and then increase this once business loan is paid off. 
 
 

Product 
 
Description 
Wine Bar - local wine and local beer Tapas – Serving tapas throughout the day - tapas are included with canvas 
purchase. Once Participation Liquor License is approved, if the customer is not on the premise to paint, then they 
would be charged for food separate on the bill. Weekend Brunch Buffett Canvas Painting - customers are 
encouraged to come in and paint. Canvas costs range from $55 - $75 and includes 2 hours of studio time, tapas, and 
all art supplies.  
Classes (once participation license is approved)- Photography Classes will be offered on location Tuesday evenings 
and Art Classes will be offered on location Wednesday evenings Weddings/Special Events - The wine bar may be 

348



rented for special events with our full bar service. Gallery Viewings - local artists will have gallery viewings of their 
art and there will be a special event admission fee. Tapas and drinks would be included 
 
Competitive Advantage 
Painting in a wine bar setting has become very popular in other markets and there are a few places relatively close 
by that offer this service. Kelowna has a strong art community and we're located in "wine country", so our services 
would be attractive to both locals and tourists. The art teacher at the most prestigious art school in Kelowna, Leanne 
Clark, has offered to teach art classes in Wine & Art.  
Examples of Wine Bars & Art Studios in other markets: 
 
Raw Canvas, Vancouver BC: 
http://www.rawcanvas.com 
 
 
Paint Nite, Drink Creatively, Various Locations: 
https://www.paintnite.com/pages/venue/index/vancouver 
 
 
Wine & Canvas, Various Locations USA: 
http://www.wineandcanvas.com 
 
 
  

349



The Marketplace 

 

Industry 
 
Industry Factors and Trends 
One of the biggest factors affecting our business would be the tourist season. The population of Kelowna doubles in 
the summer months. The area population is just under 200,000 (The City of Kelowna 
http://www.kelowna.ca/CM/page130.aspx). It is imperative to have support from the local community to retain 
consistent business year round. The household income in Kelowna is relatively lower than it is in most major 
metropolitan cities in Canada, largely in part because of the number of students and retirees in Kelowna. This 
indicates the level of disposable income here is relatively lower and many locals may not be frequent customers 
(city-data.com http://www.city-data.com/canada/Kelowna-family-households.html). Kelowna is known for being a 
wine region and wine is popular among both tourists and locals. Kelowna also has a strong art community. The 
services offered are popular services in this region.  
 
Industry Outlook 
The food and beverage industry has continued to be a profitable industry throughout the decades. 
 
Market Size 
Since we would be serving food and beverage, if there were no other vendors in the city for these services, then 
everyone wishing to have meals and drinks outside of their home could be our potential clientele. We could then 
have up to 200,000 potential clients, according to Statistics Canada (http://www12.statcan.gc.ca/census-
recensement/2011/as-sa/fogs-spg/Facts-cma-eng.cfm?LANG=Eng&GK=CMA&GC=915 Since we have limited 
seating capacity, at full capacity for Weekend Brunch, Canvas Painting, Art Classes, and Food and Beverage, I 
estimate we would make a maximum of $680,000 in sales in a year. 
 
 

Competitors 
 
Competitive Environment 
- Our main competition will be the other restaurants and bars in the immediate area. Most of these restaurants one 
block over are relatively new. Their Weaknesses would be not having long-term existing clients and they would 
need to rely on more than just the tourists to continue to be profitable in the winter months. Most of the restaurants 
are specific to a type of food, such as Burgers, BBQ, Ice cream, Pitas, etc. The strengths of these businesses is the 
location and they all tend to be relatively busy.  
 
Competitive Opportunities & Challenges 
The goal is to become part of the community by showcasing the work of emerging artists and bringing in people for 
art classes. We want support from Kelowna residents and not just tourists. Our competitors may be relying too 
heavily on the tourist season. 
 
 

Customers 
 
Customer Segments 
Wine Bar - ages 19 + Weekend Brunch - Families Event Rentals - Young Couples and Families - Corporate Parties 
Art Classes - 19+, people wanting to be part of the art community or people in the art community. Canvas Painting - 

350



19+ - stagettes, corporate parties 
 
Target Customers 
Our prime target customers are members of the art community in Kelowna, so that they would continue to return 
back to the business. We would do this with gallery showings, classes, and providing the appropriate environment 
for them to be creative. We would like to see our main customers return on a weekly basis to participate in our 
course schedule or other events. 
 

KELOWNA 

The Okanagan Valley is located 400 kilometers (250 miles) east of Vancouver. With a 
population of 115,000, Kelowna is the largest city in British Columbia’s Okanagan 
Valley. Often referred to as the Hawaii of Canada, Kelowna is a four-season playground 
and attracts visitors from around the world. Its thriving economy consists of industries 
such as Tourism, Forestry, Fruit Growing, and Wineries. Kelowna also has a growing 
technology sector that includes aerospace development and service. 

The Okanagan region is well known for its hot summers and temperate winters, and 
offers a wide variety of cultural and sporting events. 

Situated on the eastern shore of Okanagan Lake mid-way between Penticton in the south 
and Vernon in the north, Kelowna residents and tourists alike find the lake offers 
wonderful opportunities for boating, swimming or fishing. The nearby mountains attract 
hikers, skiers and outdoor enthusiasts of all descriptions. Three major ski hills are within 
a one-hour drive. 

Kelowna boasts all the amenities of a major city - fine dining, unique shops and a vibrant 
cultural life - yet orchards and vineyards thrive within a 10-minute drive of the downtown 
core. Spectacular vistas await those ready to explore. A delightful day can be spent 
sampling the award-winning wines of our numerous internationally-acclaimed wineries, 
while several championship golf courses draw enthusiasts from all around the world. 

Kelowna’s international airport is the 10th busiest in Canada, serving over 1.39 million 
passengers per year. With daily flights, it’s just a 60-minute flight from Calgary or 
Vancouver and 70 minutes from Seattle. Daily direct flights to Toronto are also available. 
Kelowna is also home to The University of British Columbia Okanagan, with over 7,500 
students attending the faculty annually. 

 

 
 
 
 

351



 
 
 
 
 

Sales & Marketing 

 

Positioning 
 
Our menu will be based on local food high in quality and we will be using a buffet style for the food service and 
tapas. This will allow for us to offer service at a lower cost. The wine and beer served will also be high quality and 
we plan in keeping the cost per glass lower than the chain restaurants in the city. In short, we're looking at being 
better and cheaper than our main competitors. 

Pricing 
 
Sales Prices: Breakfast Buffet = $15/pp Tapas/Evening Buffet = $12/pp Canvas and Art Supplies = $55 - $75 
depending on size of canvas (includes Tapas) Classes = $25/pp/class Beverages = cost varies - house wine = 
$5/glass To keep things simple and have the focus on the wine and art, food service will be done in a buffet style. 
The cost is relatively less than the average cost for a full hotel buffet, which is typically close to $25pp. The canvas 
costs are close to other wine bars, however, we're including the tapas at not additional cost. We would have a profit 
margin of 60 - 70 % off the materials and cost of food. 

Promotion 
 
We would focus on Directional Media, such as Search Engines, as this is where people are going when they're ready 
to buy and looking for specific services. To do this, we would be working on our website and promoting it through 
paid search ads (SEM). We would also be using the local digital classified listings on Castanet.net and Kijiji for 
class and event promotions. We would make sure the sign and business front will attract people on the street. We 
would be marketing to local artists and students at the UBC Fine Art program to have their work showcased on the 
walls of the studio, which will bring in new traffic. We plan on being found through all digital media sites and 
directories such as Google +, Yelp, yellowpages.ca The advertising budget is set at $1000/month. 

Sales 
 
Customers would be coming in to the location. They would pay using debit, credit, or cash. We would not be 
offering discounts and there are no guarantees or warranties. Should there be issues with the service, we would 
assess at that time and may then discount or promo the bill, otherwise, everything would be at list rate. 
 
 
 
 
 
  

352



Business Operations 

 

The Team 
 
Self - Marni Manegre - 7 years of restaurant experience Cook - Laural Manegre - would be making the tapas and 
brunch on the weekends - has been cooking for 40 years. Bob McKerrell (spouse) - teaching photography classes 
and would be available to assist in service - has 5 years of restaurant experience Leanne Clark - teaching art classes - 
went to university on a full art scholarship and currently instructs art classes at Studio 9 We would be closed when 
we're away.  
 
Advisors 
Banker - working with Scotiabank  

Lawyer - Tim Kucher - Doak-Shirreff - advises on legal matters  

Accountant - Doug Zablotney - 40 years experience and has been working with us for 5 years. 
 
Hiring Plans 
We would be hiring in March for the Summer months and tourist season. The positions we would be filling would 
be wait staff and we would hire and train two new staff for these months. Once the business is more established, i.e. 
in 2 years, we would then look at hiring a full time manager and staff for the business. For the first two years, we 
would be running this as a family business. 
 
 

Suppliers 
 
We would be requesting a few of the local vineyards and breweries as new suppliers, should this be permitted, 
otherwise, we would be working primarily with the BC Liquor Control Board. We would also be looking at local 
farms and businesses as food suppliers.  Our goal is to work with businesses that are local and not to have anything 
imported. 

Alliances 
 
Studio 9 - Art school and access to parents of students who are interested in local art - student art may be displayed 
and parents may want to take classes from the school art teacher who would be instructing on Wednesdays at Wine 
& Art UBC Okanagan Faculty of Fine Arts - showcasing student artwork in the studio - this would bring in new 
clientele to see emerging artists Bob McKerrell Photography - doing all the event photography and work for the 
website 

Planned Changes 
 
We are looking at doing renovations to an existing restaurant to convert this over to our Wine Bar and Art Studio. 
We will evaluate the existing liquor license to see if we need to revise it. We are requesting to borrow $100,000 for 
the sale of the existing restaurant and to do renovations to the bar and the floor. We would need to buy new tables 
and chairs and art supplies. We would also want to stock more wine in our inventory. 

 

353



Contingency Plans 
 
We will invest in personal, business, and credit insurance, along with health insurance for the family. We're not 
concerned with major competitors in the area, as all the shops on the street are currently full. There are also many 
wine and food suppliers, so if one would fail to deliver, we would just have to modify our menu. Should Wine & Art 
fail to be profitable, we would be looking at keeping the business and location and modifying the business plan, with 
permission from the City of Kelowna. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

354



MARNI MANEGRE 
1576 93 St SW, Calgary, AB T3H 0P3 | | C: 587-433-7605 | Marni.Manegre@live.ca 
 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
Marketing Manager with expertise in both online and print marketing campaigns 
and strategy. 
Solid understanding of digital marketing, including SEO, PPC, SEM and social 
media marketing. 
 
PROFESSIONAL HIGHLIGHTS 

 Account management 
 Quality leadership 
 Superior writer and editor 
 Problem solving 
 New customer acquisition 
 Deadline-driven 
 Digital advertising 
 Project management 
 Innovative 
 Articulate public speaker	

	
 
CAREER ACCOMPLISHMENTS 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 Managed $3 Million of corporate revenue and increased annual sales by 
more than $600,000 through strategic marketing campaigns. 

 Hired, trained and managed a team of 12 successful Media Account 
Consultants. 

 Increased sales volume by adding 50+ new accounts in the assigned 
territory. 

 Earned the Sales Incentive Trip Award in 2007 and Sales Team of the Year 
in 2007, 2008, and 2009 

 Google Certified, January 2010	
	
	
	

EXPERIENCE 
08/2013 to Present  Outside Sales Manager,  

Kijiji Autos, Kelly Services – Calgary & Kelowna 
 Won President's Club for 2013, 1st Place  
 Exceeding revenue target each month. 
 Managing client base of Automotive Dealerships in Southern Alberta and 

British Columbia 
 
 

355



02/2012 to 08/2013  Internet Marketing Consultant - Automotive Team 
ReachLocal － Calgary, AB 

 Identified prospective customers using lead generating methods and 
performing an average of 60 cold calls per day. 

 Established and maintained more than 50 new accounts, earning a 
combined profit of over $2M. 

 Surpassed annual quota by 25% 
 Directed a comprehensive PPC campaign to increase brand awareness 

and boost rates of organic click-through.% for all clients. 
 
02/2010 to 10/2011   Senior Sales Manager 

Yellow Pages Group － Calgary, AB 
 Surpassed revenue goals in four consecutive quarters. 
 Recognized as top sales manager for my channel and region for 2010 

and 2011. 
 Trained sales teams on educational products at seminars and special 

events. 
 Supervised, lead, coached, and managed 12 Media Account 

Consultants. 
 Hiring manager for 5 sales teams. 

 
02/2006 to 02/2010   Media Account Consultant 

Yellow Pages Group － Calgary, AB 
 Managed a portfolio of 200+ accounts, which generated $3 Million in 

revenue per year. 
 Scheduled an average of 15 appointments per week. 
 Ranked in top 7% of sales representatives out of 50 representatives in the 

Alberta region. 
 Developed and expanded existing customer sales by $300,000 in each 

year. 
 Answered customers' questions about products prices, availability, uses 

and credit terms. 
 Planned, created and delivered digital and print media sales 

presentations. 
02/2003 to 02/2006   Customer Service & Sales - Business Services 

TELUS Communications Inc. － Edmonton, AB 
 Delivered exceptional account service to strengthen customer loyalty. 
 Estimated and quoted prices, credit and contract terms, warranties and 

delivery dates. 
 Negotiated details of contracts and payments and prepared sales 

contracts and order forms. 
 Addressed customer questions and concerns regarding products, prices 

and availability. 
 Consistently met and exceeded department expectations for productivity 

and accuracy levels. 
 
 

356



09/2001 to 07/2005   Researcher & Project Manager 
Athabasca University － Edmonton, AB 

 Defined project deliverables and monitored status of tasks. 
 Updated and managed 5 project databases. 
 Designed research studies and gathered background information. 
 Wrote reports detailing the results of each study. 
 
 
EDUCATION 
 

2001  Master of Science: Linguistics 
University of Alberta － Edmonton, AB, Canada 
Thesis: The Combination of Lexical Morphemes: forming co-ordinate 
compounds and blends in child language 
University of Alberta Faculty of Graduate Studies 
Memberships: Linguistics Department Council, Graduate Students 
Association Council, Open House Committee, Mental Lexicon Research 
Team, Preschool Mathematics Research Team 
Awards: Graduate Student Assistantship, 1999, 2000, 2001 
Graduate Student Association Long Term Recognition, 2001 
 

1998  Bachelor of Arts: Linguistics 
University of Alberta － Edmonton, AB, Canada 
Major in Linguistics 
Minor in Psychology 
Memberships: German Club on Campus, Linguistics Club, Open House 
Committee 
Awards: Alexander Rutherford Scholarship, 1994 
Interprovincial Pipeline Scholarship: 1994, 1995, 1996, 1997, 1998 

357



L E A S E  A G R E E M E N T  
315 Lawrence Avenue (Chapman Parkade) 

358



L O C AT I O N  

359



C H A P M A N  PA R K A D E  F L O O R  P L A N  

360



L E A S E  D E TA I L S  

Area: +/- 1,165 square feet 

Lease rate: $15.00-$17.00/sf 

Commencement Date: Nov 15, 2014 

Term of Lease: 5 years and 2 weeks 

Renewals: 1 x 5 years 

361



Report to Council 
 

Date: 

 
10/06/2014 
 

File: 
 

1120-21 

To:  
 

City Manager   

From: 
 

G. Hood, Manager, Strategic Land Development 

Subject: 
 

2014-10-06 Report - Bylaw 11000 - Doyle Avenue 

 

Recommendation: 
 
THAT Council receives the Report from the Manager, Strategic Land Development dated 
September 15, 2014, recommending that Council adopt the proposed closure of a portion of 
lane adjacent to Doyle Avenue; 
 
AND FURTHER THAT Bylaw No. 11000, being proposed closure of a portion of lane adjacent to 
460 Doyle Avenue, be given reading consideration. 
 
Purpose:  
 
To close a portion of lane adjacent to 460 Doyle Avenue for consolidation with 460 Doyle 
avenue to be leased to the Kelowna Sustainable Innovation Group for the construction of the 
Okanagan Centre for Innovation.  To temporarily close a portion of lane adjacent to 460 Doyle 
Avenue to accommodate the creation of an airspace parcel above the roadway to be 
consolidated with 460 Doyle Avenue to be leased to the Kelowna Sustainable Innovation Group 
for the construction of the Okanagan Centre for Innovation. 
 
Background: 
 
Further to the development permit approved by the City of Kelowna, the City has agreed to 
lease to the developer (subject to various terms and conditions) a consolidated parcel of 
lands to construct a technology centre.  The transfer of the consolidated airspace parcel to 
the Purchaser is subject to the receipt of a building permit on the consolidated lands.  A 
portion of the road closure area beneath the airspace parcel is to be rededicated as road 
upon the registration of the consolidated air space parcel.  A portion of the road closure area 
is to remain closed for consolidated with the adjacent lands. 
 
Legal/Statutory Authority: 
 
Section 26 and 40, Community Charter 
 
Considerations not applicable to this report: 
Internal Circulation: 
Financial/Budgetary Considerations 

362



City Manager 
10/06/2014  
Page 2 of 2 Pages 

 

 
Legal/Statutory Procedural Requirements: 
Existing Policy: 
Personnel Implications: 
External Agency/Public Comments: 
Communications Comments: 
Alternate Recommendation: 
 
The Real Estate department requests Council’s support of this road closure. 
 
Submitted by: G. Hood, Manager, Strategic Land Development 
 
Approved for inclusion: D. Edstrom, Director, Real Estate  
 
Attachment: 

1. Schedule A – Road Closure Plan 
 

cc: R. Smith, Urban Planning Manager 
 M. Hasan, Transportation and Mobility Manager 
 S. Muenz, Development Engineering Manager 
  
 

363



364



365



366



367



368


	Agenda
	2. Draft Minutes - Sept 29 PM Regular Meeting.pdf
	3.1 2014 10 06 Report TA14-0004 Z12-0056.docx
	3.1 2014 10 06 Attachments TA14-0004 Z12-0056.pdf
	3.1.1 Bylaw No. 10998 (TA14-0003).pdf
	3.1.2 Bylaw No. 11016 (Z12-0056).pdf
	3.1.3 Bylaw No. 10999.pdf
	3.2 2014 10 06 Council Z14-0026.docx
	3.2 2014 09 24 Attachments Z14-0026.pdf
	3.2.1 Bylaw No. 10994 (Z14-0026).pdf
	3.2.2 Bylaw No. 11020 (Z14-0026).pdf
	3.3 2014 09 24 Report Z14-0035 2271 Harvey Ave.docx
	3.3 2014 09 24 Attchments Z14-0035.pdf
	3.3.1 Bylaw No. 11021 (Z14-0035).pdf
	3.4 2014-10-06 Report - Z14-0029 - 801 Francis Ave.docx
	3.4 2014 10 06 Attachments Z14-0029.pdf
	3.4.1 Bylaw No. 11019 (Z14-0029).pdf
	3.5 October 6 - Amended Report Z14-0047  984 Dehart ms .docx
	3.5 2014 09 24 Attachments Z14-0047.pdf
	3.5.1 Bylaw No. 11017 (OCP14-0022).pdf
	3.5.2 Bylaw No. 11018 (Z14-0047).pdf
	4.1 Bylaw No. 10832 (OCP13-0002).pdf
	4.2 Bylaw No. 10834 (Z13-0003).pdf
	5.1 2014-Q3-Report-to-Council.docx
	5.1 2014-10-01_2014Q3-QuarterlyReport_pres.pdf
	5.2 2015 Permissive Tax Exemption Bylaw No  11009.docx
	5.2.1 Bylaw No. 11009.pdf
	5.3 2014-10-01 Report - South Perimeter Rd.docx
	5.3 2014-10-01 Attachment - SW Mission Sector B Road Map.pdf
	5.4 2014-10-06 Report - Wine and Art Lease.docx
	5.4 2014-10-06 Schedule A - Executed Lease.pdf
	5.4 2014-10-06 Schedule B - Parkade Floor Plan.pdf
	5.4 2014-10-06 Schedule C - KentMac Rent Estimate.pdf
	5.4 2014-10-06 Schedule D - Wine and Art Business Plan.pdf
	5.4 2014-10-06 Presentation - Wine and Art Lease.pptx
	5.5 2014-10-06 Report - Bylaw 11000 - Doyle Avenue.docx
	5.5 2014-10-06 - Bylaw 11000 -  Map.pdf
	5.5.1 Bylaw No. 11000.pdf
	6.1 Bylaw No. 10798.pdf

